Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (South)
Tuesday, 20th July, 2021 at 2.30 pm
Park Suite, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

Councillors:

Brian Donnelly (Chairman)
Tim Lloyd (Vice-Chairman)
John Blackall
Chris Brown
Karen Burgess
Jonathan Chowen
Philip Circus
Paul Clarke
Michael Croker
Ray Dawe
Nigel Jupp
Lynn Lambert

Mike Morgan
Roger Noel
Bob Platt
Josh Potts
Kate Rowbottom
Jack Saheid
Jim Sanson
Diana van der Klugt
James Wright

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 22 June 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements
To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 12

To consider the following reports of the Head of Development & Building Control and to take
such action thereon as may be necessary:
5.

Appeals

13 - 14

Applications for determination by Committee:
6.

DC/20/1519 - Hobbits, Stall House Lane, North Heath, Pulborough

15 - 58

Ward: Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley
Applicant: Mr and Mrs M Skillman
7.

DC/21/0753 - Whiteoaks, Shoreham Road, Small Dole, Henfield

59 - 86

Ward: Henfield
Applicant: Tingey
8.

DC/21/0057 - Angell Sand Pit, Washington Road, Storrington

87 - 116

Ward: Storrington and Washington
Applicant: MiBri Ltd
9.

DC/21/0726 - Southview, Littleworth Lane, Partridge Green

117 - 128

Ward: Cowfold, Shermanbury and West Grinstead
Applicant: Mr A Millard
10.

DC/20/2167 - Farthing Cottage, 13 Amberley Road, Storrington,
Pulborough
Ward: Storrington and Washington
Applicant: Mr and Mrs Yvone Kirk

11.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

129 - 134

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (South)
22 JUNE 2021

Present:

Councillors: John Blackall, Philip Circus, Michael Croker, Ray Dawe,
Brian Donnelly, Nigel Jupp, Lynn Lambert, Tim Lloyd, Mike Morgan,
Roger Noel, Bob Platt, Josh Potts, Kate Rowbottom, Jack Saheid,
Jim Sanson, Diana van der Klugt and James Wright

Apologies:

Councillors: Chris Brown, Karen Burgess, Jonathan Chowen and
Paul Clarke

PCS/1

ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN
RESOLVED
That Councillor Brian Donnelly be elected Chairman of the Committee for
the ensuing municipal year.

PCS/2

APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN
RESOLVED
That Councillor Tim Lloyd be appointed Vice-Chairman of the Committee
for the ensuing municipal year.

PCS/3

TO APPROVE THE TIME OF MEETINGS OF THE COMMITTEE FOR THE
NEXT YEAR
RESOLVED
That meetings of the Committee be held at 2.30pm for the ensuing
municipal year.

PCS/4

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 April 2021 be approved as a correct
record and signed by the Chairman.

PCS/5

DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
There were no declarations of interest.

PCS/6

ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
1

Page 7

Planning Committee (South)
22 June 2021

PCS/7

APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as
circulated, was noted.

PCS/8

DC/21/0016 - WOODVILLE, NEP TOWN ROAD, HENFIELD
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission to erect a first-floor side extension over garage, erection of a
single storey rear extension and enlargement of existing side dormer /
projection. The proposal would extend the footprint along the eastern elevation,
close by to the Gardeners Arms Pub to the west.
The application site was located to the south of Nep Town Road. The site was
within the built-up area of Henfield and the Henfield Conservation Area.
The Parish Council raised no objection to the application. There had been 17
letters from 12 householders objecting to the application and none received in
support. The nature of these objections included Privacy, Light, Noise; Design
Out of Keeping with a conservation area; Overdevelopment; Highway access &
parking; loss of natural light; loss of general amenity.
One member of the public spoke in objection to the application and one
addressed the Committee in support of the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; design and appearance; amenity impacts; and heritage impact.
RESOLVED
That Planning Application DC/21/0016 be approved subject to the
conditions as listed in the officer’s report.

PCS/9

DC/20/2481 - COPPICE HANGER, CHURCH HILL, PULBOROUGH
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought full planning permission for four detached dwellings with associated
access, parking, and landscaping.
The application site was located within the built-up area of Pulborough and the
Church Place Conservation Area, located on the western side of Church Hill
(A29) on land to the south of the existing dwelling, the Coppice Hanger.
Members noted the planning history of the site, in particular DC/05/2679 for
eight dwellings and five apartments which had been refused, and a subsequent
application DC/07/2695, which went to appeal for non-determination of the

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (South)
22 June 2021

3

application but was then withdrawn by the Appellant with no formal decision
being issued.
Pulborough Parish Council had objected to Proposal. There had been 11 letters
of objection received from 9 separate households/bodies within the district.
One Member of the public spoke in objection to the application. The Applicant,
Applicant’s Agent and Applicant’s Architect addressed the Committee in support
of the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: principle of
development; heritage and visual impacts; landscape; trees; amenity; highways
and parking; ecology; and climate change.
It was noted that the draft Pulborough Neighbourhood Plan Reg 16 consultation
ended 7th June.
Members raised concerns regarding highways safety, especially for pedestrians
and cyclists surrounding access to the site and after careful consideration
resolved to refuse this application.
RESOLVED
That Planning Application DC/20/2481 be refused for the following
reasons:
1. The proposal fails to preserve the character or appearance of the historic
environment, including the conservation area, contrary to Policy 34 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework 2015.
2. The proposal fails to preserve the landscape character of the area and
detracts from the setting of the South Downs National Park contrary to
Policy 25 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 2015.
3. The proposal fails to provide safe and suitable access for pedestrians and
cyclists contrary to Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 2015.

PCS/10 DC/20/2488 - LITTLE COPPICE, SANDGATE LANE, STORRINGTON
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought full planning permission for the demolition of an existing bungalow and
ancillary accommodation, and construction of a replacement two storey fourbedroomed detached property and ancillary accommodation with associated
external works. This proposal also included an extension to the driveway.
The application site was located within the built-up area of Storrington and
located on a circular loop at the eastern end of Sandgate Lane.

Page3 9

Planning Committee (South)
22 June 2021

15 letters of objection had been received from 8 separate households and one
letter of support.
The two applicants addressed the committee in support of the application. A
representative of Storrington and Sullington Parish Council spoke in objection to
the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; character, appearance and landscape impact; amenity impacts;
parking and highway considerations; ecology; and climate change.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/20/2488 be approved subject to the
conditions as stated in the officer’s report and one additional condition:
Prior to development commencing, details of any existing asbestos and
how it will be safely removed shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the safe removal of asbestos in accordance with
Policy 24 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 2015.
PCS/11 DC/20/1906 - BIRCHFIELD NURSERY, KIDDERS LANE, HENFIELD
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought part retrospective permission for a change in use of the premises to
mixed use purposes for Use Classes B8, E and as a base for a garden design
and landscaping business. The retrospective permission related to class B8 use
(storage and distribution), both inside and in designated open areas, retaining
the landscape business of ‘Jack Dunckley Designs’ and an area of associated
storage.
The application site was located to the north of the Henfield Built Up Area
Boundary, in a rural setting.
83 written representations had been received, 65 of which objected to the
application and 18 expressed support to the application.
Two members of the public spoke in objection to the application. A
representative of Henfield Parish Council addressed the Committee in objection
to the application.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: enforcement
background; the principle of development; design and appearance; impact on
landscape and biodiversity; impact on neighbouring amenity; highways impacts;
and climate change.

Page 410

Planning Committee (South)
22 June 2021

5

Members raised concerns regarding the intensification of the application site
and the harm that would be caused to the rural character of the surrounding
area.
RESOLVED
That Planning Application DC/20/1906 be refused for the following
reason:
The proposal, by virtue of its scale and nature of proposed uses, would
be in an inappropriate location and would be harmful to the rural
character, landscape and appearance of the surrounding area contrary
to Policies 10, 25 and 26 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

The meeting closed at 4.57 pm having commenced at 2.30 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page5 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (SOUTH)
Date: 20th July 2021
Report on Appeals: 10/06/2021 – 07/07/2021
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Date
Lodged

Ref No.

Site

DC/21/0533

Land Parcel at 511759 115155,
Muttons Lane, Ashington,
West Sussex

2.

05-Jul-21

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution
Application
Refused

N/A

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Appeal
Procedure

Start Date

Written
Representation

15-Jun-21 Notice served

DC/19/2105

Parsons Field
Stables, Pickhurst
Lane, Pulborough,
West Sussex

Informal
Hearing

15-Jun-21

DC/20/2583

Stables On Land
South of Mill Lane,
Mill Lane, Littleworth,
Partridge Green,
RH13 8JU

Written
Representation

15-Jun-21 Split Decision

N/A

EN/21/0021

Priory Fields Barn,
Land South of
Kithurst Lane,
Storrington, West
Sussex, RH20 4LN

Written
Representation

17-Jun-21 Notice served

N/A

DC/20/2245

1 West Wantley
Cottages, Fryern
Road, Storrington,
Pulborough, West
Sussex, RH20 4BJ

Written
Representation

Ref No.

Site

Mayfield Nursery,
West Chiltington
EN/20/0230;
Lane,
EN/20/0231
Broadford Bridge,
and
Billingshurst,
EN/20/0266
West Sussex,
RH14 9EA

Page 13

02-Jul-21

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

N/A

Application
Refused

N/A

3.

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Ref No.

Site

Appeal
Procedure

Decision

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution

DC/20/1045

5 Penfold Way,
Steyning,
West Sussex,
BN44 3PG

Fast Track

Appeal
Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

Written
Appeal
Representation Allowed

Prior Approval
Required and
REFUSED

N/A

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/1710

Priory Fields,
Monastery Lane,
Storrington,
West Sussex

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/0789

Former B and W
Building,
Elm Grove Lane,
Steyning,
West Sussex,
BN44 3SA

Written
Appeal
Representation Allowed

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

DC/20/2377

DC/20/2250

Furzedown Field,
Kithurst Lane,
Storrington,
West Sussex,
RH20 4LP
Land West of Matts
Wood,
Off Cemetery Lane,
Monastery Lane,
Storrington,
West Sussex

Page 14

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

20 July 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Demolition of dwelling and erection of a two storey detached 4 bedroom
dwelling with detached double garage. Erection of an equestrian arena and
outdoor riding arena together with associated parking. Retention of existing
stables and new equestrian facilities

SITE:

Hobbits Stall House Lane North Heath Pulborough West Sussex RH20
2HR

WARD:

Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/1519

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs M Skillman Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: Deferred from February committee
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve the application, subject to the revised planning conditions.

1.

ASSESSMENT

1.1

This application was presented at Planning Committee South, 15th December 2020 (see
Addendum 1), where members resolved that the application be determined by the Head of
Development with a view to approval, subject to the amendment of conditions in consultation
with Local Members.

1.2

Following the first committee meeting officers were made aware of having mistakenly
misquoted Paragraph 109 of the NPPF when responding to member questions. In light of
this, the application was then presented to the committee for a second time on 16 February
2021 (see Addendum 2). Members voted to defer the application to be presented to
committee for a third time subject to the West Sussex County Highways (WSCC) team
visiting the site to assess the resultant highways impact on site.

1.3

In the interim, Officers were presented with an alternate highways report submitted by one
of the neighbours of the site who objected to the proposal, prepared by Bellamy Roberts.
WSCC visited the site on 29 March 2021 and provided further commentary on the application
and the neighbour’s transport report on 30 April 2021.

1.4

In addition to the Bellamy Roberts report, five (5) neighbouring representations (including
one submitted by a solicitors firm on behalf of some residents) have been received since the
previous committee presentation objecting to the proposal on the following grounds:
 Concern of increased number of HGVs in Nutbourne
 Existing 20mph speed limit in Nutbourne is ignored by usual car users

Contact Officer: Robert Hermitage

Page 15

Tel: 01403 215382










The streets of Nutbourne are too narrow for the intended traffic
The railway bridge is an obstacle for larger vehicles
Increased traffic on the highway
Proposal is not clear as to whether this is a private or business use
Ambiguous assessment by the Council’s agricultural consultants
The scale of the development would clearly represent a commercial use
Proposed conditions would not adequately control the use of the site
Loss of previously present natural ponds

1.5

The Bellamy Roberts report has been considered by WSCC. Fundamentally, the report
disagrees with the proposed use of the site, and the conclusions reached are on the basis
that the operation would be fully commercial. As previously presented to the committee, the
intended use of the site would be one of a private use with an ancillary commercial aspect.
The applicant’s transport statement and accompanying information has been prepared on
that basis. The suggested conditions (below) are adequately worded to control this use. On
the basis of the proposed private use with an ancillary commercial use, WSCC have not
raised any concerns or objections to the data provided within the applicant’s transport
statement.

1.6

As such, Officers remain of the advice that the proposal does not warrant refusal on highways
grounds as there is no unacceptable impact on highway safety, and the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would not be severe, in compliance with Paragraph 109 of the
NPPF.

1.7

The recommendation to approve planning permission remains as previous reflecting the full
wording of Paragraph 109 of the NPPF. Members are advised to consider whether the
application of the full wording of Paragraph 109 would have altered the decision previously
reached, and whether the revised conditions referenced above are acceptable to manage
the use, transport movements and sustainability credentials of the development. WSCC have
now visited the site and have concluded that their findings remain unchanged following their
initial desk-based assessment.

1.8

Officers therefore recommend that the application is approved subject to the following
conditions.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

To approve planning permission, subject to the following revised schedule of conditions:
Conditions:
1

Standard Plans Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken
in full accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

2

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, including any demolition works,
shall take place until unless the local planning authority has been provided with either:

Page 16

a) a licence for bats and great crested newts issued by Natural England pursuant to
Regulation 55 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended) authorizing the specified activity/development to go ahead; or
b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does not
consider that the specified activity/development will require a licence for bats and
great crested newts; and
c) confirmation of the site registration and a method statement supplied by an
individual registered to use a Bat Mitigation Class Licence for Bats (relating to the
demolition of the existing dwelling).
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the Local Planning
Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended
and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.
4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place (including any
demolition, ground works, site clearance) until a further badger survey and updated
mitigation statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. This further survey shall be undertaken to identify whether any
Badger activity has changed since the previous surveys were undertaken and
whether further mitigation and/or works are required for badgers during the
construction phase. The works shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details and shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To conserve Protected species and allow the Local Planning Authority to
discharge its duties under the Badger Protection Act 1992 and s17 Crime & Disorder
Act 1998.

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: With the exception of the demolition and removal
of existing buildings and any concrete hardstanding no development shall commence
until the following components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with
contamination, (including asbestos contamination), of the site be submitted to and
approved, in writing, by the local planning authority:
(a)
A pre-demolition preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
The following aspects (b) – (c) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above
preliminary risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(b)
An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for
a detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any
contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
(c)
Full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken based on the results of the intrusive site investigation (b) and a
verification plan providing details of what data will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the remedial works are complete.
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. Any changes to these components
require the consent of the local planning authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance
with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 17

6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until precise
details of the existing and proposed finished floor levels and external ground levels
of the development in relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The
development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the
interests of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

8

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any
works of demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved
Plan shall be implemented and adhered to throughout the entire construction period.
The Plan shall provide details as appropriate but not necessarily be restricted to the
following matters,
 the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during
construction,
 the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
 the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
 the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate
the impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of
temporary Traffic Regulation Orders), details of public engagement both prior
to and during construction works,
 safeguarding measures to ensure that the works do not pose danger to users
of the adjacent Public Footpaths / Bridleways.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area, and in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a
schedule of materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows
and roofs of the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the
development hereby permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to
control the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to
achieve a building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

10

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: Prior to the development
commencing above slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected

Page 18

and Priority species shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement
measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and
plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the Local
Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006
(Priority habitats & species).
11

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the occupation or first use of the development
hereby permitted, a detailed lighting plan illustrating the proposed siting of each
external light to be installed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with approved
locations detailed on the plan to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority and the specifications set out in the Lighting Technical Report submitted to
the Council on 24.11.2020 (prepared by Designs for Lighting)
The external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved plan and the
submitted Lighting Technical Report unless otherwise agreed to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife
& Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats
& species), and to protect neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policy 33(2) of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall not be
occupied or brought into use until there has been submitted to the Local Planning
Authority verification that the remediation scheme required and approved under the
provisions of condition 5(c) has been implemented fully in accordance with the
approved details (unless varied with the written agreement of the Local Planning
Authority in advance of implementation). Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored
and maintained in accordance with the scheme approved under condition 5(c), unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are
caused to humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following
the development works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance
with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall not be
occupied or brought into use until a scheme for the disposal of horse waste has been
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise
agreed in writing the scheme shall include the following:
 Methods and frequency of stable cleaning, storage, collection and disposal
methods.

Page 19




Detail of the location of storage of stable waste (muck heaps). These should
not be located any closer than 30m from any neighbouring residential
boundaries.
No burning of waste materials on site, including stable waste.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
14

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the proposed
replacement dwelling, the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external
site-wide infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per
second through full fibre broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policies 10 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

15

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the
development hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall
have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority.
The details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:
 Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
 Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying
species, planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
 Details of all hard-surfacing materials and finishes
 Details of all boundary treatments (including those to the proposed outdoor
arena)
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local
Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed
planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to
any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

16

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until
the vehicle parking and turning spaces have been constructed in accordance with the
approved plan. These spaces shall thereafter be retained for their designated use.
Reason: To provide adequate on-site car parking and turning space for the
development, and in accordance with Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015)

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until
electric vehicle charging spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and
details to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The electric

Page 20

vehicle charging spaces shall thereafter be maintained and remain fully operational
unless otherwise agreed and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To provide sustainable travel options in accordance with Policies 35 and 41
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
18

Post-Occupation Condition: Upon the occupation of the replacement dwelling
hereby permitted, the existing dwelling indicated on plan H/19/01 shall cease to be
used for any purpose whatsoever and within a period of one month thereafter the
existing dwelling shall be demolished (including the removal of foundations), all
materials arising from such demolition removed from the site and the site of the
demolished building restored in accordance with details of landscaping to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The retention of existing buildings together with the new buildings would
result in the proliferation of buildings on the site, detracting from the character of the
area which would be contrary to Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

19

Regulatory Condition: Other than for a maximum of 5 training sessions (defined as
one trainee per session) per week, the stables, sand school, indoor arena and
associated outside areas hereby permitted shall operate as a private equestrian
facility for the benefit of the occupiers of Heathcote and/or the onsite grooms
accommodation and shall not be used for any other commercial purposes (including
for the holding of any public events or auctions) or in connection with any form of
riding or livery establishment. The owners shall keep a record of all training sessions,
dates and attendees at all times for inspection by the Local Planning Authority on
request.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and highway impact, to enable the Local
Planning Authority to regulate and control the development and in accordance with
Policies 33 and 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

20

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110
litres per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the
sustainability of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

21

Regulatory Condition: No works relating to the construction of the development
hereby approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to
Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays,
Bank or public Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

22

Regulatory Condition: No deliveries of construction materials or plant and
machinery and no removal of any spoil from the site, shall take place outside of 08:00
hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on
Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public Holidays, unless otherwise
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 21

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
23

Regulatory Condition: There should be no importation of soil and other fill materials
onto the development site unless the soil/fill has been certified as fit for purpose by a
competent person and has been subject to analysis by an accredited laboratory to
ensure that it is free from contamination.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

24

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no burning of materials or waste on site,
including stable/horse waste.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

25

Regulatory Condition: All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall
be carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Impact
Assessment (Lizard Landscape Design and Ecology, July 2020) as already submitted
with the planning application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority
prior to determination. This may include the appointment of an appropriately
competent person e.g. an ecological clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site
ecological expertise during construction. The appointed person shall undertake all
activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the
Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

26

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no exterior lighting/floodlighting unless prior
written approval from the Local Planning Authority has been granted by way of formal
application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

27

Regulatory Condition: No plant or machinery that generates, or is likely to generate,
noise audible beyond the site boundary to be installed without prior written approval
from the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

28

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no use of a PA system or the playing amplified
of music at any times unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 22

INFORMATIVES
Conditions to be Discharged
Please be advised that there are conditions on this notice that will require the submission of
details to be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority. To approve these
details, you will need to submit an "Application for approval of details reserved by condition"
with an application form and pay the appropriate fee. Guidance and the forms can be found
at www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/paperforms
Ordinary Watercourse Consent
Under the Land Drainage Act 1991, any works (permanent or temporary) that have the
potential to affect the existing watercourse or ditch’s ability to convey water will require
Ordinary Watercourse Consent. Ordinary watercourses include streams, drains, ditches and
passages through which water flows that do not form the network of main rivers.
Importation of Soils
No soils shall be imported within the development site unless the developer has submitted
details of the chemical testing and assessment of the soils which demonstrates the suitability
of the soils for the proposed use. If soils are to be imported, the assessment shall be
undertaken by a suitably qualified and competent person and full details shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Background Papers: DC/20/1519; Addendum 1; Addendum 2

Page 23

This page is intentionally left blank

06) DC/20/1519
Hobbits, Stall House Lane, North Heath, Pulborough,
West Sussex, RH20 2HR

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:5,000
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

08/07/2021

Page 25MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development

DATE:

15th December 2020

SITE:

Demolition of dwelling and erection of a two storey detached 4 bedroom
dwelling with detached double garage. Erection of an equestrian arena and
outdoor riding arena together with associated parking. Retention of existing
stables and new equestrian facilities
Hobbits Stall House Lane North Heath Pulborough West Sussex RH20
2HR

WARD:

Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/1519

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs M Skillman Address: C/O Agent

DEVELOPMENT:

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations raising
material planning considerations that are
inconsistent with the recommendation of the
Head of Development.
RECOMMENDATION: To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions.
1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

Planning permission is sought for the demolition of the existing dwelling (Hobbits), the
erection of the following:
 a replacement dwelling,
 a detached double garage
 an indoor riding area with 21 internal stables and hay store (67m by 36m); and
 an outdoor riding arena (60m by 20m).
The indoor and outdoor arenas would be predominantly used for private purposes for the
keeping, breeding and rearing of competition dressage horses owned by the applicants and
their Groom/Head Trainer. The applicants live next to the site, and the replacement dwelling
is to be occupied by the Groom/Head Trainer. The proposals state that the facilities will not
be a standard equestrian centre with various livery or riding school events, but a bespoke
business run by a dedicated trainer. It will include training days where the Head Trainer would

Contact Officer: Robert Hermitage

Page 27

Tel: 01403 215382

train an individual rider on a ‘one-in one-out’ basis, likely 2 sessions per day and a maximum
of five per week.
1.2

The proposed replacement dwelling would be sited approximately 12m forward of the
existing dwelling, and would comprise a reduced overall floor area. The replacement dwelling
would be one and a half storeys in height, and would host a half-hipped roof with three small
dormers to the front elevation, and three larger half-dormers to the rear. The dwelling would
be composed of a timber boarded exterior, with plain roof tiles, and a brick plinth. The
detached double garage would be set to the front of the dwelling, matching the material
composition of the main dwelling.

1.3

The proposed indoor arena would be sited 84m to the rear of the dwelling. The main body of
the arena would measure some 67m in width, 36m in depth, including a 4.3m by 21.2m stable
area to the side, and a 15.5m by 3.5m hay store to the rear. The arena would host a pitched
roof with an eaves height of 3.2m and a maximum ridge height of 9.2m, and would be
composed of a horizontal timber weather boarding, sheet roof, and a brick plinth. The arena
would include 21 internal stables, a seating area, a feed store, office, tack room, WC, wash
bays, laundry room, and an indoor 60m by 20m exercise arena. The exterior forecourt of the
building would include parking spaces of 8 cars, and 4 horse box spaces.

1.4

The proposal also includes the creation of an outdoor 60m by 20m sand school between the
proposed replacement dwelling and indoor arena, and would be countersunk into the slope,
with associated planted boundary hedging and a gated entrance.

1.5

The site would be accessed via the existing access to the site. A new access would be
created spurring from the junction to the street to the replacement dwelling, travelling west
to east, and to the proposed equestrian areas. The existing access would remain to serve
the existing stable building to the north of the site. The proposal also includes associated
landscaping works, tree removal, and boundary planting enhancements. The existing ‘U’
shape stable building in the north-eastern corner of the site would remain.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.6

The application relates to a 2.6ha site located on the southern side of Stall House Lane,
North Heath. The site hosts an existing dwelling towards the north-eastern boundary to Stall
House Lane, in addition to a 6 stable building to the north. The curtilage to the rear / south
of the buildings is laid to grass, with sporadic siting of self-seeded wooded areas, and slopes
gently towards the south. The boundaries of the site are lined with established trees and
foliage, with a single access to the northern boundary from Stall House Lane

1.7

The site is located outside of the built-up area, within a predominantly rural location. Stall
House Lane is characterised by sporadic siting of large detached dwellings, set within
generous curtilages. The site is surrounded by large open fields and wooded areas. Public
Bridleway 2299 travels east to west to the front boundary of the site, and public footpath
2322 travels east to west adjacent to the southern boundary.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

Page 28

National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 9 - Employment Development
Policy 10 - Rural Economic Development
Policy 11 - Tourism and Cultural Facilities
Policy 20 - Rural Workers Accommodation
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 28 - Replacement Dwellings and House Extensions in the Countryside
Policy 29 - Equestrian Development
Policy 30 - Protected Landscapes
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Pulborough Neighbourhood Planning Document
The submission draft Pulborough Neighbourhood Plan is out to consultation in accordance
with the Regulation 16 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as
amended). The consultation is running for 8 weeks from 5pm 18 November 2020 to midnight
13th January 2021.
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/19/2096
Demolition of dwelling and erection of a two Withdrawn Application
storey detached 4 bedroom dwelling with on 06.01.2020
detached double garage. Erection of an
equestrian arena and outdoor riding arena
together with associated parking. Retention of
existing stables and new equestrian facilities
DC/16/0745
Construction of replacement stables
Application Permitted
on 25.05.2016
DC/15/0652
Construction
of
replacement
stables Application Refused on
incorporating grooms accommodation
21.05.2015
3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

Page 29

HDC Landscape Architect: No Objection
(summary) – initial concerns relating to an increased level of activity to the site, though this
would be contained by the existing landscape features which can be further mitigated with
the reinforcement planting of the boundaries and potentially with the sensitive positioning of
the building within the receiving land. The submitted LVIA concludes that the northern and
central parts of the site are of a more enclosed character and that as a result there is potential
to mitigate the harm arising from the proposals. Following the submission of additional
information (relating to level information, rooflights, and planting), these concerns have been
addressed and can be adequately conditioned.
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
(summary) – subject to the application of suggested conditions
HDC Drainage: No Objection
(summary) – no overall objections to the drainage strategy proposed. The applicant should
be advised that any discharge to the local watercourse might require ‘Ordinary Watercourse
Consent’,
HDC Arboriculture: No Objection
(summary) – none of the internal trees appear to have any especial amenity merit. The tree
protective measure put forward in regard to the retained tree stock on the site are compliant
with BS 5837 'Trees in relation to design, demolition, and construction - Recommendations'
(2012), and are satisfactory.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
(summary) – The Local Highway Authority does not consider that the proposal would have
an unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
Suggested conditions (attached).
Ecological Consultant: No Objection
(summary) – the proposal includes suitable details of proposed ecological mitigations and
biodiversity enhancements sufficient to determine the application. Suggested conditions
(attached).
A Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) has been carried out given the location of the site
within 5km of the Mens Special Area of Conservation (SAC). The HRA concludes that the
proposal will not have a Likely Significant Effect on the qualifying features of the SAC and
that the HRA does not need to proceed to HRA Stage 2: Appropriate Assessment.
Southern Water: Comment
(summary) – There are no public foul and surface water sewers in the area to serve this
development. The applicant is advised to examine alternative means of foul and surface
water disposal. The Environment Agency should be consulted directly regarding the use of
a private wastewater treatment works or septic tank drainage which disposes of effluent to
sub-soil irrigation.
South Downs National Park: Comment
(summary) – the SDNP encourage any new development close to the National Park’s
boundary to have a sensitive approach to lighting which conforms with the Insatiate of
Lighting Professionals guidance for lighting in environmental zones, and tries to achieve zero
upwards light spill in all respects.

Page 30

WSCC Flood Risk Management: No Objection
(summary) – the site is located within an area of low ground and flood water risk. Works
affecting the flow of an ordinary watercourse will require ordinary watercourse consent and
an appropriate development-free buffer zone should be incorporated into the design of the
development. There are no historic records of flooding on the site.
WSCC Rights of Way: No Objection
(summary) – It appears the proposed development will not affect the PROW that runs
adjacent to it; however, it should be clearly noted that the access along Stall House Lane at
this point also carries a Public Right of Way, Public Bridleway 2299. Should planning consent
be granted, the impact of development upon the public use, enjoyment and amenity of the
PROW must be considered by the planning authority.
WSCC Minerals and Waste: No Objection
(full) – The MWPA would offer No Objection to the application as per the subject line of this
email as, while the application site is within a mineral safeguarding area for brick clay, the
site area is less than 3ha and so would meet exemption criteria as detailed within the
Minerals and Waste Safeguarding Guidance.
Reading Agricultural Consultants: No Objection
(summary) – Overall, the proposed replacement dwelling, outdoor arena and indoor arena
with facilities are of an appropriate size, and that it would support the equestrian needs of
the holding and the business trading as Priory Dressage relocating from rented equestrian
facilities to Hobbits. In such circumstances it would be compliant with Paragraph 83 of the
NPPF and Policies 20, 26 and 29 of the Horsham District Planning Framework.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
3.2

Thirteen (13) letters of representation were received from twelve (12) separate addresses
objecting to the proposal on the following grounds:
 Loss of wildlife and habitat
 Limited and dangerous access from the A29
 Increased traffic
 No public benefit from the proposal
 New dwelling unnecessary
 Insufficient passing space for larger and domestic vehicles
 Dangerous to pedestrian users
 Inappropriate location for commercial use
 Inappropriately sized building
 Tree felling has already commenced
 The proposal goes against the previous approval on the site regarding no further
intensification
 Adverse impact by way of overbearing
 Adverse odour impact
 Unsustainable development
 Overdevelopment of the site

3.3

Three (3) letters of representation were received from three separate addresses supporting
the proposal on the following grounds:
 High quality development
 A well-needed facility for the area and for the UK
 The proposal would support UK equestrianism
 No adverse increase in traffic

Page 31

3.4

Pulborough Parish Council: Objection
(summary) – Pulborough Parish Council objects to the proposal on the following grounds:
 Over development
 Out of character with the area
 Access from the A29 is already recognised as dangerous
 Inadequate road access for both cars and horse boxes

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of the Development
Replacement Dwelling

6.1

Policy 28 of the HDPF states that outside the defined built-up areas, house extensions,
replacement dwellings and ancillary accommodation will be supported if the development
can be accommodated appropriately within the curtilage of the existing dwelling. In addition,
replacement dwellings will only be supported on a one for one basis, should not be
disproportionate to the size of the existing dwelling, and garages and any new outbuildings
should have regards to the dwelling they serve and should be grouped with the house. In
addition, replacement dwelling should also have regard to Policy 33 (Development
Principles).

6.2

The new dwelling would replace the existing dwelling on a one-for-one basis, and is
considered a proportionate replacement in terms of its scale and level of accommodation.
The proposed replacement dwelling would occupy a footprint smaller than the existing, sited
approximately 12m forward of its existing position. The new dwelling would stand at one and
a half stories in eight, hosting a half hipped roof with dormer additions to the front and rear
roofslope, front porch overhang, and is indicated to be finished in timber boarding with a brick
plinth, plain roof tiles, and a brick chimney to the side elevation.

6.3

The dwelling would be a proportionate replacement to the existing, occupying a smaller
overall footprint, and would benefit from a reasonable front and rear curtilage. The dormers
to the front and rear would be well-proportioned to the windows they house, and are
reasonably set within the roofslope of the dwelling. Furthermore, the dwelling is considered
to comprise an appropriate exterior appearance and material composition, which would be
well suited for its rural location.

6.4

With this and the above in mind, the principle and design of the proposed replacement
dwelling is considered acceptable, subject to detailed considerations below, in accordance
with Policies 28 and 33 of the HDPF.

Page 32

Equestrian Use
6.5

The application site is located outside of the defined built-up area boundary and is therefore
considered to be within the countryside. Therefore, the relevant countryside protection
policies apply. Further, as a proposed commercial enterprise, establishing the principle of
the proposal will be assessed against the following rural economic development policies:

6.6

Policy 10 of the HDPF relates to rural economic development, and states that sustainable
rural economic development and enterprise within the district will be encouraged in order to
generate local employment opportunities and economic, social and environmental benefits
for local communities.

6.7

In the countryside, development which maintains the quality and character of the area, whilst
sustaining its varied and productive social and economic activity will be supported in
principle. Any development should be appropriate to the countryside location and must:
1. Contribute to the diverse and sustainable farming enterprises within the district or, in the
case of other countryside-based enterprises and activities, contribute to the wider rural
economy and/or promote recreation in, and the enjoyment of, the countryside; and either
a) Be contained wherever possible within suitably located buildings which are
appropriate for conversion or, in the case of an established rural industrial estate,
within the existing boundaries of the estate; or
b) Result in substantial environmental improvement and reduce the impact on the
countryside particularly if there are exceptional cases where new or replacement
buildings are involved. New buildings or development in the rural area will be
acceptable provided that it supports sustainable economic growth towards balanced
living and working communities and criteria a) has been considered first.
2. Demonstrate that car parking requirements can be accommodated satisfactorily within
the immediate surrounds of the buildings, or an alternative, logical solution is proposed.

6.8

Further, policy 26 of the HDPF relates to development outside of the built-up area, and states
that the rural character and undeveloped nature of the countryside will be protected against
inappropriate development. Any proposal must be essential to its countryside location, and
in addition meet one of the following criteria:
1.
2.
3.
4.

6.9

Support the needs of agriculture or forestry;
Enable the extraction of minerals or the disposal of waste;
Provide for quiet informal recreational use; or
Enable the sustainable development of rural areas.

In addition, proposals must be of a scale appropriate to its countryside character and
location. Development will be considered acceptable where it does not lead, either
individually or cumulatively, to a significant increase in the overall level of activity in the
countryside, and protects, and/or conserves, and/or enhances, the key features and
characteristics of the landscape character area in which it is located, including;
1. The development pattern of the area, its historical and ecological qualities, tranquillity
and sensitivity to change;
2. The pattern of woodlands, fields, hedgerows, trees, waterbodies and other features;
and
3. The landform of the area.

6.10

Policy 29 of the HDPF relates to equestrian development, and states that development for
equestrian related development will be supported provided that:

Page 33

1. It can be demonstrated that the re-use of existing buildings on site for related
equestrian use is not appropriate; before new or replacement buildings are
considered.
2. The proposal would be appropriate in scale and level of activity, and be in keeping
with its location and surroundings, and where possible is well related to existing
buildings;
3. The proposal should where possible be well related to a bridleway network.
6.11

The applicants propose to operate an Olympic level equestrian training centre, with
associated breeding capabilities and livery. The site currently includes an equestrian use,
comprising 6 stables to the north of the site for the personal use of the applicant. These
stables were approved under application DC/16/0745, and will be retained for breeding,
convalescence, and veterinary care.

6.12

The proposed commercial equestrian use would comprise three aspects: an indoor
equestrian arena with stabling and other accommodations; an outdoor equestrian arena,
and; the aforementioned existing stabling.

6.13

The proposed indoor arena would be sited towards the centre of the site, rear of the existing
dwelling, and would host an exercise arena 20m by 60m in size, including 21 stables, each
measuring 4.1m by 4.3m. The building also includes the following facilities; toilet, storeroom,
four wash bays, office, tack room, rug store, laundry, two feed stores, a hay store and seating
area. These facilities are considered appropriate for an equine competition yard. Parking
would be provided to the front of the building, comprising 8 parking spaces, and 4 horse box
spaces.

6.14

The outdoor arena would be sited between the proposed indoor arena and the replacement
dwelling, set within the existing slope (cut in approximately 1m deep), featuring fencing and
associated boundary planting.

6.15

The proposed indoor arena would allow for year-round training of horses under cover, with
up to five horses being trained at any one time. Both the proposed indoor and outdoor arenas
are of a typical size for a training yard.

6.16

No alterations are proposed to the existing stable building north of the site, save for
associated landscaping surrounding the building to connect pathways to the proposed
arenas. The existing stable block would be used as a fouling box for breeding, and/or as an
isolation quarantine area and for veterinary visits.

6.17

The site would be operated predominantly as a private training yard by the applicants and
their staff. The applicant has stated that between them and the trainer, they own 20 horses
and 3 foals. Therefore, the proposed stables would be occupied by the applicant’s horses,
with no commercial livery.

6.18

The applicant has also stated that the proposal would include a small commercial training
use, with the maximum number of training sessions being no more than two a day, or five a
week on a one-in one-out basis. It is intended that visitors to the site would train with the
applicant’s horses, however the applicant has advised that it is not anticipated that visitor’s
horses are bought to the site, though the site does accommodate limited horse box parking
if this were to take place. In the event that this is to occur and horses are to stay overnight,
they will be tended to by the applicant and their staff. Up to 4 members of staff would assist
the Head Trainer daily.

6.19

Based on this information, it is considered that the number of vehicle trips to and from the
site would likely be lower than the expected 12 movements per day set out in the submitted
Transport Statement. This is considering that the trainer and applicants live on and adjacent
to the site and will mostly be involved in the daily operations of the site, and that feed for the

Page 34

horses would be grown on the applicants wider land holding. Conditions are recommended
to ensure that the nature and intensity of the proposal reflects that set out in the supporting
statements as summarised above.
6.19

The pre-text to policy 29 states that equestrian related development is important to the rural
economy, and that development of this nature needs to be of a high quality and appropriate
to its location. Whilst the proposed equestrian centre occupies a large area and would be
accommodated within a large building, the proposed use of the site would largely fall to the
maintenance and training of the applicant’s horses alongside a small number of low intensity
training events. Notwithstanding other material planning considerations, this level of primarily
private activity at the site is considered to be of an appropriate scale in this countryside
location. Furthermore, the use would be well-connected with the existing bridleway network,
as bridleway 2299 adjoins the north-eastern boundary of the site.

6.20

In terms of the Council’s Countryside Protection Policy (Policy 26), as above, the proposal
would allow for quiet recreational use. Whilst it is appreciated that there would be an increase
in activity on / surrounding the site as a result of the development, this would be of a scale
commensurate to the nature of the proposed use.

6.21

With regards to rural economic development, the proposal would promote recreation in and
the enjoyment of the countryside, generating local employment opportunities. The proposed
use is also characteristic of its countryside location, and would facilitate the development of
a rural enterprise. Furthermore, the development would promote local tourism, facilitating a
rural diversification scheme which would ultimately benefit the local rural economy

6.22

With the above in mind, whilst the development would result in a modest increase in activity
within the countryside, the proposal is considered acceptable in principle in terms of its
appropriate location, and would generate local employment opportunities and would benefit
the local rural economy, in accordance with Policies 10, 11, 26 and 29 of the HDPF.
Layout, Amount, Scale and Appearance

6.23

Policy 32 of the HDPF states that good design is a key element in sustainable development,
and seeks to ensure that development promotes a high standard of urban design,
architecture and landscape. Policy 33 of the HDPF states that development proposals should
make efficient use of land, integrate effectively with the character of the surrounding area,
use high quality and appropriate materials, retain landscaping where feasible (and mitigate
loss if necessary) and ensure no conflict with the character of the surrounding town or
landscape.

6.24

The proposed outdoor arena would be sited to the rear of the replacement dwelling, and the
indoor arena sited to its rear within the centre of the site – the site would be connected via a
network of pathways and driveways from the street, including a new access off of the existing
driveway.

6.25

The outdoor arena would be set within the site’s slope, incorporating fencing and boundary
hedging, occupying and area of 60m by 20m – access to the arena would be granted via
gates facing south-east, towards the indoor arena. The proposed arrangement is considered
typical for an outdoor arena. Overall, no objection is raised with regards to its proposed layout
and appearance.

6.26

Officers acknowledge that the proposed indoor arena is large. However, as above, the
proposed use and amount of stabling is considered justified. Officers had queried whether
the building is required to be this size, and whether there was any scope to separate the
indoor arena from the stabling, and re-site them on an alternate location on the site. In
response to this, the applicant stated their aspiration to provide an equestrian centre worthy
of Olympic-level training. Due to the size of the arena, the roof of a surrounding building

Page 35

would overhang, which enables the stables to be accommodated under the overhang without
reducing the overall arena area. This is the most efficient way of providing the stabling
avoiding the need for further structures on the land. In essence, separating the stabling from
the arena would not amount to an overly reduced footprint, and would otherwise require
additional built form to be located elsewhere on the site. On balance, Officers consider that
the proposed arrangement would be less harmful than the alternate.
6.27

Ultimately, the building would comprise a utilitarian appearance and an appropriate
construction for the proposed use. Whilst it is acknowledged that the resultant built form on
the site is considerable, Officers do not consider that there is warrantable reason to refuse
permission on this basis, considering the resultant aforementioned positive economic
impacts, and landscaping considerations (detailed below). On balance, the resultant
appearance and built form of the development is considered acceptable, in accordance with
Policy 33 of the HDPF.
Landscape and Arboricultural Impacts

6.28

Policy 25 of the HDPF relates to the Natural Environment and landscape character of the
District, including the landscape, landform and development pattern, together with protected
landscapes and habitats will be protected against inappropriate development. The Council
will support development proposals which:
1. Protects, conserves and enhances the landscape and townscape character, taking into
account areas identified as being of landscape importance, the individual settlement
characteristics, and maintains settlement separation.
2. Maintain and enhances the Green Infrastructure Network and addresses any identified
deficiencies in the District.
3. Maintains and enhances the existing network of geological sites and biodiversity,
including safeguarding existing designated sites and species, and ensures no net loss of
wider biodiversity and provides net gains in biodiversity where possible.
4. Conserve and where possible enhance the setting of the South Downs National Park.

6.29

Policy 33(6) of the HDPF presumes in favour of the retention of existing important landscape
and natural features, for example trees, hedges, banks and watercourses. Development
must relate sympathetically to the local landscape and justify and mitigate against any losses
that may occur through the development.

6.30

The site itself comprises an irregular shape, and is mostly defined by vegetated boundaries
which to the east merge into adjoining woodland belts. The topography within the site is
undulating with a gradual rise of around 2m from the lower ground along the eastern
boundary towards the northern and western areas of the site. A group of mixed native
species is set within the central part of the site, informally dividing and containing it from the
most southern part. Public bridleway 2299 travels east to west to the front boundary of the
site, and public footpath 2322 travels east to west adjacent to the southern boundary, both
offering public glimpses into the site.

6.31

The application was accompanied with a Landscape Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA). The
document details the site’s landscape constraints, and details the proposal’s mitigation and
enhancement measures. The Council’s Senior Landscape Architect stated agreement that
the northern and central parts of the site are of a more enclosed character and that as a
result there is potential to mitigate the harm arising from the proposals. No concern was
raised with regards to the replacement dwelling.

6.32

Initially, concerns were raised with regards to the size and siting of the indoor arena, though
acknowledging that the proposed size is considered appropriate for the required equestrian
purposes by the agricultural consultant, and questioning how the development would be
accommodated within the landscape. In addition, whilst the development would amount to

Page 36

an increased level of activity within this location, it was appreciated that the use would be
contained within the existing landscape features that would be further mitigated with the
reinforcement of planting. Further to initial comments, additional information was submitted
to the Council (dated 14.10.2020), including a topographical survey, a landscape masterplan,
and an additional statement of the applicant’s Landscape Planner.
6.33

The additional information confirmed that the outdoor arena would be set within the gradual
slope to the replacement dwelling, and that the proposed indoor arena would be sited on
relatively level ground at approximately 1m (considering the size of the building). It was noted
that that some steep slopping will be necessary to the southern west corner of the building.
However, this would be localised and planting is proposed within this location which will help
soften the change.

6.34

Glimpses into the site would be granted through intermittent planting along the boundaries
of the site from the surrounding public footpaths / bridleways. However, as noted with in the
LVIA and highlighted by the Council’s Senior Landscape Architect, boundary planting is
proposed to be enhanced, and can be controlled by way of condition. The submitted
topographical survey detailed the existing levels of the site and the proposed finished floor
levels, which demonstrates how the development would be situated within the landscape.
The Council’s Senior Landscape Architect has not raised any objection to this arrangement.
Therefore, with additional planting and enhancements to the boundary planning, public views
of the development would be limited, and would not result in a development that would be
perceived as visually adverse from a public point of view. Officers are satisfied that the
landscaping enhancements and mitigations can be adequately controlled by way of
condition.

6.35

The South Downs National Park is located approximately 2km west of the site (to its closest
boundary). The South Downs National Park Authority (SDNPA) have not objected to the
proposal, though have noted that the submitted LVIA did not account for visual impact on the
Grade II Listed Folly, Toat Monument, which is sited within the National Park, located some
2.5km west of the site. Upon review, the Council’s Senior Landscape Officer noted that
because of the distance between the site and the monument, coupled with the fact that
monument is not publicly accessible, an assessment of this impact was not necessary.
Furthermore, comments regarding the amount of rooflights and resultant light spill were also
made, and their potential resultant impact on the National Park (assessed below).

6.36

The Council’s Senior Arboricultural Officer has commented on the proposal. It was noted that
the site is located within an isolated countryside location, and that a small number of trees
are to be removed to facilitate construction- none of which are of particular amenity value or
of especial merit. The trees to be retained on the site would be subject of appropriate
protective measures compliant with the British Standard.

6.37

With the above considerations in mind, Officers are satisfied that the development would
result in minor landscape impact, which can otherwise be mitigated against, in addition to an
appropriate level of recommended enhancements, all of which can be adequately controlled
by way of condition. In addition, the proposed trees to be removed on the site are not of
particular amenity value, and their loss would be offset by the planting of enhanced boundary
treatment. As such, the proposal is considered to accord with Polices 25 and 33(6) of the
HDPF.
Amenity Impacts

6.38

Policy 33(2) of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that permission will be
granted for development that does not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the
occupiers/users of nearby properties and land.

Page 37

6.39

The site is located within a relatively isolated countryside location with regards to proximity
to nearby neighbouring dwellings, and is predominantly surrounded by open fields with ample
boundary planting.

6.40

To the north, the sites northern boundary neighbours Stall House Barn set at a distance in
excess of 100m. Heathcote is sited 250m to the north-eastern boundary of the site (the
applicant’s property), and to the south, Little Brinsbury Farm is sited some 30m of the
southern boundary of the site (some 155m from the southern elevation of the proposed
indoor arena).

6.41

Given the separation distance of the site in relation to the nearest neighbouring properties,
the proposed replacement dwelling and equestrian use and arenas would not give rise to
neighbouring amenity concerns by way of overlooking or overshadowing. Furthermore, whilst
the building is large, and would be located some 155m from Little Brinsbury Farm to the
south, its northerly siting in relation to the neighbour, coupled with the proliferation of the
neighbour’s outbuildings between the dwelling and the proposed indoor arena would not give
rise an adverse sense of overbearing. Details relating to lighting impact are assessed below.

6.42

The site is currently utilised as residential curtilage to Hobbits, with a small stable to the north
of the site. As such, it is appreciated that the proposed use of the site would likely result in
an increase level of activity on the site. However, as previously expressed, movement on the
approach roads would not be more than 12 per day including a very light-touch commercial
use (up to five appointments a week). Trips and traffic impacts are detailed in the section
below, which are not considered excessive given the proposed intended use. Furthermore,
the proposed equestrian use of this size not considered out of the ordinary for a countryside
location, and coupled with the relatively low traffic expected to and from the site, the proposal
is not considered to adversely impact neighbouring amenity.

6.43

With the above in mind, the proposed development is not considered to result in adverse
harm to neighbouring amenity, in accordance with Policy 33(2) of the HDPF.
Highways and Access

6.44

Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that transport access and ease
of movement is a key factor in the performance of the local economy. The need for
sustainable transport and safe access is vital to improve development across the district.
Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework states that development that involved
the loss of existing parking spaces will only be allowed if suitable alternative provision has
been secured elsewhere. Adequate parking facilities must be provided within the
developments to meet the needs of the anticipated users.

6.45

The application was accompanied with a detailed Transport Statement. The statement
details that the existing access into the site from Stall House Lane would be retained and
utilised for the development. Internal driveways would be created to serve the arenas to the
rear of the proposed replacement dwelling, including access from the existing driveway.

6.46

Paragraphs 7.7 onwards of the Transport Statement calculates the proposed trip generation
associated with the development is not expected to exceed 12 two-way trips in one day,
stating that the data provided represents a worst-case scenario. WSCC Highways have
commented on the trip generation, stating that daily peaks trips would be ‘very minimal’. This
would not give rise to a significant number of trips that could be considered a highway safety
or capacity concern. As the trip data represents a worst-case scenario, it could be expected
that the trip generation in reality would be lower than what is presented in the transport
statement.

6.47

Access arrangements to the site would remain unaltered from the existing. The site would
be accessed via Stall House Lane, which is a narrow country road with passing places

Page 38

unsuitable for heavy vehicular use. Data provided by WSCC Highways and Sussex Policy
confirm that there have been no accidents on the junction of Stall House Lane and Gay Street
Lane within the last five years. As the access to the site from the highway would remain
unaltered, rural refuse and recycling vehicles and collections would not be impacted. Whilst
additional vehicle movements would be generated along Stall House Lane, these would not
be of a quantum that would result in highway safety or amenity harm. This judgement has
been made based on the understanding that there would be a variety of vehicles potentially
accessing or exiting the site including the applicant’s horseboxes and any occasional service
vehicles. Given the low number of trips that would be generated for this predominantly private
use of the site, therefore, the proposed means of access are considered acceptable.
6.48

Neighbouring concerns relating to highways safety and access from the A29 are
acknowledged. Whilst no accidents have been reported on the junction to Stall House Lane
and Gay Street Lane, it is noted that numerous accidents have occurred on or nearby to the
junction of Gay Street Lane and Stane Street (A29), which is subject to the national speed
limit. However, as demonstrated by the proposed worst-case scenario relating to two-way
movements to and from the site per day (no more than 12), WSCC Highways Officers do not
consider that this would generate an excessive amount of traffic that would cause adverse
harm to the use and operation of the wider highway network.

6.49

Given the narrow nature of Stall House Lane, and the clear amenity and highway safety
issues that would potentially arise from a more intensive commercial operation of the site, a
condition is attached to the number of weekly training sessions conducted on site as part of
an otherwise private equestrian facility only.

6.50

Paragraph 6.9 of the Transport Statement details that 15 parking spaces would be provided
in total, comprising 3 spaces for the replacement dwelling, 8 for the indoor arena, 4 horsebox
parking spaces, in addition to 4 cycle parking spaces. The development is expected to
generate parking accumulation of 3 vehicles and 3 horse boxes at any one point. Therefore,
the parking arrangements for the development are considered suitable for the proposed use.

6.51

With the above in mind, the proposed access and parking arrangements associated with the
development are considered acceptable, and are therefore considered in accordance with
Policies 40 and 41 of the HDPF.
Other Matters
Ecology

6.52

An Ecological Impact Assessment was submitted with the application. The report concludes
that the site is formed of common, widespread plant species of limited diversity; the habitats
which shall be lost as part of the scheme are of low ecological value. The site supports low
numbers of roosting, foraging and commuting bats as well as a low population of great
crested newts. The avoidance and mitigation measures as detailed will prevent any
contravention of the relevant legislation with regards these species.

6.53

The Council’s Ecology consultant has reviewed the submitted survey and, subject to
adequate avoidance, mitigation and enhancement measures secured via suggested
conditions (attached), does not object to the proposed development on ecological grounds.
Drainage

6.54

The Environment Agency’s (EA) online flood maps show that the site is located wholly within
Flood Zone 1, meaning that the land is in a ‘low probability’ flood zone, and has a ‘less than
1 in 1,000 annual probability of river or sea flooding’. A boundary ditch watercourse is sited
along the eastern boundary of the site, travelling northwards

Page 39

6.55

In order to manage the risks associated with flooding, an attenuation storage (open pond),
permeable paving and Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) features are incorporated into
the design of the site, draining into the eastern watercourse. The attenuation pond (towards
the south-east of the site) will be provided where drainage system will flow into this pond via
a conveyance swale south of the indoor riding arena building. These SuDS features will
provide runoff treatment to protect water quality in the receiving watercourse system, thereby
ensuring that there would be no increase in run-off rates leaving the site.

6.56

The submitted Drainage Statement has been assessed by both WSCC Flood Risk
Management team and the Council’s Drainage Engineer, in which both parties are satisfied
that the proposed methods of surface water management would meet the requirements of
the NPPF (subject to conditions for ongoing maintenance etc.).

6.57

In summary, it is considered that the submitted Drainage Statement and design
demonstrates the development proposal can be satisfactorily accommodated without
increasing flood risk elsewhere, and is therefore in accordance with Chapter 14 of the NPPF,
and Policy 38 of the HDPF.
Lighting

6.58

The submission included a technical lighting report. The report details the proposed use of
internal and external lighting, in addition to proposed methods of mitigation to avoid
unnecessary light spill. The reports states that during the summer months, training within the
indoor arena would have finished by sundown and horses would have been bedded down
by this time. No lighting is proposed to the outdoor arena. During the winter, training is
expected to cease at 16:00. The proposed indoor arena will require lighting to supplement
the natural light penetrating the space, particularly on overcast days. The indoor arena is not
likely to be used at night, therefore the lighting system would only need to provide
supplementary levels of lighting, rather than full lighting levels after daylight has faded. In
order to mitigate sky glow caused by light spill through the rooflights, the internal lighting
system within the arena will be controlled by a timeclock to ensure lighting is switched off by
a 18:00 curfew.

6.59

With regards to external lighting, the report details the use of ‘warm lighting’ and ensuring
luminaires demonstrate superior levels of optical control, ensuring light is focussed only
where required and at a low level to reduce the potential for vertical light spill and upward
light – the luminaires will be secured to face downwards at an angle for 70 degrees (illustrated
in table 1 of the report).

6.60

Further to the submission of the report, the Council’s Ecological Consultant is satisfied that
the report conforms to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 and the
Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 with regards to resultant ecological impact. In addition, the
Council’s Environmental Health Officers are satisfied that the specifications detailed within
the report would not result in adverse harm to neighbouring amenity. However, whilst the
contents of the report may well conform to guidance and standards, the exact positions of
the lighting have not been illustrated on plan. As such, a condition has been attached below
to ensure that the exact details of the location of the lighting is submitted to and approved in
writing to the Local Planning Authority, and that the layout and location of the lighting
conforms with the specifications detailed within the submitted technical lighting report.

6.61

With the above in mind, Officers are satisfied that the proposed methods of internal and
external lighting can be adequately designed to ensure the reduction of unnecessary light
still within this countryside location, thus reducing any perceived impact on the South Downs
Dark Night Sky Reserve, through the use of appropriate lighting design and mitigations.
Therefore, conditions have been devised to ensure a satisfactory design and mitigations to
be proposed prior to their installation.

Page 40

Climate Change
6.62

Policies 35, 36 and 37 of the HDPF require that development mitigates to the impacts of
climate change through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk,
reducing water consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport
modes. These policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans
and decisions mitigate the impact of development on climate change.

6.63

The applicant has submitted a sustainability statement. The report details a range of
sustainability issues, such as: energy and carbon emissions; water conservation; flood risk,
surface and waste water management; ecology and biodiversity; waste and pollution, and;
materials selection and sustainable construction methods. The report confirms that the
development would include the following measures to address climate change impact:
 water usage limit of 110l/p/day;
 use of ground source heat pumps;
 use of ‘A grade’ rated white goods;
 use of highly sustainable construction materials;
 Construction in accordance with building regulations codes;
 Energy efficient LED lighting (including external lights);
 Use of permeable surfaces and sustainable drainage systems;
 Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity;
 Opportunities for biodiversity gain (as detailed above) and additional planting;
 Cycle parking facilities;
 Improved pedestrian and cycle links;
 Provision of the necessary infrastructure to supply broadband to the site, and;
 Provision of electric vehicle charging points.

6.64

Officers are satisfied that the above listed measures could be put in place to mitigate against
any potential sustainability impacts, and can be secured by way of planning condition.

6.65

With the above in mind, the Local Planning Authority are satisfied that through the use of
appropriately worded planning conditions, the above measures could be implemented to
reduce the development’s impact on climate change. To this regard, the Local Planning
Authority does not object to the proposal on these grounds.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)

6.66

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.

6.67

It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Replacement Dwelling:
Use Description

Proposed

Existing

257m2

District Wide Zone 1

Net Gain

525m2

-268m2
-268m2

Total Gain
Total Demolition

525m2

Equestrian Centre:
Use Description

Proposed

Existing

2,562m2

District Wide Zone 1

0m2
Total Gain

Page 41

Net Gain
2,562m2
2,562m2

Total Demolition

6.68

0m2

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
Conclusion

6.69

The proposed replacement dwelling would be acceptable in principle, comprising a suitably
designed dwelling proportionate in size to the dwelling it will replace, resulting in no adverse
impact to neighbouring amenity over and above the existing arrangement.

6.70

The principle of the use of the site as a private equestrian facility for the breeding and training
of competition dressage horses, with a small ancillary training element, is considered
acceptable and in accordance with rural economic development policies. It is acknowledged
that the proposed indoor arena is a large building of commercial scale however its impact on
the surrounding landscape would be very limited given its low position within a site and strong
boundary screening. The proposed landscape enhancements and mitigations would further
offset any perceived landscape harm.

6.71

Given the nature of the proposed use, the impact on the narrow access along Stall House
Lane would be limited as the traffic generation from the site would be small. The proposed
has demonstrated that the site can be safely access from the highway and includes suitable
parking provision. The development is not considered to adversely impact on the amenities
of the neighbours whilst ecology, drainage and light impacts can be suitably mitigated.

6.72

With the above in mind, Officers consider that the scale and nature of the proposed use is
acceptable in this instance, and recommend that the application be approved subject to the
conditions recommended below.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve planning permission, subject to the following conditions:

Conditions:
1

Standard Plans Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

2

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, including any demolition works, shall
take place until unless the local planning authority has been provided with either:
a) a licence for bats and great crested newts issued by Natural England pursuant to
Regulation 55 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended) authorizing the specified activity/development to go ahead; or
b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does not
consider that the specified activity/development will require a licence for bats and
great crested newts; and

Page 42

c) confirmation of the site registration and a method statement supplied by an
individual registered to use a Bat Mitigation Class Licence for Bats (relating to the
demolition of the existing dwelling).
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the Local Planning Authority
to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006
and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.
4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place (including any
demolition, ground works, site clearance) until a further badger survey and updated
mitigation statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. This further survey shall be undertaken to identify whether any Badger activity has
changed since the previous surveys were undertaken and whether further mitigation and/or
works are required for badgers during the construction phase. The works shall be carried out
strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner
thereafter.
Reason: To conserve Protected species and allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge
its duties under the Badger Protection Act 1992 and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: With the exception of the demolition and removal of
existing buildings and any concrete hardstanding no development shall commence until the
following components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination,
(including asbestos contamination), of the site be submitted to and approved, in writing, by
the local planning authority:
(a)
A pre-demolition preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
The following aspects (b) – (c) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above preliminary
risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(b)
An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for
a detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any
contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
(c)
Full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be
undertaken based on the results of the intrusive site investigation (b) and a
verification plan providing details of what data will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the remedial works are complete.
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. Any changes to these components require
the consent of the local planning authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until precise details of
the existing and proposed finished floor levels and external ground levels of the development
in relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall be completed in
accordance with the approved details.

Page 43

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests
of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
7

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage strategy
detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any works of
demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved Plan shall be implemented
and adhered to throughout the entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as
appropriate but not necessarily be restricted to the following matters,
 the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during construction,
 the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
 the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
 the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the
impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of temporary
Traffic Regulation Orders), details of public engagement both prior to and during
construction works,
 safeguarding measures to ensure that the works do not pose danger to users of the
adjacent Public Footpaths / Bridleways.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area, and in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows and roofs of the
approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in
writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall
conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

10

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: Prior to the development commencing above
slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).

Page 44

The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the Local Planning
Authority to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
11

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the occupation or first use of the development hereby
permitted, a detailed lighting plan illustrating the proposed siting of each external light to be
installed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All
external lighting shall be installed in accordance with approved locations detailed on the plan
to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the specifications set
out in the Lighting Technical Report submitted to the Council on 24.11.2020 (prepared by
Designs for Lighting)
The external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved plan and the
submitted Lighting Technical Report unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act
1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species), and to protect
neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policy 33(2) of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

12

Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or
brought into use until there has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification
that the remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of condition 5(c)
has been implemented fully in accordance with the approved details (unless varied with the
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority in advance of implementation). Thereafter
the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with the scheme approved
under condition 5(c), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or
brought into use until a scheme for the disposal of horse waste has been submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing the
scheme shall include the following:
 Methods and frequency of stable cleaning, storage, collection and disposal methods.
 Detail of the location of storage of stable waste (muck heaps). These should not be
located any closer than 30m from any neighbouring residential boundaries.
 No burning of waste materials on site, including stable waste.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

14

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the proposed replacement
dwelling, the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through
full fibre broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policies 10 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 45

15

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include plans and measures addressing the following:
 Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
 Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
 Details of all hard-surfacing materials and finishes
 Details of all boundary treatments (including those to the proposed outdoor arena)
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or
hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped
without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after
completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years,
dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual amenity
in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until the
vehicle parking and turning spaces have been constructed in accordance with the approved
plan. These spaces shall thereafter be retained for their designated use.
Reason: To provide adequate on-site car parking and turning space for the development,
and in accordance with Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015)

17

Post-Occupation Condition: Upon the occupation of the replacement dwelling hereby
permitted, the existing dwelling indicated on plan H/19/01 shall cease to be used for any
purpose whatsoever and within a period of one month thereafter the existing dwelling shall
be demolished (including the removal of foundations), all materials arising from such
demolition removed from the site and the site of the demolished building restored in
accordance with details of landscaping to be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The retention of existing buildings together with the new buildings would result in
the proliferation of buildings on the site, detracting from the character of the area which would
be contrary to Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

18

Regulatory Condition: Other than for a maximum of 5 training sessions (defined as one
trainee per session) per week, the stables, sand school and indoor arena hereby permitted
shall operate as a private equestrian facility only and shall not be used for commercial
purposes or in connection with any form of riding or livery establishment.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and highway impact, to enable the Local Planning
Authority to regulate and control the development and in accordance with Policies 33 and 40
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

19

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement
of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person
per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.

Page 46

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the sustainability
of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
20

Regulatory Condition: No works relating to the construction of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

21

Regulatory Condition: No deliveries of construction materials or plant and machinery and
no removal of any spoil from the site, shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours
Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on
Sundays, Bank or public Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

22

Regulatory Condition: There should be no importation of soil and other fill materials onto
the development site unless the soil/fill has been certified as fit for purpose by a competent
person and has been subject to analysis by an accredited laboratory to ensure that it is free
from contamination.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

23

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no burning of materials or waste on site, including
stable/horse waste.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

24

Regulatory Condition: All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Impact Assessment
(Lizard Landscape Design and Ecology, July 2020) as already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological
clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The
appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the Local
Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40
of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

25

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no exterior lighting/floodlighting unless prior written
approval from the Local Planning Authority has been granted by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 47

26

Regulatory Condition: No plant or machinery that generates, or is likely to generate, noise
audible beyond the site boundary to be installed without prior written approval from the Local
Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

27

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no use of a PA system or the playing amplified of
music at any times unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

INFORMATIVES
Conditions to be Discharged
Please be advised that there are conditions on this notice that will require the submission of details
to be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority. To approve these details, you will need
to submit an "Application for approval of details reserved by condition" with an application form and
pay the appropriate fee.
Guidance and the forms can be found at
www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/paperforms
Ordinary Watercourse Consent
Under the Land Drainage Act 1991, any works (permanent or temporary) that have the potential to
affect the existing watercourse or ditch’s ability to convey water will require Ordinary Watercourse
Consent. Ordinary watercourses include streams, drains, ditches and passages through which water
flows that do not form the network of main rivers.
Importation of Soils
No soils shall be imported within the development site unless the developer has submitted details
of the chemical testing and assessment of the soils which demonstrates the suitability of the soils
for the proposed use. If soils are to be imported, the assessment shall be undertaken by a suitably
qualified and competent person and full details shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority.

Background Papers: DC/20/1519

Page 48

PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

16 February 2021

SITE:

Demolition of dwelling and erection of a two storey detached 4 bedroom
dwelling with detached double garage. Erection of an equestrian arena and
outdoor riding arena together with associated parking. Retention of existing
stables and new equestrian facilities
Hobbits Stall House Lane North Heath Pulborough West Sussex RH20
2HR

WARD:

Pulborough, Coldwaltham and Amberley

APPLICATION:

DC/20/1519

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs M Skillman Address: C/O Agent

DEVELOPMENT:

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: At the request of the Director of Place.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve the application, subject to the revised planning conditions.

1.

ASSESSMENT

1.1

This application was presented at Planning Committee South, 15th December 2020, where
members resolved that the application be determined by the Head of Development with a
view to approval, subject to the amendment of conditions in consultation with Local
Members. Following the committee meeting officers were made aware of having
mistakenly misquoted Paragraph 109 of the NPPF when responding to member questions.

1.2

Whilst it is not clear how much weight Members would have attributed to the officers
comment in their decision making, to avoid any perception of misdirection and in the
interest of accuracy and transparency, following advice from the Council’s Legal
Department, Officers are returning this application for re-determination advising members
of the correct wording of Paragraph 109. In addition, Officers have revised and updated the
relevant conditions referred to in the previous resolution, and these are discussed below.
Highway Matters

1.3

At the planning committee meeting, dated 15th December 2020, Officers mistakenly
misquoted Paragraph 109 of the NPPF following comments raised by Councillors, stating:
“the test in the NPPF is there must be a severe impact on Highway Safety
in order to refuse an application”

Contact Officer: Robert Hermitage

Page 49

Tel: 01403 215382

1.4

The correct phrasing used within the NPPF 109 is:
‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’

1.5

The officer recommendation made in the report presented to the Committee at the 15
December meeting was reached on the basis of the precise wording of Paragraph 109 as
quoted above, and the Officer recommendation therefore remains as before. The previous
report remains part of the officers assessment and is appended to this report. For the
avoidance of doubt WSCC have also stated that the full correct wording of Paragraph 109
was considered in their assessment of the proposal, alongside other material issues, which
incorporated the relevant available data at that time. WSCC concluded that the proposal
would not have an ‘unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative
impacts on the operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National
Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist
the proposal’.

1.6

As such, Officers remain of the advice that the proposal does not warrant refusal on highways
grounds as there is no unacceptable impact on highway safety, and the residual cumulative
impacts on the road network would not be severe, in compliance with Paragraph 109 of the
NPPF.
Conditions

1.7

At the 15 December Committee, members voted to support a motion to delegate approval to
the Head of Development subject the addition and revision of the suggested schedule of
conditions in consultation with the local members. These related to:
 The addition of a condition to secure the sustainability measures as per paragraph
6.64 of the Officer’s report;
 The addition of a condition controlling the movement and routing of delivery and other
large vehicles to and from the site, and;
 Strengthening the wording of condition 18 to better clarify the agreed use of the site.

1.8

With regards to a condition to secure the sustainability measures referenced at paragraph
6.64, members should note that current local planning policy does not require that all
measures suggested by an applicant be secured. In this case Policy 35 (Climate Change)
requires that flood storage and green infrastructure, water conservation, and layout/design
matters should be secured to mitigate the impact of climate change, whilst Policy 37 sets out
a series of further measures to improve the overall sustainability of development where
appropriate. These are reflected in conditions 3, 4, 10 and 24 (ecology mitigation and
enhancement), 7 (drainage strategy), 15 (landscaping), and 19 (water consumption). An
additional condition is now recommended to secure details of the proposed electrical vehicle
charging spaces, in accordance with the latest WSCC guidance on parking space provision.

1.9

Paragraph 55 of the NPPF requires that planning conditions must be necessary, relevant to
planning and the development to be permitted, enforceable, precise and reasonable in all
other respects. Having regard to the nature of the development, officers advise that the
conditions listed are appropriate to meet these tests in compliance with Policies 35, 36 and
37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework.

1.10

With regards to deliveries and movements to and from the site, Officers have considered
members’ comments relating to the monitoring of delivery and larger vehicles. Unfortunately,
a condition restricting how vehicles use the public highway to reach a development does not
meet the tests of being reasonable or enforceable, particularly as this sits outside of the
application site boundaries. The applicant has though provided further details of vehicular
traffic relating to deliveries and movements of larger vehicles, stating that feedstuff deliveries

Page 50

will be made no more than once a week on a light commercial vehicle, and horse box
movements will be limited via a similar sized vehicle. In the event that larger horse
transporters are needed, these vehicles are equipped with adjustable lowering suspension,
meaning there is no need to avoid the route from the A29 under the bridge. Officers are
satisfied that these movements corroborate with the submitted Transport Statement, and
does not raise doubt with regards to safe use and operation of the highway network as above,
in accordance with Paragraph 109 of the NPPF.
1.11

At the December committee meeting, members also questioned whether Condition 18
(formerly numbered) fully limited the proposed use of the site as a private equestrian facility,
and requested that this condition be revised in consultation with local members. In response
to this, the applicant has reiterated the low intensity use of the site, stating that activity on
the site would be limited to the applicant (who lives next to the site at Heathcote) and the
head groom who will live on site. The daily operations of the site would be supported by 2 to
3 additional grooms depending on days including the taught lessons (the only ‘commercial’
aspect of the development), resulting in limited daily movements to and from the site. The
applicants have confirmed that horses will be bred on the site for the purposes of competition
and those that are not of suitable quality would be sold on along with older horses, and that
the purpose of the breeding is to breed talented horses rather than for business purposes.

1.12

Officers are satisfied that the activities detailed above accurately demonstrates that the
operation of the site would remain within a private use, with the exception of the limited
number of taught lessons comprising a small commercial element of minimal impact in terms
of traffic movements and activity at the site. These movements to and from the site are
accounted for with this use, as per the submitted Transport Statement. It is accepted that
horses bred on site but not suited to competition would be sold, however this is not
anticipated to be a regular or significant use of the site that would generate regular or high
levels of traffic at the site. It should be noted that such sales could take place at any private
equestrian facility, and a low level of ad hoc sales would not create a commercial activity.
The applicant has further stated that there is no intention to operate DIY livery.

1.13

After careful consideration, and in consultation with the Planning Compliance Team Leader,
Officers are satisfied that the scheduled activities secure the private use of the site and can
be appropriately enforced to ensure that the use of the site remains private. Condition 18
(now condition 19 below) has been revised to be clear that the site is for private equestrian
use by the occupiers of Heathcote (the applicants) and/or the onsite groom only, and that
records of the training session times and attendees are to be kept at all times ready for
inspection if needed.
Conclusion

1.14

The recommendation to approve planning permission remains as previous reflecting the full
wording of Paragraph 109 of the NPPF. Members are advised to consider whether the
application of the full wording of Paragraph 109 would have altered the decision previously
reached, and whether the revised conditions referenced above acceptable to manage the
use, transport movements and sustainability credentials of the development.

2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1

To approve planning permission, subject to the following revised schedule of conditions:
Conditions:

1

Standard Plans Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the approved plans.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning.

Page 51

2

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, including any demolition works, shall
take place until unless the local planning authority has been provided with either:
a) a licence for bats and great crested newts issued by Natural England pursuant to
Regulation 55 of The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended) authorizing the specified activity/development to go ahead; or
b) a statement in writing from the relevant licensing body to the effect that it does not
consider that the specified activity/development will require a licence for bats and great
crested newts; and
c) confirmation of the site registration and a method statement supplied by an individual
registered to use a Bat Mitigation Class Licence for Bats (relating to the demolition of the
existing dwelling).
Reason: To conserve protected and Priority species and allow the Local Planning Authority
to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006
and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.

4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place (including any
demolition, ground works, site clearance) until a further badger survey and updated
mitigation statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. This further survey shall be undertaken to identify whether any Badger activity has
changed since the previous surveys were undertaken and whether further mitigation and/or
works are required for badgers during the construction phase. The works shall be carried out
strictly in accordance with the approved details and shall be retained in that manner
thereafter.
Reason: To conserve Protected species and allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge
its duties under the Badger Protection Act 1992 and s17 Crime & Disorder Act 1998.

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: With the exception of the demolition and removal of
existing buildings and any concrete hardstanding no development shall commence until the
following components of a scheme to deal with the risks associated with contamination,
(including asbestos contamination), of the site be submitted to and approved, in writing, by
the local planning authority:
(a) A pre-demolition preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
The following aspects (b) – (c) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above preliminary
risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(b)
An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (a) to provide information for a
detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any
contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
(c)
Full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken
based on the results of the intrusive site investigation (b) and a verification plan
providing details of what data will be collected in order to demonstrate that the
remedial works are complete.

Page 52

The scheme shall be implemented as approved. Any changes to these components require
the consent of the local planning authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until precise details of
the existing and proposed finished floor levels and external ground levels of the development
in relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall be completed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests
of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage strategy
detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any works of
demolition, until a Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the approved Plan shall be implemented
and adhered to throughout the entire construction period. The Plan shall provide details as
appropriate but not necessarily be restricted to the following matters,
 the anticipated number, frequency and types of vehicles used during construction,
 the method of access and routing of vehicles during construction,
 the parking of vehicles by site operatives and visitors,
 the loading and unloading of plant, materials and waste,
 the storage of plant and materials used in construction of the development,
 the erection and maintenance of security hoarding,
 the provision of wheel washing facilities and other works required to mitigate the
impact of construction upon the public highway (including the provision of temporary
Traffic Regulation Orders), details of public engagement both prior to and during
construction works,
 safeguarding measures to ensure that the works do not pose danger to users of the
adjacent Public Footpaths / Bridleways.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of the area, and in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of
materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows and roofs of the
approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in
writing and all materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall
conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of

Page 53

visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).
10

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: Prior to the development commencing above
slab level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority species shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
The content of the Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the Local Planning
Authority to discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the occupation or first use of the development hereby
permitted, a detailed lighting plan illustrating the proposed siting of each external light to be
installed shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All
external lighting shall be installed in accordance with approved locations detailed on the plan
to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the specifications set
out in the Lighting Technical Report submitted to the Council on 24.11.2020 (prepared by
Designs for Lighting)
The external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the approved plan and the
submitted Lighting Technical Report unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To allow the Local Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation
of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act
1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species), and to protect
neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policy 33(2) of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

12

Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or
brought into use until there has been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification
that the remediation scheme required and approved under the provisions of condition 5(c)
has been implemented fully in accordance with the approved details (unless varied with the
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority in advance of implementation). Thereafter
the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with the scheme approved
under condition 5(c), unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development
works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or
brought into use until a scheme for the disposal of horse waste has been submitted and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing the
scheme shall include the following:
 Methods and frequency of stable cleaning, storage, collection and disposal methods.

Page 54




Detail of the location of storage of stable waste (muck heaps). These should not be
located any closer than 30m from any neighbouring residential boundaries.
No burning of waste materials on site, including stable waste.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
14

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the proposed replacement
dwelling, the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through
full fibre broadband connection shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policies 10 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

15

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include plans and measures addressing the following:
 Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
 Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
 Details of all hard-surfacing materials and finishes
 Details of all boundary treatments (including those to the proposed outdoor arena)
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or
hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped
without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after
completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years,
dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next
planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual amenity
in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

16

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until the
vehicle parking and turning spaces have been constructed in accordance with the approved
plan. These spaces shall thereafter be retained for their designated use.
Reason: To provide adequate on-site car parking and turning space for the development,
and in accordance with Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015)

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until electric
vehicle charging spaces have been provided in accordance with plans and details to be
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The electric vehicle charging
spaces shall thereafter be maintained and remain fully operational unless otherwise agreed
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To provide sustainable travel options in accordance with Policies 35 and 41 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 55

18

Post-Occupation Condition: Upon the occupation of the replacement dwelling hereby
permitted, the existing dwelling indicated on plan H/19/01 shall cease to be used for any
purpose whatsoever and within a period of one month thereafter the existing dwelling shall
be demolished (including the removal of foundations), all materials arising from such
demolition removed from the site and the site of the demolished building restored in
accordance with details of landscaping to be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.
Reason: The retention of existing buildings together with the new buildings would result in
the proliferation of buildings on the site, detracting from the character of the area which would
be contrary to Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

19

Regulatory Condition: Other than for a maximum of 5 training sessions (defined as one
trainee per session) per week, the stables, sand school, indoor arena and associated outside
areas hereby permitted shall operate as a private equestrian facility for the benefit of the
occupiers of Heathcote and/or the onsite grooms accommodation and shall not be used for
any other commercial purposes (including for the holding of any public events or auctions)
or in connection with any form of riding or livery establishment. The owners shall keep a
record of all training sessions, dates and attendees at all times for inspection by the Local
Planning Authority on request.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and highway impact, to enable the Local Planning
Authority to regulate and control the development and in accordance with Policies 33 and 40
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

20

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional requirement
of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres per person
per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be retained.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to limit water use in order to improve the sustainability
of the development in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

21

Regulatory Condition: No works relating to the construction of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

22

Regulatory Condition: No deliveries of construction materials or plant and machinery and
no removal of any spoil from the site, shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours
Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on
Sundays, Bank or public Holidays, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

23

Regulatory Condition: There should be no importation of soil and other fill materials onto
the development site unless the soil/fill has been certified as fit for purpose by a competent
person and has been subject to analysis by an accredited laboratory to ensure that it is free
from contamination.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 56

24

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no burning of materials or waste on site, including
stable/horse waste.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

25

Regulatory Condition: All mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be
carried out in accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Impact Assessment
(Lizard Landscape Design and Ecology, July 2020) as already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological
clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The
appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: To conserve and enhance Protected and Priority species and allow the Local
Planning Authority to discharge its duties under the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017 (as amended), the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40
of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

26

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no exterior lighting/floodlighting unless prior written
approval from the Local Planning Authority has been granted by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

27

Regulatory Condition: No plant or machinery that generates, or is likely to generate, noise
audible beyond the site boundary to be installed without prior written approval from the Local
Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

28

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no use of a PA system or the playing amplified of
music at any times unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

INFORMATIVES
Conditions to be Discharged
Please be advised that there are conditions on this notice that will require the submission of
details to be submitted for approval to the Local Planning Authority. To approve these
details, you will need to submit an "Application for approval of details reserved by condition"
with an application form and pay the appropriate fee. Guidance and the forms can be found
at www.planningportal.gov.uk/planning/applications/paperforms
Ordinary Watercourse Consent
Under the Land Drainage Act 1991, any works (permanent or temporary) that have the
potential to affect the existing watercourse or ditch’s ability to convey water will require

Page 57

Ordinary Watercourse Consent. Ordinary watercourses include streams, drains, ditches and
passages through which water flows that do not form the network of main rivers.
Importation of Soils
No soils shall be imported within the development site unless the developer has submitted
details of the chemical testing and assessment of the soils which demonstrates the suitability
of the soils for the proposed use. If soils are to be imported, the assessment shall be
undertaken by a suitably qualified and competent person and full details shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

Background Papers: DC/20/1519

Page 58

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

20th July 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Full application for a proposed two pitch settled gypsy accommodation site
including personal occupancy condition.

SITE:

Whiteoaks Shoreham Road Small Dole Henfield West Sussex BN5 9SD

WARD:

Henfield

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0753

APPLICANT:

Name: Tingey
Address: care of agent Melton Lodge Rusper Road
Newdigate RH5 5BX

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
By request of Henfield Parish Council
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the land to provide
2no. settled gypsy pitches, along with 2no. utility buildings. These buildings provide a
dayroom with bathroom.

1.3

Each pitch includes sufficient space to site a mobile home, along with an area of
hardstanding suitable for the parking of vehicles.

1.4

The development subject of the application has been completed and is currently occupied,
with the application retrospective.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.5

The application site is located to the west of Shoreham Road, outside of any designated
built-up area boundary. The site is therefore located within the countryside in policy terms.

Contact Officer: Tamara Dale

Page 59

Tel: 01403 215166

1.6

The site is set back approximately 130m from the public highway and located to the rear of
linear residential and commercial development fronting the street. A number of former
agricultural buildings are also located immediately to the south and east of the site, with the
wider land ownership including an area of grassland and the residential dwelling of
Whiteoaks.

1.7

The application site is bound by mature vegetation, with a row of mature trees transecting
the site. The wider area is characterised by enclosed agricultural fields to the south and west,
with the linear development along Shoreham Road, which comprises a mix of residential and
commercial properties, located to the north and east. Small Dole is located approximately
620m to the south of the site, and Henfield is located approximately 1.7km to the north.

1.8

The site benefits from an existing vehicular access from Shoreham Road to the east, with
two newly installed bus stops on the northbound and southbound carriageway located
immediately outside of the site.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 21 - Strategic Policy: Gypsy and Traveller Sites Allocations
Policy 22 - Gypsy and Traveller Sites
Policy 23 - Strategic Policy: Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Neighbourhood Plan:
Henfield Neighbourhood Plan 2017-2031 (June 2021)
Policy 1: A Spatial Plan
Policy 4: Transport, Access and Car Parking
Policy 12: Design Standards for New Development

Page 60

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
2.3
DC/17/1375

Full application for a proposed settled gypsy
accommodation site

Application Refused on
25.09.2017

DC/20/0813

Full application for a proposed two pitch settled gypsy
accommodation site including personal occupancy
condition

Application Refused on
21.07.2020

DETAILED PLANNING HISTORY
DC/17/1375
2.4

The application site has an extensive planning history in respect of the development of gypsy
pitches, with an initial application submitted under reference DC/17/1375. This application
was refused for the following reason:
1

The proposed development would lead to an unsustainable location which is remote
from local services and facilities, and with restricted access to sustainable transport
modes. The proposal therefore represents an unsustainable form of development in
the countryside which would be contrary to Policies 1, 2, 4, 23, 26 and 40 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

2.5

Following the refusal of this application, an Enforcement Notice (EN/18/0080) was issued on
22 March 2018, which identified the breach as the erection of two summerhouses, the laying
of hardstanding, the laying of concrete, and the digging of trenches. The Notice required the
permanent removal of the hardstanding, the permanent removal of the concrete, the
permanent removal of the two summerhouses, the removal of the materials and debris
resulting from the above steps, and the restoration of the land to its former condition. The
period for compliance was six months.

2.6

Both the planning refusal and the Enforcement Notice were appealed to the Planning
Inspector. The Inspector concluded in his decision dated 29 November 2018 to dismiss the
planning appeal and uphold the Notice, subject to amendments to the accompanying Plan.

2.7

The Inspector concluded that the proposed development would not result in harm to the
amenities of nearby residential properties and would have an acceptable impact on the
character and appearance of the area. There were considered to be no significant barriers
to development in terms of flooding, poor drainage, or ground stability, and it was considered
that there was sufficient space to accommodate vehicle parking. In terms of vehicular safety,
the inspector concluded that the appeal proposal would be acceptable in highway safety
terms.

2.8

The key issue for the Inspector was the accessibility of the site for non-car users. It was
acknowledged that the site is served by a bus route, with hourly services towards Small Dole
and Henfield, but the nearest bus stops were located some 200m to the south and 400m to
the north. In order to reach the closest larger settlement, those without a car would be obliged
to walk to these bus stops along the main carriageway where there is no pavement and no
street lighting, and with a speed limit of 40mph rising to 60mph. Not only would this place
them at risk, it would not be convenient for the elderly, those with disabilities, or those with
young children. It would also be inconvenient for those carrying heavy shopping, particularly
during inclement weather. Given that some of the primary reasons for going to the higher
order settlement would be to access school facilities and for day-to-day shopping, this would
be a significant inconvenience for those occupiers. It would also place them at risk on a
regular basis.
For those reasons, the inspector concluded that the proposed development would not accord
with criteria (b) and (d) of Policy 23, Policy 40 of the HDPF which, at criterion 9, requires the

2.9

Page 61

provision of provide safe and suitable access for pedestrians, and to Policy 26 of the HDPF,
which requires development to be located in areas where there is a choice of transport
modes.
2.10

The Inspector’s decision was challenged at the High Court on the basis that the Planning
Inspector had not considered a temporary permission. The challenge was successful, and
the appeal decision was quashed. The matter was returned to the Planning Inspector to be
redetermined, with the decision dated 11 September 2019 again dismissing the appeal.

2.11

Following the initial appeal (the first appeal) further information was provided which
confirmed that the caravans placed on the land prior to March 2018 were being occupied by
Sam Tingey and Charlie Tingey and their respective partners and young children. The update
provided indicated that the caravans were intended for continued occupation by the Tingey
family. It was accepted that the Tingey family are gypsies and travellers, with no substantive
reason to come to a different view. The Inspector thereby considered that the Tingey family
satisfy the gypsy and traveller definition set out within Annex 1 of the PPTS.

2.12

The Inspector gave significant weight to the clear unmet need for pitches in the Horsham
District. The Appellant advised that there are no alternative site(s) to which the occupiers
could relocate, and although some third parties had referred to an established Gypsy and
Traveller site within Small Dole, the Inspector had not been provided with any information
relating to pitch availability at that site. The Inspector did not therefore consider that there
was any degree of certainty that pitches would be available at that site that might
accommodate the Tingey family.

2.13

The Inspector concluded that given the significant risk to the occupiers' pedestrian and other
highway users safety, the appeal should not be allowed.

2.14

In considering the grant of a temporary planning permission, the Inspector concluded that
the significant risk to the occupiers’ pedestrian safety would exist over the time the caravans
at the site would be occupied. The fact that a timeframe to occupy the caravans would be
less than that of a permanent planning permission would not diminish the harm to the
occupiers’ safety. Furthermore, the concerns in respect of the site’s location would not be
overcome. As such, the Inspector concluded that a temporary planning permission should
not be granted.

2.15

The Inspector also considered the imposition of a personal permission that would allow the
current occupiers to remain resident at the site. It was advised that the Tingey family children
living at the site either attend a local school or are registered to attend in the future. If the
Tingey family were to remain at the site whilst their children attend local schools this would
be so for the foreseeable 16 years until the youngest child finishes schooling. The family is
also registered at a local medical practice. The Inspector however concluded that these
particular circumstances would not obviate the harm to the family’s safety over the period
that the caravans would be occupied by the family. Therefore, the Inspector considered that
a personal or personal temporary planning permission should not be granted.
DC/20/0813

2.16

Following this appeal decision, a later application was submitted under reference
DC/20/0813. This application was supported by reference to a pending application to West
Sussex County Council which sought to install 2no. bus stops outside of the site (northbound
and southbound respectively).

2.17

While it was acknowledged that there was a pending application to install bus stops, there
was no evidence to demonstrate that these were to be approved and would come forward.
On this basis, the spatial and policy context of the site remained as considered under the

Page 62

previous appeal, with no material considerations to outweigh the previous conflict and harm
identified. This application was therefore refused for the following reason:
1

The proposed development is in an unsustainable location which is remote from local
services and facilities, and with restricted access to safe and sustainable pedestrian
travel options. The proposal is therefore contrary to Policy 23 (parts b and d) and
Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework, and as such the proposal
would not be in accordance with the adopted development plan. In addition, the
proposed development would not comply with the aims of the Planning Policy for
Traveller Sites for new traveller sites to be of suitable accommodation from which
travellers can safely access local services and facilities.

2.18

The current application has been submitted to address this reason for refusal, following the
approval and now installation of the 2no. bus stops.

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.2

HDC Environmental Health: Comment
Conditions required to address the means of treatment and disposal of sewage, the burning
of materials; the importation and storage of vehicles, materials and waste; use for domestic
purposes only; no outbuildings; and external lighting/floodlighting.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES

3.3

WSCC Highways: No Objection
The Applicant proposes to utilise the existing access on Shoreham Road, with no alterations
to the arrangement proposed. An inspection of collision data provided to WSCC by Sussex
Police from a period of the last five years reveals no recorded injury accidents within the
vicinity of the site. Therefore, there is no evidence to suggest the existing access is operating
unsafely or that the proposal would exacerbate an existing safety concern.
Using local mapping, the available visibility in the leading direction (direction of oncoming
traffic) has been assessed. A visibility splay in excess of 120 metres is achievable within
publicly maintained highway, which is in accordance with the stopping sight distance (SSD)
for 40 mph speeds as set out in Design Manual for Roads Bridges (DMRB). Visibility to the
north (trailing direction) is limited by the road layout. Using the neighbouring access, which
is anticipated to be kept clear, and maintainable highway land, approximately 82 metres to
the centre line is achievable. Whilst below the required SSD, were this a new access point,
it must be taken into account that the access has been operating without a highway safety
issue and there is the benefit of sufficient vehicle visibility in the leading direction.
Furthermore, the increased use of the existing access is not anticipated to be ‘severe’
considering the scale of anticipated vehicle movements.
The Site Plan demonstrates a parking area that appears to be an adequate size to allow for
at least four parking spaces; as such, the LHA considers the proposed parking provision to
be sufficient. There also appears to be sufficient space for on-site turning to be achievable,
allowing cars to exit the site onto the publicly maintained highway in a forward gear.
The Applicant should be aware that residents should not be expected to carry waste more
than 30m to a refuse storage point, although this is an amenity issue. Furthermore, a fire
appliance should be able to get within 45 m of a building from the highway in order to serve

Page 63

it. Therefore, the applicant may have to demonstrate that a fire engine can access and turn
on-site. The Applicant has not demonstrated cycle parking. If the LPA believe that cycle
parking is justifiable for this application, the applicant should demonstrate this in the form of
secure and covered cycle storage.
The site is located in an area that lacks immediate services and amenities. However, recently
implemented bus stops provide services towards Burgess Hill and Pulborough. Cycling is a
viable option for experienced cyclists.
The Local Highways Authority does not consider that this proposal would have an
unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the
operation of the highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy
Framework (paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
3.4

Southern Water: No Objection
There are no public foul sewers in the area to serve this development. The applicant is
advised to examine alternative means of foul disposal.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.5

Henfield Parish Council: Objection as the development is contrary to Policies 2, 4, 23, 25,
26, 33, 38 and 40 of the HDPF.

3.6

15 letters of objection were received from 10 separate households, and these can be
summarised as follows:
-

Shoreham Road is a dangerous highway
Unlikely that the bus stop would be used
Increased traffic and likelihood of accidents
No need for additional gypsy accommodation
Precedent of new dwellings to the rear of existing development
Noise and light pollution
Commercial activity on the site
Insufficient infrastructure to support the development
No safe pedestrian access
Bus stops located in a dangerous position
Available gypsy accommodation elsewhere
Not allocated for development
Impact on neighbouring amenity and privacy
Overdevelopment
Urbanising effect
No mains drainage
Located near contaminated land
Unacceptable impact on natural habitat
Landscape character impact

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

Page 64

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The application seeks full planning permission for the change of use of the land to provide
2no. settled gypsy pitches, along with 2no. utility buildings. These buildings provide a
dayroom with bathroom.
Principle of Development:

6.1

Policy 21 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) indicates that provision shall
be made for 39 permanent pitches to 2017, with further provision made from 2017 to 2031
through a Site Allocations Development Plan Document (DPD). It is acknowledged that a
number of other sites allocated through Policy 21 of the HDPF have yet to come forward,
and the Council is therefore currently unable to demonstrate an up-to-date 5 year supply of
deliverable sites.

6.2

The Council began preparation of a revised Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople
Draft Site Allocations Development Plan Document– Preferred Strategy in 2017. This set a
pitch requirement for 60 gypsy pitches over a ten year period (up to 2027), and a 15 year
requirement for 78 pitches. The 10 year requirement, which is essential, includes a backlog
of 40 gypsy pitches, a need for 1 pitch in years 1-5 (2017-2022) and a requirement for a
further 19 pitches between 2022-2027. This document initially identified a supply of 68 gypsy
pitches to meet the 10 year requirement need for 60 pitches. However, following the drafting
of this DPD, the site at Bromeliad Nursery, Billingshurst was withdrawn, which meant the
removal of 15 pitches from the 68 pitches identified. On this basis a supply of 60 pitches over
the 10 year plan period (up to 2027) could not be demonstrated, and the document did not
proceed to formal submission or adoption.

6.3

Most recently, the Council has progressed work on an updated Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Needs Assessment in order to understand the latest position, and to
develop an appropriate Gypsy and Traveller Policy as part of the Local Plan Review.
Consultants were appointed in March 2019 to research the number of pitches currently in
use in the District, as well as to identify what the current need for Gypsies and Travellers in
the District is likely to be over the next 17 years. In January 2020, the ‘Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) – Final Report’ was published. This Report was part
of the background evidence base that accompanies the Local Plan Review (Regulation 18)
Consultation which ran from February to March 2020. The GTAA Report provides an
evidence base for the provision new Gypsy and Traveller pitches and Travelling Showpeople
plots for the period 2019 to 2036. The GTAA identifies that there is a need for 93 pitches for
Gypsy and Traveller households over the plan period (2019-2036). Neither the GTAA nor
the Regulation 19 Local Plan Consultation document considers sites for potential allocation.

6.4

In August 2015, the Government published its Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) to
be read alongside the NPPF. Paragraph 22 of the PPTS confirms that applications for
planning permission be determined in accordance with the provisions of the Development
Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Paragraph 23 of the PPTTS
continues to confirm that applications involving traveller sites must be assessed in
accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, and the application
of specific policies contained within the PPTS and NPPF relating to traveller sites. Paragraph
24 of the PPTS provides that Local Planning Authority’s must consider the following issues,
amongst other relevant matters, in the determination of applications for traveller sites:-

Page 65

a) The existing level of local provision and need for sites;
b) The availability (or lack) of alternative accommodation for the applicants;
c) Other personal circumstances of the applicant;
d) That the locally specific criteria used to guide the application of sites in plans or which
form the policy where there is no identified need for pitches/plots should be used to
assess applications that may come forward on unallocated sites;
e) That they should determine applications for sites from any travellers and not just those
with local connections.
6.5

Paragraph 27 of the PPTS states that if a Local Planning Authority cannot demonstrate an
up-to-date 5 year supply of deliverable sites, this should be a significant material
consideration in any subsequent determination when considering applications for the grant
of temporary planning permission. An exception, however, exists for defined protected
landscapes, Sites of Special Scientific Interest or protected under the Birds and Habitats
Directive.

6.6

In the absence of an adopted DPD, Horsham District Council is unable to demonstrate a 5
year supply of Gypsy and Traveller pitches. In accordance with Paragraph 27 of the PPTS,
the absence of such a supply is a significant material consideration, and this weighs in favour
of granting planning permission for the proposed development, subject to compliance with
other relevant planning policies.

6.7

Policy C of the PPTS relates to sites in rural areas and the countryside, with paragraph 14
stating that “when assessing the suitability of sites in rural or semi-rural settings, local
planning authorities should ensure that the scale of such sites does not dominate the nearest
settled community”. Paragraph 25 of the PPTS continues that local planning authorities
“should very strictly limit new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from
existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan. Local planning
authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not dominate,
the nearest settled community, and avoid placing an undue pressure on the local
infrastructure”.

6.8

Policy 26 of the HDPF states that outside built-up area boundaries, the rural character and
undeveloped nature of the countryside will be protected against inappropriate development.
Any proposal must be essential to its countryside location, and in addition meet one of the
following criteria: support the needs of agriculture or forestry; enable the extraction of
minerals or the disposal of waste; provide for quiet informal recreational use; or enable the
sustainable development or rural areas. In addition, proposals must be of a scale appropriate
to its countryside character and location. Development will be considered acceptable where
it does not lead, either individually or cumulatively, to a significant increase in the overall
level of activity in the countryside, and protects, and/or conserves, and/or enhances, the key
features and characteristics of the landscape character area in which it is located.

6.9

Policy 1 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals
located outside of the built-up area will be supported where they conform, as appropriate to
their location in the neighbourhood area, to national and HDPF policies in respect of
development in the countryside.

6.10

The principle of development on the site has been considered by two previous planning
applications and appeals, and this planning history is a key material consideration in the
determination of the application. The development subject of the current application is the
same as that previously considered under planning references DC/17/1375 and DC/20/0813,
with 2no. pitches and 2no. day rooms are proposed.

Page 66

6.11

The first application under planning reference DC/17/1375 was refused by the Council and
subsequently dismissed at appeal. The appeal decision was however quashed by the High
Court in February 2019 as the Inspector had not considered whether a temporary planning
permission would overcome the harm identified. The High Court ordered that the appeal be
re-determined by a different Planning Inspector, and the appeal was subsequently redetermined on 11 September 2019, where the appeal was again dismissed. While the first
appeal decision has been quashed, the second appeal decision remains of significant
weight. The Inspector accepted at the second appeal that the development would contribute
to the pitch supply in the District and would subsequently contribute toward the identified
need. It was also accepted that the proposal would be situated to the west of, and behind,
existing ribbon road frontage development. As such, the site was not considered to be
spatially isolated or remote from existing built development. For these reasons, the
countryside location of the site was not considered to weigh significantly against the
proposal. The Inspector thereby concluded that the development would not conflict with
Policy 26 of the HDPF. It was however considered that there was conflict with the
Development Plan in relation to pedestrian safety and the occupiers’ reliance on private
vehicles to access services and facilities. The development was not considered to comply
with Policies 23 and 40 of the HDPF, and as such would not be in compliance with the
Development Plan.

6.12

Furthermore, the development would not comply with the aims of the PPTS which seeks to
provide suitable accommodation to allow safe access to services by foot and public transport.
In addition, it was considered that the proposal would also result in risk to other highway
users, with the site location unsuitable in relation to facilities and services. Occupiers who do
not have access to private vehicles would be required to place themselves at a significant
highway risk on a regular basis in order to access public transport and the settlement of
Henfield, and this harm would override the contribution made by the proposed development
to the unmet need for pitches that would justify a departure from the Development Plan.

6.13

It was recognised that the dismissal of the appeal would be an interference of the Applicant’s
human rights, but because of the harm identified, it was considered proportionate and
necessary in the public interest. Specifically, due to the harm to the occupier’s pedestrian
safety, the site was not considered a safe place to live, and this carried significant weight
against the proposal. The site was not therefore considered suitable for the use, and the
pedestrian safety and limitations to access services and facilities outweighed the rights of
the site owner and occupiers.

6.14

The subsequent planning application under reference DC/20/0813 was refused for the same
reasons. During the consideration of this application, it was understood that West Sussex
County Council as the Local Highways Authority were currently (and separately) considering
the acceptability of a proposal to install 2no. bus stops (to the northbound and southbound
carriageways respectively) outside of the entrance to the application site. As the outcome of
the highway proposal was unknown, the determination of the application proceeded on the
basis of the existing context. It was determined that the application did not differ significantly
from the development proposed under DC/17/1375, with no material considerations that
would outweigh the harm identified to pedestrian and highway users.

6.15

Since this refusal, the proposal to install 2no. bus stops outside of the site has been approved
by the Local Highways Authority, and the works completed. As such, the context of the
application site has changed, with access to public transport now offered immediately outside
of the site entrance. Occupiers of the site would therefore benefit from direct access to public
transport in both a northbound and southbound direction, and this would provide access to
the centre of Small Dole to the south and the larger settlement of Henfield to the north. This
is a material consideration of significant weight in the appraisal of the current proposal, with
the presence of these bus stops seeking to address the concerns of the Planning Inspector.

Page 67

6.16

Policy 23 of the HDPF states that sites for Gypsy and Traveller accommodation should be
served by a safe and convenient vehicular and pedestrian access, and the proposal should
not result in a significant hazard to other road users. Policy 40 of the HDPF continues that
development will be supported if it is integrated with the wider network of routes; includes
opportunities for sustainable transport; is located where there are, or will be, a choice in the
modes of transport available; and minimises the distance people need to travel and
minimises conflicts between traffic, cyclists and pedestrians.

6.17

Policy 4 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that as appropriate to their scale,
nature and location, development proposals should demonstrate that safe pedestrian routes
from residential site to community facilities can be achieved; and demonstrate that cycle
ways can be achieved.

6.18

While the application site remains distanced from the village centre of Small Dole and the
larger settlement of Henfield, with both inaccessible by foot, the installed bus stops, located
immediately outside of the site, provide regular bus links through the 100 and 106 Compass
bus lines to both villages. The 100 bus line operates every hour between 7am and 7pm and
services, Henfield, Steyning, Storrington, Pulborough, Billingshurst, Slinfold, and Horsham.
The 106 bus line operates on Tuesdays, Wednesdays and Fridays, but only on one circular
trip per day, providing a connection to Henfield, Upper Beeding, Steyning, Lancing and
Worthing. The presence of these bus stops directly outside the site provides an alternative
means of transport, particularly for future occupiers who may not benefit from car ownership;
and their presence has removed the need for occupiers to unsafely traverse the public
highway. The accessibility to these bus stops has thereby mitigated the risk and harm arising
to pedestrians, as previously identified.

6.19

There has therefore been a material change in the context of the site compared to the
previous two refused applications, with the application site now benefitting from direct access
to the nearby settlements of Small Dole and Henfield by public transport located directly
outside the site. Given the findings of the previous inspectors in relation to accessibility and
all other matters, the previous concerns and reason for refusal have therefore been
addressed.

6.20

It is recognised that there is a lack of deliverable sites for gypsies and travellers, and there
remains an identified need for such accommodation within the District. These matters are of
significant weight in the consideration of the application, and weigh in favour of granting
planning permission. The application site now benefits from direct access to public transport,
with the need to traverse the public highway now removed. Future occupiers would thereby
benefit from direct bus links to the nearby settlements, and the previous refusal reason has
therefore been addressed. This is a material consideration of significant weight in the
appraisal of the current application. On the basis of these matters, the proposed development
is considered acceptable in principle, subject to all other considerations as discussed below.
Sustainable Development

6.21

Policy 23 of the HDPF outlines the criteria that must be considered when determining
planning applications for non-allocated sites. These provisions include that the site is located
in or near to existing settlements, within reasonable distance of a range of local services and
community facilities, in particular schools and essential health services.

6.22

Paragraph 13 of the PPTS states that Local Planning Authorities should ensure that traveller
sites are sustainable economically, socially and environmentally. Paragraph 25 continues
that Local Planning Authorities should very strictly limit new Traveller site development in
open countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the
Development Plan. Local planning authorities should ensure that sites in rural areas respect
the scale of, and do not dominate, the nearest settled community, and avoid placing an
undue pressure on the local infrastructure.

Page 68

6.23

The site lies approximately 620m north of the settlement of Small Dole where there are some
limited services, and approximately 1.7km from the outer edge of Henfield to the north, where
more services would be available. As a result of this location it is acknowledged that most
journeys would most likely be by car and there is no pedestrian access to either north or
south from the site.

6.24

The Inspector considered at the second appeal that Small Dole benefitted from limited
services and facilities, with the high likelihood that occupiers would be reliant on the private
vehicle to access the services and facilities as Henfield. For occupiers that did not have
access to a vehicle, the Inspector considered that it would be unrealistic to anticipate that
occupiers would walk to services and facilities, particularly given the limitations of the
highway to provide safe pedestrian access. Furthermore, it was acknowledged that the
distance from the nearby bus stops would also mean that occupiers would need to walk along
the busy and heavily trafficked carriageway of Shoreham Road. This would be an extremely
hazardous and unattractive prospect and would discourage occupiers from utilising public
transport. It was thereby considered that this would increase the reliance on private vehicles
to access services and facilities at larger settlements, and the proposed development was
considered to conflict with criteria (b) and (d) of Policy 21 of the HDPF.

6.25

Since the determination of the second appeal, 2no. bus stops have been installed to the
frontage of the site, serving both a northbound and southbound direction. These provide an
alternative means of public transport, and are considered to be a material consideration of
significant weight. The application site is not considered to be particularly isolated given the
level of activities taking place in the locality, either of a residential or commercial nature, with
the site benefitting from existing and direct vehicular access and bus service onto Shoreham
Road, which would provide direct vehicular access to neighbouring settlements. The location
of the site and nature of the proposed development is therefore considered to comply with
the relevant criteria of the HDPF.
Landscape Character

6.26

The importance given to the continued protection of rural areas remains a key policy criteria
in assessing new gypsy and traveller sites. The PPTS states that Local Planning Authorities
should “very strictly limit new traveller site development in open countryside that is away from
existing settlements or outside areas allocated in the development plan”. Furthermore, it
advises that any sites in rural areas respect the scale of, and do not over-dominate, the
nearest settled community.

6.27

Paragraph 26 of the PPTS advises Local Planning Authorities to attach weigh to the following
matters when considering new gypsy site proposals:-

6.28

a)

effective use of previously developed land (brownfield), untidy or derelict land;

b)

sites being well planned or soft landscaped in such a way as to positively enhance
the environment and increase its openness;

c)

promoting opportunities for healthy lifestyles, such as ensuring adequate landscaping
and play areas for children;

d)

not enclosing a site with so much hard landscaping, high walls or fences, that the
impression may be given that the site and its occupants are deliberately isolated from
the rest of the community.

Policy 23 of the HDPF states that development should not have an unacceptable impact on
the character and appearance of the landscape and should be sensitively designed to
mitigate any impact on its surroundings.

Page 69

6.29

Policy 12 of the Henfield Parish Neighbourhood Plan states that as appropriate to their scale,
nature, and location, development proposals will be supported where their design and
detailing meet the relevant requirements in the Henfield Parish Design Statement. In
addition, development proposals should be of a scale, density, massing, height, landscape
design, layout and materials that are of a high quality and reflect the architectural and historic
character and scale of the surrounding buildings and landscape.

6.30

The application site is located in the Henfield and Small Dole Farmlands (D2) Landscape
Character Area, as identified within the Landscape Character Assessment (2003). The key
characteristics of this Character Area include small to large size regular and irregular fields
with a variable hedgerow pattern, and small springline settlements near the foot of the scarp
and isolated farmsteads and loose knit groups of cottages strung along roads and lanes
elsewhere. Key issues include the continuing loss of hedgerows through field rationalisation
and lack of management, and visually intrusive development/suburbanisation on the A2037
at Small Dole. Overall, the landscape condition is declining and the sensitivity to change is
high. It does however recognise that there are some less widely visible areas around Small
Dole where sensitivity is moderate.

6.31

The impact of the development on the landscape character has been considered under the
previous applications and appeal decisions. The initial application under reference
DC/17/1375 recognised that the site lies within the open countryside and forms a small
section of a larger site within the same ownership. The site is surrounded by trees and dense
vegetation to three sides, There are no public rights of way on or near the site, and the parcel
of land is located behind the ribbon of development that lines the west of Shoreham Road.
A number of light industrial units are also noted within the area, including an adjacent cluster
of storage buildings immediately to the east of the site, a former chicken shed to the south
within the wider site, and a number of barns also within the site to the east. The location of
the site, by virtue of natural screening and existing development, would be well screened
from public view. The proposed change of use and development associated with the
proposed settled gypsy site was therefore considered to be reasonably well sited in terms of
limiting the resulting impact on the wider rural character of the immediate area, including any
long distance views of the site.

6.32

The second appeal recognised at paragraph 12 that the proposal would be situated to the
west of, and behind, existing ribbon road frontage development. As such, the site was not
considered to be spatially isolated or remote from existing built development. For these
reasons, the countryside location of the site was not considered to weigh significantly against
the proposal. The Inspector thereby concluded that the development would not conflict with
Policy 26 of the HDPF. In addition, the Inspector considered that the development would be
acceptable in terms of character and appearance.

6.33

The site context has not changed since these previous applications and appeals, with the
application site still enclosed by trees and read in the context of the surrounding built form,
which comprises both residential and commercial uses. Matters regarding landscape
character are therefore considered acceptable.

6.34

It is noted that concerns have previously been raised regarding the accuracy of the submitted
plans, and specifically how these are unreflective of the development as constructed on-site.
The Applicant has submitted revised drawings which reflect the development as existing and
these previous concerns are therefore considered to have been addressed.
Amenity Impacts:

6.35

Policy 23 of the HDPF states that development will not have an unacceptable impact on the
amenity of neighbouring properties, and is sensitively designed to mitigate any impact on its
surroundings.

Page 70

6.36

Policy 33 of the HDPF continues that development should be designed to avoid unacceptable
harm to the amenity of occupiers/users of nearby property and land, for example through
overlooking or noise, whilst having regard to the sensitivities of surrounding development.

6.37

The impact of the development on the amenity of nearby occupiers and users of land has
been considered under the previous applications and appeal decisions. The initial application
under reference DC/17/1375 recognised that the nearest residential properties of Sunnydene
and the host property of Whiteoaks to the east are located 130m and 80m respectively from
the site. In addition, the property of Oakwood is located 85m to the south-east, and separated
by the vegetated field boundary. It was considered that these distances, along with the
screening and other intervening landscaping features, would mitigate any direct loss of
neighbour amenity arising from the proposed development, and as such, no harm to
neighbouring amenity was envisaged.

6.38

The second appeal considered that the development would not cause significant harm to the
living conditions of adjoining occupiers and would comply with criteria (e) of Policy 23 of the
HDPF.

6.39

The site context has not changed since these previous applications and appeals, with the
application site still enclosed by trees and distanced from the nearby residential properties.
Matters regarding neighbouring amenity are therefore considered acceptable.
Highways Impacts:

6.40

Policy 40 of the HDPF seeks to direct development to areas which are integrated with
sustainable transport networks, encourage sustainable transport choices and ensure that
new development is safe for all modes of transport, including vehicles, cyclists and
pedestrians. In addition, proposals should minimise conflict between traffic, cyclists and
pedestrians. Policy 41 of the HDPF aims to ensure that developments are served by
adequate parking facilities including provision for cycle, motorcycle, low emission vehicles
and the mobility impaired.

6.41

The Applicant proposes to utilise the existing access on Shoreham Road, with no alterations
to the arrangement proposed. A visibility splay in excess of 120 metres is achievable within
publicly maintained highway, with visibility to the north limited by the road layout. Using the
neighbouring access, which is anticipated to be kept clear, and maintainable highway land,
approximately 82 metres to the centre line is achievable.

6.42

Following consultation with WSCC Highways, while the visibility to the north is below that
usually expected, the access has been operating for some time without incident. An
inspection of collision data provided to WSCC by Sussex Police from a period of the last five
years reveals no recorded injury accidents within the vicinity of the site. Therefore, there is
no evidence to suggest the existing access is operating unsafely or that the proposal would
exacerbate an existing safety concern. The 2no. pitches are not considered to result in a
significant increase in the use of the access, and no highway safety concerns are raised.

6.43

There is sufficient space on site for the parking and turning of vehicles, with the site
accessible by public transport to the north and south. The development is therefore
considered to accord with Policies 23, 40, and 41 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
Climate change:

6.44

Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate change
through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk, reducing water
consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport modes. These

Page 71

policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans and decisions
seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.
6.45

Should the development be approved, the following measures to build resilience to climate
change and reduce carbon emissions would be secured by condition:
-

6.46

Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
Requirement to provide full fibre broadband site connectivity
Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
Cycle parking facilities
Electric vehicle charging points

Subject to these conditions the application will suitably reduce the impact of the development
on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.
Conclusions:

6.47

The Council do not have a 5-year land supply for gypsy sites, and at present there remains
an identified undersupply of available sites within the District. It is therefore recognised that
the proposal would go some way to addressing the identified need. This is a material
consideration of significant weight in the balance.

6.48

The principle of development was considered at appeal, where the Inspector accepted at the
second appeal that the development would contribute to the pitch supply in the District and
would subsequently contribute toward the identified need. It was also accepted that the
proposal would be situated to the west of, and behind, existing ribbon road frontage
development. As such, the site was not considered to be spatially isolated or remote from
existing built development. For these reasons, the countryside location of the site was not
considered to weigh significantly against the proposal. The Inspector thereby concluded that
the development would not conflict with Policy 26 of the HDPF. It was however considered
that there was conflict with the Development Plan in relation to pedestrian safety and the
occupiers’ reliance on private vehicles to access services and facilities.

2.49

Since this appeal decision and the refusal of the subsequent application under reference
DC/20/0813, the context of the site has changed, with a northbound and southbound bus
stop now installed immediately outside the site. While the application site remains distanced
from the village centre of Small Dole and the larger settlement of Henfield, with both
inaccessible by foot, the installed bus stops provide regular links to both Small Dole and
Henfield village centres. The presence of these bus stops provides an alternative means of
transport, particularly for future occupiers who may not benefit from car ownership; and their
presence has removed the need for occupiers to traverse the public highway on foot. The
accessibility to these bus stops had thereby mitigated the risk and harm arising to
pedestrians, as previously identified by the previous refusals. This is a material consideration
of significant weight in the appraisal of the current application.

6.50

The site is located in a wider rural area but adjacent to other residential and commercial
development. The scale of the development would not over-dominate the wider pattern of
development along Shoreham Road, with the enclosed nature of the site considered to limit
wider views into the site. The proposal is not therefore considered to detract from the rural
countryside setting or the visual amenity of the locality. Furthermore, the scale of the
development is not considered to result in a significant intensification in activity within the
countryside location, or result in unacceptable impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’
cumulative impacts on the operation of the highway network.

6.51

The application has been put forward on the basis of the personal needs of the Applicants’
and their families. All have been brought up in the Gypsy tradition with the family registered
at the local health centre and the children attending the local school. While a personal

Page 72

occupancy condition could be imposed, given the acceptability of the site as outlined above,
and the identified need for gypsy pitches across the District, it is not considered that a
personal occupancy condition would be reasonable or necessary.
6.52

On the balance of all considerations, the development is therefore considered to be
compliant with relevant policies of the Horsham District Planning Framework, and all other
relevant local and national planning policies.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the application, subject to the following conditions.
Conditions:
1

Approved Plans

2

Regulatory Condition: Within 3 months of the date of the decision hereby granted,
a drainage strategy detailing the means of foul and surface water disposal shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

3

Regulatory Condition: Within 3 months of the date of the decision hereby granted,
a plan showing the layout of the proposed development and the provision of car
parking spaces for vehicles shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The areas of land so provided shall thereafter be retained for the
parking of vehicles.
Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking
of vehicles clear of all highways in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015)

4

Regulatory Condition: Within 3 months of the date of the decision hereby granted,
details for the provision for the storage of refuse and recycling facilities shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities
shall be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Regulatory Condition: Within 3 months of the date of the decision hereby granted,
details of secure and covered cycle parking facilities for the occupants of, and visitors
to, the development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The provision for cycle parking shall thereafter be retained for use
at all times.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Regulatory Condition: Within 3 months of the date of the decision hereby granted,
a fast charge electric vehicle charging point for each pitch shall be installed. As a
minimum, the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector.
The means for charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.

Page 73

Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District
and to sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national
objectives for pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
7

Regulatory Condition: No external lighting or floodlighting shall be installed other
than with the permission of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Regulatory Condition: This permission does not authorise use of the land as a
caravan site by any persons other than Gypsies and Travellers, as defined in Annex
1 of Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (Department for Communities and Local
Government 2015).
Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to control the use of the site and in
accordance with Policy 21, Policy 22 and Policy 23 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

9

Regulatory Condition: No more than 2 caravans (of static or mobile home type), as
defined in the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 and the Caravan
Sites Act 1968 (or any Act revoking or re-enacting these Acts), shall be stationed on
the site at any time. There shall be no more than two (2) touring caravans stationed
on site at any time and these shall not be occupied by any person at any time whilst
stationed on the application site.
Reason: To avoid an overcrowded appearance and to secure satisfactory standards
of space and amenity in accordance Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: No industrial, commercial or business activity shall be
carried on from the site, including the storage of materials.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policies 26 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

11

Regulatory Condition: No vehicle over 3.5 tonnes shall be stationed, parked or
stored on the site.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Regulatory Condition: There shall be no burning on site at any time.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Background Papers: DC/17/1375 Appeal Decision 11 September 2019

Page 74

07) DC/21/0753
Whiteoaks, Shoreham Road, Small Dole, Henfield, West Sussex,
BN5 9SD
Tra for distribution to the general
Warehouse
For Business use only - not
public
ck

18.6m

¯

Newbarn Lane

El Sub Sta

Warehouse
14.7m
Water

Sunnydene

Bechers

Denfurlong
Farm

A

20

37

Woodsmill
House

12.5m

Serena
Whitchurch

Track
Sylvan Mead

7.9m
GP

Millbrook

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

08/07/2021

Page 75MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 15 July 2019
by Nicola Davies BA DipTP MRTPI
an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State
Decision date: 11 September 2019

Appeal Ref: APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057
Whiteoaks, Shoreham Road, Small Dole BN5 9SD
•
•
•
•
•

The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
against a refusal to grant planning permission.
The appeal is made by George Corfield against the decision of Horsham District Council.
The application Ref DC/17/1375, dated 19 June 2017, was refused by notice dated
25 September 2017.
The development proposed is described as a proposed settled gypsy accommodation
site.
This decision supersedes that issued on 11 September 2018. That decision on the
appeal was quashed by order of the High Court.

Decision
1. The appeal is dismissed.
Background and Preliminary Matters
2. Following the successful challenge of the decision dated 11 September 2018
under section 288 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 my role is to
redetermine the case and not to review the previous appeal decision.
3. By way of background, the original section 78 appeal proceeded together with
appeals against two enforcement notices. Notice 1 (Appeal A) i related to
operational development pertaining to summerhouses, trenches, laying of
concrete and hardstanding. Notice 2 (Appeal B)ii was against a change of use
to a mixed use of agricultural and stationing of caravans for human habitation.
The section 78 appeal at the time of the first decision was not proposed for a
named or existing gypsy occupier(s).
4. Subsequent to the original appeal submissions made by the appellant a further
updated planning appeal statement has been provided. This indicates that the
site has been owned by the Tingey family since November 2013. Since shortly
prior to March 2018 one of the two caravans stationed at the appeal site has
been occupied by Sam Tingey and the other by Charlie Tingey, along with their
respective partners and young children. The update provided by the appellant
indicates that the caravans are now intended for the continued occupation by
the Tingey family.
5. It appears to be accepted by the Council that the Tingey family are gypsies and
travellers. On the available evidence I have no substantive reason to come to
a different view on this matter. It is advised that Sam and Charlie Tingey
travel for work. Therefore, I consider the Tingey family satisfy the gypsy and
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 77

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

traveller definition set out within Annex 1 of the Government’s ‘Planning Policy
for Traveller Sites’ (August 2015).
6. A revised version of the National Planning Policy Framework (‘the Framework’)
has been published since the planning application was determined by the
Council. The appellant and the local planning authority have had the
opportunity to address the revised Framework when submitting their additional
statements. I have had regard to the revised Framework in reaching my
decision.
Main Issue
7. The main issue relating to this appeal is whether the site is a suitable location
for gypsy and traveller accommodation.
8. In exercising my function on behalf of a public authority I am aware of my
duties under the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) contained in the Equality
Act 2010 which sets out the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination,
harassment and victimisation, and to advance equality of opportunity and
foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and
people who do not share it. Since the appeal involves gypsies and travellers,
they have a protected characteristic for the purposes of the PSED.
Reasons
9. The appeal site does not fall within any defined built-up area boundary. The
closest settlement, Small Dole, is approximately 620m south of the appeal site
with the larger settlement of Henfield around 1.7km north of the appeal site.
10. Horsham District Planning Framework 2015 (HDPF) Policy 3 classifies Small
Dole as a ‘Small Village’ with limited services, facilities and social networks but
with good accessibility to larger settlements, or settlements with some
employment but limited services, facilities or accessibility. This Policy also
acknowledges that residents of small villages are reliant on larger settlements
to access most of their requirements. I observed that the services and facilities
at Small Dole are limited to that of a public house and a post office/shop and
that the village is accessible by private vehicle and bus.
11. Policy 3 of the HDPF defines Henfield as a ‘Small Town/Larger Village’ and
defines these as having a good range of services and facilities, strong
community networks and local employment provisions with reasonable access
to rail and/or bus services. This Policy indicates that settlements, such as
Henfield, act as hubs for smaller villages to meet their daily needs.
12. Policy 26 of the HDPF indicates that outside built-up area boundaries, the rural
character and undeveloped nature of the countryside will be protected against
inappropriate development, unless the countryside location is essential to the
proposal. The appeal site is beyond any defined built-up area boundary and
therefore is within the countryside. Paragraph 25 of the Planning Policy for
Traveller Sites (PPTS) stipulates that new traveller site development in open
countryside that is away from existing settlements or outside areas allocated in
the development plan should be very strictly limited. That said, the proposal
would be situated to the west of, and behind, existing ribbon road frontage
development. As such, it is not spatially isolated or remote from existing built
development. In my opinion the site would not be considered to be one of

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 782

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

those PPTS sites where development should be strictly limited. The
countryside location does not, as such, weigh significantly against the proposal.
13. The appeal site is not allocated within the HDPF as a Gypsy and Traveller site.
In such circumstances Policy 23 of the HDPF sets out criteria to be taken into
consideration when determining planning applications for non-allocated sites.
The Council’s decision notice makes it clear that the Council’s concerns centre
around the unsustainable location of the appeal site, its remoteness from local
services and facilities, and the limitation placed upon occupiers to access
modes of sustainable transport. I, therefore, consider the proposal first needs
to be assessed against criteria (b) and (d) of Policy 23 of HDPF.
14. Criterion (b) of Policy 23 requires that the site is served by a safe and
convenient vehicular and pedestrian access and should not result in significant
hazard to other road users.
15. Turning firstly to vehicular safety, I am aware from those representations
received that some local concern has been raised in respect of the safety of the
access onto Shoreham Road. Although residents highlight incidents of
accidents on this stretch of Shoreham Road, I have not been directed to any
substantive evidence that would indicate that these accidents were linked to
the appeal site access. West Sussex County Council, the responsible Highway
Authority, has not raised an objection to the proposal. Furthermore, there is no
substantive technical highway evidence before me that would lead me to
conclude that the access would compromise highway safety.
16. Turning secondly to pedestrian safety, the highway does not host pavements or
street lighting. To the north, and close to the access, there is a highway bend
that limits visibility of on-coming traffic. Just before the bend the speed limit
changes between 40 and 60mph. I saw that both cars and large vehicles travel
at speed, in both directions, along this stretch of Shoreham Road and with a
high degree of frequency. Indeed, some of those making representation
highlight the busy and fast-moving nature of the traffic travelling along this
stretch of Shoreham Road and that the volume of traffic has increased over the
years. Without pavements along the highway, pedestrians accessing or
egressing the site would be faced by challenging highway traffic and this would
put them at a significant safety risk, particularly on days with poor visibility, as
well as during the hours of darkness.
17. Criterion (d) of Policy 23 requires consideration as to whether the site is
located in or near to existing settlements, or is part of an allocated strategic
location, within reasonable distance of a range of local services and community
facilities, in particular schools and essential health services. I am of the
opinion that given the very limited services and facilities available at Small
Dole, the closest settlement that could support the occupiers’ day-to-day needs
would be Henfield. However, given Henfield is around 1.7km from the appeal
site it is highly likely that occupiers would be reliant on the private vehicle to
access the services and facilities at Henfield.
18. The risk to pedestrians discussed above also needs to be considered in the
context of criterion (d) of Policy 23. For occupiers that do not have access to a
vehicle it would be unrealistic to anticipate walking to services and facilities
given the limitations of the highway to provide safe pedestrian access.
Furthermore, services and facilities are some distance from the appeal site and
beyond a reasonable walking distance. I saw that there are bus stops serving
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

3
Page 79

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

buses in both directions just beyond Horn Lane to the south and at Henfield
Business Park to the north of the appeal site. However, these bus stops are
also some distance from the appeal site and to access buses would require
occupiers walking along the busy and heavily trafficked carriageway of
Shoreham Road.
19. I acknowledge that Policy 3 of the HDPF accepts that residents of ‘Small
Villages’ are reliant on larger settlements to access most of their requirements.
As such, residents that live close to Small Dole, including the occupiers of the
appeal site, would also be reliant upon larger settlements. For occupiers of the
appeal site that do not have access to a private vehicle, walking along the
carriageway to the nearest bus stops would be an extremely hazardous
prospect, particularly for those with young children, elderly people and those
with disabilities. It would also be an unattractive prospect for those carrying
heavy shopping, particularly during winter months and inclement weather. As
such, this would discourage occupiers from utilising public transport. This
would also increase the reliance on private vehicle to access services and
facilities at larger settlements by those who have access to private vehicles.
20. For the above reasons, the proposed development conflicts with criteria (b) and
(d) of Policy 23. Policy 40 of the HDPF, amongst other matters, requires
development to provide safe and suitable access for pedestrians. For the same
reasons, the proposal also conflicts with this policy. Although the HDPF predates the revised Framework, I consider the objectives of these policies are
consistent with the revised Framework. These policies are also in line with the
PPTS that seeks to enable provision of suitable accommodation from which
travellers can access services and facilities.
21. I acknowledge that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions
will vary between urban and rural areas. I have been advised that each of the
adults that presently occupy the site are drivers and car owners. As I see it,
the proposal would not limit the need for travel, even if access to schools,
services and facilities would be done as part of a round trip. Furthermore, the
occupiers, or future new occupiers, would not be offered a genuine choice of
transport modes. Therefore, the location of the site conflicts with the
requirements of Policy 40 of the HDPF and the Framework that require
development proposals to ensure safe and suitable access can be achieved for
all users.
22. In addition to those policies referred to above the Council has also referred to
Policies 1, 2 and 4 of the HDPF in its reason for refusal.
23. Policy 1 is a strategic policy that pre-dates the revised Framework. Overall this
policy reflects the previous wording of the 2012 Framework’s presumption in
favour of sustainable development in decision making. The revised Framework
has modified the precise wording and Policy 1 does not reflect some of those
modifications and as such, cannot be considered to be consistent with the
revised Framework. This, therefore, significantly reduces the weight that can
be applied to this policy and I give it limited weight.
24. Policy 2, amongst other strategic development matters, supports the specific
temporary and permanent needs of the Gypsies and Travellers and requires the
needs of these communities to be met through suitable access to services and
employment. However, I have found that suitable pedestrian access would not
be achieved, and this would restrict access to services and employment.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 804

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

25. Policy 4 deals with settlement expansion to meet identified local housing,
employment and community needs. It appears to me that Policy 4 does not
differentiate between gypsy/travellers and the settled community. As this
policy is directed towards the settled community, I do not consider Policy 4 to
be specifically applicable to the proposal before me.
26. With regard to the main issue, for those reasons given further above, I
conclude that the appeal site is not a suitable location for gypsy and traveller
accommodation when assessed against the development plan policies, and
specifically criteria (b) and (d) of Policy 23, as well as Policy 40 of the HDPF.
Other considerations
27. Policy 21 of the HDPF indicates that provision shall be made for 39 net
additional permanent resident pitches for Gypsies and Travellers within the
period 2011 to 2017. This Policy also requires the Council to make provision
for further pitches during the remainder of the Plan period from 2017 to 2031
in a Site Allocations DPD.
28. My attention has been drawn to the 2018 Kingfisher Farm appeal decisioniii that
concluded 78 pitches was an indication of the level of District need up to 2032
and that this was likely to be a minimum requirement. The Council has not
disputed the findings of the Kingfisher Farm appeal. The Council initially
advised that a number of the sites allocated through Policy 21 of the HDPF
have yet to come forward. Although the Council has not provided any up-todate evidence in regard to shortfall figures, it advises that it still cannot
demonstrate an up-to-date five-year supply of deliverable sites. However, a
lack of a five-year supply does not directly lead to the application of the tilted
balance albeit it adds weight to the proposal for pitches iv.
29. There is a general national and regional need for pitches to which I attribute
significant weight. Although the Council has not provided a definitive District
need up to 2032, it nevertheless acknowledges that it currently cannot
demonstrate an up-to-date five-year supply of deliverable sites. Referring to
policies 10 and 24 of the PPTS it appears to me that a clear unmet need exists
for pitches in the Horsham District and this weighs significantly in favour of the
development. The appellant advises that there are no alternative site(s) to
which the occupiers could relocate. Although some third parties have directed
me to an established Gypsy and Traveller site within Small Dole, I have not
been provided with any information relating to pitch availability at that site. I
therefore cannot say with any degree of certainty that pitches would be
available at that site that might accommodate the Tingey family.
30. The most relevant development plan policies relating to the proposed
development are Policies 23 and 40 of the HDPF. I have found these policies to
be consistent with the Framework and the PPTS, therefore these Policies can be
given full weight. I shall deal with the development plan policies and the
shortage of pitch supply within my planning balance section below.
31. As noted earlier, the appeal site is located behind existing ribbon development
that fronts onto Shoreham Road. In terms of the scale of the development, I
consider the proposal would not have a significant impact on the landscape
character of the area. I therefore consider the proposal would comply with
criterion (e) of Policy 23 of the HDPF which requires development not to have
an unacceptable impact on the character and appearance of the landscape. In
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

5
Page 81

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

addition, I have found that that the proposed development would not conflict
with Policy 26 of the HDPF that seeks to protect the rural character and
undeveloped nature of the countryside outside of the built-up settlement
boundaries.
32. Neighbouring dwellings are positioned some distance from the appeal site and
are separated by the vegetated boundaries of the site. I consider the
separation and intervening landscaping would ensure that no significant harm
would arise to the living conditions of the existing adjoining occupiers. Some
third-party concern is raised to potential noise and disturbance. I do not
consider the proposal, which is domestic in nature, would give rise to
significant levels of noise and/or disturbance. I therefore consider the proposal
would comply with criterion (e) of Policy 23 of the HDPF which requires
development not to have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of
neighbouring properties. Noise relating to dogs barking at this site has also
been raised by third-parties, but I have been advised that this is being
investigated by the Council’s Environmental Health Department under the
provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990.
33. I have been referred to a number of appeal decisions by the appellant relating
to gypsy and traveller sites, including that at Kingfisher Farm and Millers
Meadv, however, I note that the Millers Mead appeal has been withdrawn and
will not be subject to an appeal redetermination. In some of these cases cited
by the appellant I accept those proposals host similarities to the development
before me, particularly in regard to access to sites being along unlit country
lanes, that have been found to be acceptable in those cases. There is also
similarity in terms of distances to the nearest settlement with some having
lesser distance than that of this case. However, I have not been provided with
the full details of those cases and therefore the full circumstances relating to
those cases and their policy context is not before me.
34. Notwithstanding this, those proposals have been determined on their own
particular merits and individual circumstances. The circumstances of the
highways will have different characteristics in each case in respect of width,
speed limit, bends, visibility, type and amount of traffic. There is also variation
between cases regarding pitch numbers and, in some cases, pitch shortfall. I
also note that, apart from the Millers Mead and Kingfisher Farm appeals, none
of the other examples cited by the appellant relate to Horsham District and,
therefore, different development plan policies will have applied to those cases.
Consequently, the considerations relating to those cases will be different. I,
therefore, consider the proposal before me can and should be considered on its
own merits and on the evidence before me, together with my observations at
my site visit.
35. I have considered those other examples drawn to my attention at Millers Mead
and Kingfisher Farm. In the case before me, because of personal safety all
residents in effect would not have a choice of travel mode and would have to
travel by private vehicle, which would impact most on the more vulnerable and
disadvantaged. In regard to the Kingfisher Farm, that proposal would have
been located near to Barns Green, categorised as a ‘medium village’ by Policy 3
of the HDPF that would provide some day-to-day needs. However, the nearest
settlement to this appeal site, Small Dole, hosts very limited services, facilities
and accessibility. This proposal should, therefore, be considered in relation to
the circumstances of this case and on its own individual merit.
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 826

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

36. The appellant has also directed me to the Council’s traveller site at Cousins
Copse, Billingshurst. However, I am not aware of the full details of the
circumstances relating to that site such as to enable me to judge whether it is
directly comparable to this case. This development is a different proposal and
therefore can and should be considered on its own merits.
37. My attention has been drawn to Use Class B8 (storage or distribution) and
commercial storage activities that have taken place at the site that would
pertain to this Use Class. The appellant contests that the Council has underenforced these activities. It is suggested that if enforcement Notice 2 (Appeal
B) is complied with that would result in unfettered storage use. It is contended
that this provides a ‘fallback’ as this use could create vehicle movements that
would have a greater impact on the openness of the countryside than that of
this redetermination appeal proposal. However, enforcement action was taken
only against a mixed use of agriculture and the stationing of caravans for
human habitation. Therefore, the notice could not have required a storage
activity to cease. The provisions of section 173(11) would not apply and no
planning permission for a storage use would result. The suggested fallback,
therefore, holds no weight in favour of the proposal.
38. It was evident to me that the layout of the site at the time of my site visit was
considerably different to that shown on the plans that form part of this section
78 appeal. The previous Inspector found likewise. However, I consider that
the details of the site layout, numbers of caravans, ancillary structures,
numbers of touring caravans, landscaping, amongst other matters, could
reasonably be controlled by imposing appropriately worded planning conditions.
39. The appellant has referred me to paragraph 13 d) of the PPTS, but that policy
relates to development plan-making rather than decision-taking. Nevertheless,
I recognise the benefits of having a settled base and the social, environmental
and economic costs associated with unauthorised camping.
Planning Balance
40. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 indicates that
determinations must be made in accordance with the plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise.
41. I have found that the proposal would be acceptable in regard to character and
appearance. I have also found that the proposal would not harm the living
conditions of existing neighbouring occupiers. Although these are merits of the
proposed development, as these aspects of the proposal would need to be
acceptable in their own right to make the development acceptable, they do not
hold any additional weight in favour of the proposal.
42. I accept that the two pitches the application proposes would contribute to the
pitch supply within the District. This carries significant weight in favour of the
proposal, especially given the lack of a five-year supply identified by the
Council and the likely level of need identified by the Inspector in the Kingfisher
Farm appeal. Nonetheless, there is conflict with the development plan in
relation to pedestrian safety and the occupiers’ reliance upon private vehicle to
access services and facilities that are some distance away at Henfield. I have
found that occupiers that would not have access to a private vehicle would be
required to place themselves at a significant highway risk on a regular basis in
order to access public transport and the settlement of Henfield to meet their
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

7
Page 83

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

day-to-day needs and requirements. Given this, I consider that these would
override the contribution made by the proposed development to the unmet
need for pitches that might justify a departure from the development plan.
43. The proposal would not comply with Policies 23 and 40 of the HDPF and, as
such, the proposal would not be in accordance with the development plan when
read as a whole. Furthermore, the proposed development would not comply
with the aims of the PPTS for new traveller sites to be of suitable
accommodation from which travellers can safely access services and facilities
by foot and public transport and in turn this may disadvantage the vulnerable
most. In addition, as well as the personal safety of the occupiers, there would
also be a risk to other highway users if they collided with a pedestrian. I do
not consider there to be any other material considerations of sufficient weight,
either taken individually or cumulatively, to indicate that determination should
be made otherwise than in accordance with the development plan. Given this
significant risk to the occupiers' pedestrian and other highway users safety, as
well as the site’s location in terms of proximity and accessibility limitations to
services and facilities, and the conflict with the development plan the appeal
should not be allowed and planning permission should not be granted.
44. I have considered those conditions put forward by the Council, including a
condition limiting the development to the stationing of two caravans at the site
and their occupation limited to Gypsies and Travellers that meet the Annex 1
definition of the PPTS. I do not consider that any of the conditions put forward
would overcome the harm that I have identified. Whilst the conditions could
limit the number of caravans at the appeal site, if the development were to
take place significant risk to pedestrian safety would arise to the occupiers of
the two caravans.
45. Policy 27 of the PPTS indicates that if a local planning authority cannot
demonstrate an up-to-date five-year supply of deliverable sites, as is the case
here, this should be a significant material consideration in any subsequent
planning decision when considering applications for the grant of a temporary
planning permission. Neither party has put forward a suggested period of time
for a temporary planning permission that might allow time for an alternative
site to come forward and/or to enable the occupiers to find another site.
46. I have given consideration to the grant of a temporary planning permission.
However, the significant risk to the occupiers’ pedestrian safety would exist
over the time the caravans at the site would be occupied. The fact that a
timeframe to occupy the caravans would be less than that of a permanent
planning permission would not diminish the harm to the occupiers’ safety as
pedestrians over that period that the caravans could be occupied.
Furthermore, my concerns in respect of the site’s location would not be
overcome. As such, temporary planning permission should not be granted.
47. I have also considered the imposition of a personal permission that would allow
the current occupiers to remain resident at the site. It is advised that the
Tingey family children living at the site either attend a local school or are
registered to attend in the future. If the Tingey family were to remain at the
site whilst their children attend local schools this would be so for the
foreseeable 16 years until the youngest child finishes schooling. The family is
also registered at a local medical practice. The occupiers having been brought
up in the gypsy tradition are acutely aware, through their own experiences

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 848

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

whilst growing up and travelling with their parents, of the importance of a
settled base as opposed to being moved on from site to site. Whilst I
sympathise with the occupiers’ particular circumstances this would not obviate
the harm to the Tingey family’s safety over the period that the caravans would
be occupied by the family. Therefore, personal or personal temporary planning
permission should not be granted.
48. The appellant advises that the occupiers have no other site(s) to relocate to
and, as such, are loath to leave this site. I have not been directed to any
options of suitable alternative sites/accommodation within the District or the
wider area that would be available to the Tingey family. This carries significant
weight in favour of the proposal. Whilst third parties suggest that the Tingey
family own houses elsewhere in the area, on the available evidence I cannot be
certain that this is the case and/or that such accommodation would be suitable
given the Tingey family’s traditional way of life.
49. Dismissing this appeal would result in the occupiers of the caravans losing their
homes and this would be an interference of the occupiers’ rights under Article 8
of the Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, their rights under Article 8 (right
to respect for private and family life, home and correspondence) and Article 1
of the First Protocol (right to respect to property) would be interfered with.
With regard to the upheld enforcement Notice 2 referred to at paragraph 2
above, the compliance period for the cessation of the residential use and the
removal of the caravans is six months. Therefore, there is already a notice in
place. This has the effect of increasing the potential interference with the
occupiers’ human rights.
50. Both of the above are qualified rights, and interference with them may be
justified where lawful and in the public interest. I have concluded that the
proposed development conflicts with policies within the HDPF and the PPTS.
Highway safety for all highway users is an important public interest. I find the
harm to the occupiers’ pedestrian safety, along with the site location and the
limitations of the occupiers to access services and facilities, is so significant and
that the arguments advanced by the appellant and the other considerations do
not clearly outweigh this harm. I have considered whether a lesser
requirement would overcome the harm. For those reasons given above I have
ruled out the possibility of imposing a temporary or personal/personal
temporary permission. Dismissing this appeal would be an interference of the
appellants’ human rights but because of harm that I have identified to the
occupiers this is proportionate and necessary in the public interest.
51. In consciously thinking about the aims of the PSED I have had regard to the
traditional way of life of the occupiers. I acknowledge that the Tingey family
have a need for a settled base and that no other suitable alternative
accommodation has been identified to be available to the family in the area.
There are children living on the site who are either at school or who are about
to or will start school in the future. Their best interests include living on a
settled and secure site with access to their schools and to local healthcare
facilities. This is a primary consideration in my reasoning on a personal
permission.
52. However, I have identified that due to the harm to the occupiers’ pedestrian
safety the site cannot be considered a safe place for them to live and this
carries significant weight against the proposal. The site is not suitable for this

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

9
Page 85

Appeal Decision APP/Z3825/W/17/3188057

use and I conclude that the pedestrian safety and limitations to access services
and facilities outweighs the rights of the site owner and occupiers.
53. Interested parties raise additional objections to the proposal, including
drainage and impact on wildlife, amongst other matters. I consider these
matters could be satisfactorily controlled by the imposition of appropriately
worded planning conditions. I have also been directed to the unregulated use
of an adjacent land fill site. However, that land falls beyond the appeal site
and, as such, is not a relevant consideration to this appeal.
Conclusion
54. Having regard to the above findings, the appeal should be dismissed.

Nicola Davies
INSPECTOR
i

Appeal Ref: APP/Z3825/C/18/3199688
Appeal Ref: APP/Z3825/C/18/3200872
iii
Appeal Refs: APP/Z3825/C/16/3153910, 3153915, 3188942 & 3188945 – Land known as
Kingfisher Farm, West Chiltington Lane, Billingshurst, West Sussex RH14 9DR
iv
National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 73 and footnote 36, and paragraph 11
footnote 7
v
Appeal Refs: APP/Z3825/C/18/3193063 & 3202116 – Land at/rear of Millers Mead,
Nuthurst Street, Horsham RH13 6RG
ii

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate

Page 8610

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

20th July 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

A phased development for the erection of 6no detached houses (of which
up to 4no are to be self-build) with associated landscaping, drainage and
access improvements to Heather Way at Angell Sandpit, Storrington

SITE:

Angell Sand Pit, Washington Road, Storrington, West Sussex

WARD:

Storrington

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0057

APPLICANT:

Name: MiBri Ltd Address: Angell Sandpit, Heather Way, Storrington

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: By request of the Parish Council.
More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations raising
material planning considerations that are
inconsistent with the recommendation of the
Head of Development.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The proposal seeks Full Planning Permission to build a phased development of 6 detached
dwellings with vehicular access taken from the privately-maintained Heather Way and spur
in the south-western corner of the site, leading to a circular central driveway.
The
development is to comprise 4no self/ custom build properties and 2no developer-built
properties.

1.3

The site area is some 1.64ha of land, with a slope from west to east. The developable area
is stated to be some 1.2ha. The topographical survey reveals the highest land levels in the
north-western area (GL 79.53) to be some 14m higher than the north-eastern corner (GL
64.31). A 20m buffer zone is to be maintained to the northern area of the site, where it abuts
the SSSI. No development is to be set within this area.

1.4

The development is set out in the following phases:

Contact Officer: Nicola Pettifer

Page 87

Tel: 01403 215238




Phase 1 – Site wide works including levels, drainage, service infrastructure, access and
internal road infrastructure, design and delivery up to slab level (including ground stability
and remediation works across the site)
Subsequent phases to deliver the individual plots (Plots 1 to 4 to be self / custom-build
dwellings, Plots 5 & 6 to be non-self-build dwellings)

1.5

Plots 1 and 2 are shown as two rectangular volumes linked by a central glazed circulation
space. Plot 1 would appear primarily as a single-storey dwelling, but would include a lower
ground floor secondary living area and cinema room, set into the sloping site. All main living
areas would be at ground floor, including the 4 bedrooms and the double garage. Plot 2
would appear as a single-storey dwelling from the rear / west elevation, but would appear as
a two-storey house from the front / eastern side, with the double garage and a substantial
amount of living accommodation on the lower ground floor, including 2 of the 4 bedrooms.
External materials to both plots are shown as concrete to the lower walls and natural
horizontal timber cladding to one volume and ebony vertical cladding other volume, with a
zinc standing seam roof to bone element and orange / brown clay roof tiles to the other
element.

1.6

Plot 3 is shown with a cranked footprint, with 2-storeys of accommodation and 4 bedrooms.
Of these, 3 bedrooms and the integral double garage are set on the lower ground level with
the remainder of the living space and 1 bedroom set at the ground floor. Externally, this
dwelling is shown to be clad in Ebony vertical timber cladding with Grey 'smoked' face
brickwork to the lower portions (GF ffl - 74.1, FF ffl - 76.8)

1.7

Plot 4 is shown as an L-shaped footprint with a double integral garage and north-facing
terrace at ground level, along with the primary living accommodation. All 4 bedrooms and a
cinema room would be contained within the lower ground floor. Externally, the walls would
be clad in natural horizontal timber cladding to the upper parts with concrete shown to the
lower areas. The roof would be orange and red tiles (GF ffl - 72.6, LGF ffl - 69.9)

1.8

Plots 5 and 6 both have L-shaped footprints, and are single-storey / split level. The two plots
vary slightly, with Plot 5 having 3-bedrooms and Plot 5 having 2-bedrooms and a small study.
They each have an integral single garage. Materials are shown as Grey 'smoked' face
brickwork with red feature blend, with a lower concrete plinth. The roof would be orange /
brown clay tiles and windows are shown as grey aluminium windows and doors. Grey
aluminium windows and doors would match the rainwater goods, and the roof would be zinc
standing seam. (Plot 5 - GF ffl - 71.77, LGF ffl - 70.72, and Plot 6 GF ffl - 72.34, LGF ffl 71.29).

1.9

A total of 24 parking spaces are proposed across the development, both surface and garage
parking.

1.10

Landscape details show the provision of a small community woodland within the centre of
the site and butterfly / insect bunds within the site and to the plots. 7 trees are shown to be
removed from the site to facilitate the works, and a number are shown for removal outside
of the site boundaries. The submitted Tree Retention and Protection Plan also indicate some
tree pruning works to be carried out along the access lane Heather Way, outside of the
application site, but within the submitted red line.

1.11

Additionally, improvements are proposed along the access route of Heather Way, including
the widening of the lane along its length and visibility improvements to the eastern access
point onto Washington Road. Passing places are to be provided along the lane.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.12

The application site comprises an area of sloping land that comprises a former sand quarry,
set on the very eastern side of, and within the Storrington BUAB. Since operations ceased,

Page 88

the land has been infilled with waste material, rendering it to be classified as a ‘landfill site’,
and restored to a natural habitat.
1.13

Prior to the remediation of the former quarry, it was an open sand ‘pit’ which extended close
to the rear of the two listed cottages on the eastern side (School and Chestnut Cottages),
with the excavations of the soft sand taking place across the site to depths of some 10m
below the garden level of the cottages.

1.14

The site is some 1.64ha in area and benefits from an existing access to the site in the southeastern corner, off the small gated Angell Sands development, and alongside No’s 3 and 4
Angell Sands.

1.15

A footpath runs alongside the western boundary of the site, and the eastern boundary with
the adjacent dwelling High Winds, although not a designated PROW. The sloping site levels
are evident along this path, with a vegetated bund rising on the application site and trees
providing screening to the adjacent dwelling, which sits close to its eastern site boundary,
but at a lower ground level.

1.16

Topographical surveys reveal a fall in land levels from the NW corner of the site of some
13.8m to the NE corner, and a fall of around 5.6m from the SW corner to the SE corner at
the rear of Chestnut Cottage.

1.17

To the eastern side boundary, sitting at the lowest ground levels in respect of the site, are
the two adjoined Grade II listed cottages (School and Chestnut / Jasmine Cottage), with their
residential gardens extending along the full eastern side of the site. Low post and rail fences
to these properties provide views across and into the sloping application site, affording them
with a view across the restored heathland habitat that was formerly the open sand quarry.

1.18

Some 70m to the NW of the site are the remains of a former Corn Mill (Sullington Windmill),
which existed during the 1800’s until it was destroyed by fire in 1911, when Sullington Warren
was open heathland, and benefitted from its elevated position. This area of Sullington
Warren is now populated by trees with the heathland occupying land further to the northwest of the application site.

1.19

The wider area of Sullington Warren is maintained in part by the National Trust and the
Sandgate Conservation Society. Large parts of the wider Sullington Warren are designated
as Archaeological Notification areas, and home to Bronze Age round barrows (tumili), which
are scheduled ancient monuments. The closest of these lies some 290m NW of the
application site.

1.20

The immediately adjoining area of Sullington Warren to the northern side of the site also
forms a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) on account of its heathland habitat, both dry
and wet, which is bordered by woodland.

1.21

The application site has been identified in the Storrington, Sullington and Washington
Neighbourhood Plan as an allocated site for residential housing development (Policy 2).

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:

Page 89

2.3

National Planning Policy Framework

2.4

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 – Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 – Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy use
Policy 37 – Sustainable Construction
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities

2.5
2.5

Supplementary Planning Guidance:
West Sussex Joint Minerals Local Plan (2018) - Policy M9 - Safeguarding Minerals
Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan (Made Sept 2019):
Policy 1: A Spatial Plan for the Parishes
Policy 2: Site Allocations for Development - (iii) Land and Angell Sandpit, Storrington
Policy 8: Countryside Protection
Policy 14: Design
Policy 15: Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 16: Local Green Spaces
Policy 17: Traffic & Transport
Community Aims:
1 – Creation of Sandgate Country Park
2 – Broadband and Mobile Communications
3 – Car Parking

2.6

Storrington and Sullington Parish Design Statement
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS

2.7

The most recent and relevant planning history is as follows:
DC/08/0227
County Consultation – Restoration of sand quarry 2008
by landfill with inert materials
DC/04/1375

County Consultation – Modification of condition 2004
22 of planning permission SG/18/99 for
maintenance of plant and machinery between
08:00am and 12:00 noon

DC/04/0509

County Consultation- Modification of conditions 2004
3, 7, 14 and 18 of SG/18/99 extending by 36
months

SG/18/99

County Consultation – Restoration of sand quarry 1999
by landfill with inert materials

Page 90

SG/8/95

County Consultation – Restoration of sand quarry 1995
by landfill with inert materials

SG/15/96

County Consultation – Restoration of sand quarry 1996
by landfill with inert materials

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS

3.3

HDC Heritage Officer: Comments
[Summarised] The level of harm will be at the lowest end of the scale of less than substantial
and I could be persuaded that the public benefit of development will outweigh that harm.
 Impact on the setting of the listed buildings - increase the suburban development
within the wider setting of the cottages and dilute the character of this historic
heathland
 Proposed houses will not necessarily be intervisible with the listed cottages as
currently indicated but need to consider the non-visual impacts that might be
expected such as an increase in noise, artificial light and a perception of activity.
Disused sand quarry on historically unimproved common land. This is the historic context
of the listed cottages to the east of the site fronting Water Lane. They are described as a
National School in the late nineteenth century and are shown relatively isolated from the
settlements of Sullington and Storrington at this time. It is possible the school was intended
for the children of farm labourers and country house staff who were most likely to live
nearby. The building has the appearance of a pair of dwellings and it is assumed it was
used as a school when it became necessary rather than being built for that purpose. The
suburban expansion of Storrington from the mid-twentieth century has continued to the
fringes of the heathland that characterises the wider setting of the historic building. Despite
this suburban expansion the cottages are still experienced in a rural setting; the houses to
the west are not intervisible with the cottages.

3.3

HDC Environmental Health: No objection subject to conditions
[Summarised] – The proposed development site was part of the former Angell Pit inert landfill
site which comprised two sections. The southern section was developed for residential
properties following an appeal in 2015 (Angell Sands). This development site occupies the
northern larger and deeper part of the landfill with recorded depth of fill of at least 11m.
The principal concerns relating to this development are:
 Identified presence of asbestos contamination as free fibres, which can be addressed
by way of contamination / remediation conditions
 Ground gas generation from the underlying landfill material
 Ground stability as the development site lies over a significant depth of landfill
There is concern that the matters to be remediated, and the level of technical expertise and
assessment required might be beyond the individual self-builder, particularly if each plot is
developed in a piecemeal fashion. In this instance, it would be beneficial for the site to be
developed to slab level of each plot, with the remedial works and technical assessments
taking account of the site as a cohesive whole.
Following discussions between officers and the planning agent, the development of the site
up to slab level as Phase 1 would address the concern about the piecemeal development of
the site as individual plots.

Page 91

The suggested conditions would therefore require site-wide details to be submitted, and for
this first stage to take place at the same time.

OUTSIDE AGENCIES
3.4

WSCC Highways: Advice as proposal is accessed off a privately maintained road (Heather
Way) – Conditions advised
[Summarised] – New access onto Heather Way to have an approximate width of 4.8m sufficient width to allow two vehicles to pass one another.
 The applicant should contact the proprietor of the privately maintained road to obtain
formal approval for the proposed access works.
 Provision of four passing places along Heather Way, allowing vehicles to pass one
another along these lanes.
 Provision of suitable visibility splays of 2.4m x 43m in both directions at the westernmost access with visibility to be improved at the eastern access point – demonstrating
vis splays of 2m x 32m to the west and 2m x 51m to the east. Although not compliant
with 40mph speed limit in this location, the LHA does note that the proposals present
an improvement over that of the existing achievable visibility
 Accident data from the last five years reveals no recorded injury accidents attributed
to existing road layout within the vicinity of the site - no evidence to suggest the
existing access is operating unsafely or that the proposal would exacerbate an
existing safety concern. In addition, the LHA does not anticipate that the addition of
six dwellings would give rise to a significant material intensification of movements to
or from the site.
 Applicant has demonstrated to the LHA’s satisfaction through swept path tracking,
that a refuse vehicle can safely access and egress the site via both accesses and
turn on-site.
 WSCC Car Parking Demand Calculator indicates that a development would require
at least 16 car parking spaces - proposed parking provision to be suitable for this
development. Residents will be able to utilise the access road to turn on-site and exit
on the maintained highway in a forward gear.
 The proposed garages meet the minimum internal dimensions for garages as set out
in Manual for Streets. Therefore, the LHA is satisfied that the garages can be utilised
for secure and covered cycle parking. The inclusion of cycle parking helps promote
the use of sustainable transport method.
 Active EV charging points should be provided for the development in accordance with
current EV sales rates within West Sussex and ducting provided to all remaining
parking spaces as ‘passive’ provision for future upgrades.
 The site is situated approximately 1km east of Storrington High Street, and is within
walking/cycle distance of shops, a school and other amenities and services. Cycling
is a viable option in the area. Bus stops on nearby Washington Road offer hourly
services to Pulborough and Burgess Hill.

3.5

Ecology: No objection
[Summarised] – Ecological Impact Statement (Lizard Landscape Design and Ecology, May
2020) has been reviewed – satisfied there is sufficient ecological information available for
determination.
 Advised mitigation measures should be secured and implemented in full. CEMP:
Biodiversity advised, along with a Reptile Mitigation Strategy (to include translocation
details)
 HRA needed as the site is within 11km of the Mens SAC.
 Biodiversity enhancement measures to secure net gains advised

Page 92

HRA Screening Record concludes that the proposal is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the designated features of the Habitats sites listed and Appropriate Assessment is not
required.
3.5

Environment Agency: No objection subject to conditions – relating to remediation,
verification report, SUDS infiltration and piling

3.5

Southern Water: Comment - conditions advised relating to SUDS, soakaways and surface
water disposal capacity

3.6

WSCC Fire and Rescue: No objection subject to condition - relating to site accessibility by
firefighting vehicles and installation of a new fire hydrant

3.7

South Downs National Park Authority: Comment
[Summarised] – The development site is located to the north of Washington Road (A283),
which forms the boundary to the National Park in this location, behind a row of dwellings that
face onto the main road. The site appears to be a disused sand pit that has been left for
some time and is now partially overgrown with vegetation. Development would be located
behind a row of pre-existing residential development although landform rises.
 Concern that the site’s Ecological sensitivities have not been assessed – site likely to
contribute positively to a buffer habitat.
 Consideration needs to be given to the designated International Dark Skies Reserve
which are to be protected and where new development should take a sensitive
approach.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.9

To date, letters of representation have been received from 19 residential properties, and
three organisations:
Letters of objection have been received from 20 nearby and neighbouring properties, as well
as from the Wiggonholt Association and the Sandgate Conservation Society:
Wider comments:
 Proposed estimated value of new dwellings (estimated at £800,000) would not
contribute to the housing needs of the community – development would not be CIL
liable as self-build exemption would be claimed – no public benefit / not affordable
housing
 NPPF advises against low density housing development where there are housing
shortages
 NP Examiner concluded that the site should deliver at least 6 dwellings to make
efficient use of land, with a local identified need to deliver less expensive 1-3 bed
homes – development would not meet this demand for smaller and more affordable
dwellings.
 What is self- build?
 What assurances are there that these new houses would not be built as 2-storey
houses?
 Lack of infrastructure to support extra dwellings
 Bins should not be left outside nearby houses (incl Clint house) as existing rear fence
has been damaged by bin lorries
 Access to the site for the restoration is suitable for construction, then it should be
suitable for residents to use too
 Potential for the self-build plots to vary in design from that being proposed – there
must be no variations between proposed and as-built (height, design, mass, location,
materials)
 Potential difficulties in servicing the plots (gas/ water/ electric) if this is to be via
Washington Road

Page 93





Site has been restored – not PDL. Although recently brought into BUAB as a minerals
extraction site it has a rural land use – artificial attempt to change land use to enable
housing development
Infilled site is thought to be unstable and no Ground Stability Report has been seen
National Principle of minerals planning and restoration have not been understood or
met in the recent proposals

Amenity:
 Views from adjacent National Park and SSSI
 Potential release of pollutants and irritants during construction process owing to
landfill site – existing issues with nearby Cemex site
 Overlooking (of Clint House) from Plot 1
 Overlooking to Highwinds (Plot 2) – removal of screening trees
 Additional footfall and traffic leading to increased overlooking from rear lane (Heather
Way)
 Detrimental to quality of life for existing residents to have vehicles passing at the front
and rear of their houses – increased impact to air quality – already an issue in the
area
 Previous flooding of the area – adjacent soakaways struggle to cope with existing
surface water, let alone increased water run-off from proposed higher development
 Potential for flooding from Plot 4 to 3 Angell Sands
 Concern that final plans would be significantly different to proposed details – including
provision for 60cm ‘concrete floats’ as per Angell Sands houses – leading to
considerably higher development
 Misleading reference to ‘The Lodge’ as a new residential building in curtilage of
adjacent listed building – in fact a converted garage built pre-1990
Ecology:
 Significant loss of biodiversity – no justifiable reasons to develop
 Potential harm to the Cedar Tree at High Winds – roots of which are visible under
thin layer of surface
 Soil compression from construction traffic affecting a number of mature trees which
line the access track / Heather Way – damage to tree roots. Potential loss of these
rare trees which also provide nesting and roosts to birds and bats
 Removal of lower limbs to this tree for allow for vehicular access / tall service vehicles
 Long-planned part of Country Park, encompassing other parts of Wealden
Greensand area of Sandgate Park - restoration of the quarry (SG/18/99) envisaged
the result to blend into its surroundings and provide a surface capable of supporting
heathland planting with an aftercare scheme to promote heathland management
compatible the adjacent SSSI – therefore site is greenfield not brownfield land
 Lowland Heath is recognised as priority habitat under UK BAP (Biodiversity Action
Plan) - The landscaping proposal for the development includes chalk wildflower
meadow, ornamental planting and grass lawn. This would require a considerable
change to the underlying soil, such as the importation of chalk soil to replace the
sandy soil to support the chalk loving wildflowers, more fertile and water retentive soil
to support the ornamental planting and lawn grasses, and the likely regular use of
fertilizers and herbicides to maintain the lawn, possible use of imported soil to
address contaminants in soil would lead to changes to underlying flora and soil and
ability to support heathland habitat
 Reference to the hard landscaping being in sympathy with local chalk paths. There
are no chalk paths in the immediate vicinity as the underlying geology is Lower
Greensand (Sandgate Formation).
 The Ecological Impact Report omits to state that the area is within the Bat Sustenance
Zone and dismissive of the capacity of some areas of the site to support invertebrates
and therefore their predators, such as bats, due to a lack of floristic diversity

Page 94



does not include tried and tested sustainability features that would promote high
levels of sustainability

Access:
 Unsuitable access from Heather Way which is unmade single-width track
 In NP representation – landowners confirmed access to the site through Angell Sands
– now access being denied by new landowner – access to the site was originally part
of Phase 1 of Angell’s Pit development (DC/08/2359) – retaining the access would
only require 20m of ‘new’ road
 Developer intends to create temporary track from Water Lane to the site, entering
within 20m of boundary with Sullington Warren – details omitted from application
 Heather Way Residents Association have managed to preserve rural aspect of the
lane, enforce speed restrictions and maintain road surfaces to ensure health and
safety of residents and general public – proposal would destroy rural track and undo
work achieved
 Council refuse collection vehicles refuse to enter the treated lane to Branscombe and
Hillcote so how would development be accessed
 Proposed vehicular numbers don’t appear to take account of increasing deliveries
(on-line shopping) = potential for 26 additional daily movements PLUS deliveries etc
(7 x more traffic than existing)
 Recognise as a public footpath to gain access to Sullington Warren – no details
included on how this pedestrian access would be protected
 Additional vehicular movements at odds with rural setting
 Additional traffic to road system / junctions – existing access from eastern end of
Heather Way onto Washington Road is hazardous
 No details included on what the improvements are to Heather Way (passing places,
widening = loss of verge)
 Original Angell Pit development included spur for access off Water Lane
 Existing access track leads to issues in getting service vehicles up the track to
existing properties – existing bin store for High Winds and others to the east is located
adjacent to Three Gates and Sullington House – would new residents have to carry
their bins to the same collection point?
 Requirement for a metalled road surface if development proceeds
 Frequent conflict between vehicles and dog walkers / joggers along lane
 Financial cost of impact / degradation of the lane from the construction process – who
pays?
 Existing lane serving 3 houses would be changed beyond all recognition by way of
the development
 Surely suggested temporary construction route would be better?
 Impact / restrictions to access for existing residents during works
One (1) letter has been received in support of the proposal, in addition to comments in
support of the design:
 Wonderful opportunity to meet the needs of the community and fulfil the councils
obligations under the Custom and Self Build Act 2015 which they have woefully failed
to meet since its enactment into law.
 Proposed designs well-conceived and sympathetic to the site
One (1) letter has been received from the National Trust who own and manage the adjacent
heathland at Sullington Warren, expressing the following comments:
 Sullington Warren SSSI designation: “this site, which lies over Sandgate Beds and Lower
Greensand, supports a range of heathland habitats including both wet and dry heath,
grassland, scrub and woodland. The woodland carries a rich community of breeding
birds.” (Natural England Reasons for Designating the Sullington Warren SSSI). The
National Trust has a statutory obligation to “permanently protect places of natural beauty

Page 95









or historic interest for the benefit of the nation”. Any applications that could or would
impact our land at Sullington Warren will need to consider these statutory obligations.
Management Plan for the Buffer Zone required for assessment – need to be fenced off
from dwellings to prevent access and maintain favourable conditions for reptiles and
amphibians
Provision of more open areas and acid grassland / heath within fenced-off parts
Question whether proposed wildflower meadows and tussocks grasses is appropriate
choice for the buffer zones – three native heathers would be better suited, acid grassland
species and small trees and shrubs like Gorse and Rowan
Conditions to require bat-sensitive lighting
Potential for rare invertebrate survey
Protective fencing to TPO
Questions regarding whether the widening / improvements to Heather Way take place
before or after commencement of development

PARISH COUNCIL CONSULTATION
3.10

Storrington & Sullington Parish Council: Objection
 Site is allocated for development in NP – so no objections to the principle
 Propose size of the homes is not compliant to NP – demand for 2 and 3-bed houses
 Designs are not complimentary to the nearby LB or characteristics of the local area
(adjacent to SSSI)
 Closeness of Plots 3 and 4 to the buffer zone is undesirable
 Need for chimneys is questioned
 Query on self-build nature on commitments to any planning conditions
 In the event of approval- construction vehicles should not be routed through AQMA

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

It is recognised that the application site lay outside the defined built up area boundary (BUAB)
prior to the Neighbourhood Plan (NP) being adopted. However, as the site was included as
a potential housing allocation site in the NP, the BUAB was extended to encompass the
application site when the Neighbourhood Plan was formally Made in September 2019.

6.2

In terms of HDPF policy 3, the site is now considered to lie within the BUAB, and therefore
development is considered acceptable providing it is of an appropriate nature and scale to
maintain the settlement characteristics.

Page 96

6.3

HDPF policy 3, recognises that Storrington and Sullington is a ‘Small Town and Larger
Village’ class of settlement, with a good range of services and facilities, strong community
networks, local employment provision and reasonable public transport services.

6.4

As part of the Made Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan (SSW-NP),
the site has been allocated as a potential development site under Policy 2(iii), which
considers the site to be capable of providing ‘a minimum of 6 dwellings’. Furthermore, the
development is also expected to meet the following requirements:
a. Deliver a mix of housing types and sizes including 2 and 3 bedroom properties;
b. Demonstrate that the land can safely be developed for housing, bearing in mind the site’s
previous use of a landfilled mineral excavation
c. Protect the open and green setting to the west of the grade II listed building with a buffer
zone of at least 45 metres between the listed building and the development. Development
to the eastern section of the site should be single storey;
d. Provide tree and hedgerow planting within the site to reflect the wooded character of the
surrounding area;
e. Provide a buffer zone of at least 20 metres to the Sullington Warren Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) with enhancements to nature conservation incorporated into this
area; and f. Ensure sensitive positioning of the units to preserve potential views available
from the South Downs National Park

6.5

In principle, the proposal would be in accordance with parish, local and national planning
policies, which all seek to direct development first and foremost to locations within the
defined built up area boundaries, such as the application site. This is subject to all other
considerations as discussed below.
Layout, Design and Appearance

6.6

Being considered a suitable location for housing development in principle, the proposal must
now satisfy more specific requirements such as HPDF policies 25, 32 and 33 which require
developments to protect, conserve and enhance landscape and townscape character,
achieve a high quality form of development that complements locally distinct character and
heritage, and which relates sympathetically to the built environment.

6.7

The Parish Design Statement lists a range of building materials found in the local area,
including slate, plain clay roof tiles, tile hanging, Horsham Stone, with steeply pitched roofs
often broken by features such as dormers and chimneys. Brickwork, painted and dark
stained timber boarding, plain render, flint, and stone rubble walls are also found typically.

6.8

At a parish level, Policy 2(iii) of the SSW-NP sets out a number of provisions which any
potential development on this site should be in accordance with, including that the
development delivers a mix of housing types and sizes including 2 and 3 bed properties, and
accommodates a minimum of 6 dwellings. The scheme proposes a mix of 6no. self/ custom
built properties and non-self-build houses, with a range in sizes including larger dwellings
and the specified policy requirement for 2-bed and 3-bed houses (Plots 5 and 6).

6.9

It is noted, in the Examiner’s report as part of the NP process, that the site’s capacity to
deliver a maximum of 6 dwellings would not be making the most efficient use of the site,
especially given the aspirations of delivering 2 and 3-bed dwellings. Thus, the wording of
the NP policy 2 was amended to the site being able to deliver at least 6 dwellings. This has
been raised as part of a number of representations received in response to the application.
However, the application scheme achieves 6 dwellings on the site, with these dwellings being
primarily single-storey in nature and therefore using a greater area of land than a comparable
2-storey house would. The resulting low density and low profile development suits the site’s
complex topography and constraints.

Page 97

6.10

Policy 2(iii)(c-e) sets specific parameters for any development in the site, including a 45m
buffer zone between the eastern listed buildings and proposed development, a 20m buffer
zone to the Sullington Warren SSSI to the north and tree and hedgerow planting within the
site to reflect the woodland character.

6.11

The site layout includes the desired 20m buffer zone between the development and the
northern boundary with the Sullington Warren SSSI (Plots 2, 3 and 4), as well as achieving
a 45m separation between the Grade II listed building at Chestnut Cottage and the closest
new dwelling at Plot 6. In terms of landscaping, the site would incorporate planted bunds to
introduce wildlife habitat and use post and rail fencing with hedge and tree planting. A new
central woodland area is to be created within the middle of the proposed development.

6.12

Sensitive positioning of the units is stipulated under Policy 2(iii)(f) in order to preserve
potential views available from the South Downs National Park, where the closest boundary
runs along the southern side of Washington Road, some 73m to the south of the application
site. The site is visible in long-range views across the open fields to the south, from the
elevated position of Sullington Manor Farm and St Mary’s Church, and PROW. However,
the development would be viewed in the context of the established ribbon development that
runs along the northern side of Washington Road, comprising large detached houses,
predominantly white rendered and therefore highly visible in the long-range views. Further
intervening development of the 4 detached houses at Angell Sands has extended the ribbon
development eastwards.

6.13

The proposed development would sit behind this established line of residential development
fronting Washington Road, but would utilise the sloped site so that the dwellings are primarily
single-storey in nature. Where lower ground floors exist, they respond to the site levels.
Furthermore, the proposed palette of materials including the use of natural and ebony timber
cladding, grey and red brick blend elevations, and a combination of red/brown, orange/brown
clay tiles and zinc roofing would create a development that blends into the natural backdrop
of the woodland on the hillside to the north of the site.

6.14

The contemporary detailing being proposed, the massing and design of the proposed
development, including the stepped and ‘broken’ outlines achieved by creating smaller linked
volumes, are considered to respond appropriately to the sloping site and the sensitive
location of the site in the available long-range views. The proposed development is
considered to achieve an organic solution to the site’s constraints.

6.15

Whilst recognised that the site does not propose more than 6 dwellings, the density, layout
and design being proposed would achieve a high quality form of development that responds
organically to the site’s constraints and topography. The proposed solution would allow the
development to step down the site and remain visually settled in the hillside context. Being
predominantly single-storey in nature, the proposed development would not artificially raise
the development levels and so the resulting development would not have an unduly
overbearing impact on adjacent neighbours. Furthermore, this low profile type of
development would ensure that the resulting development is not unduly visible within the
long-range views from the South Downs National Park, and sits against the hillside and
woodland backdrop.

6.16

In terms of principle, design and layout, the proposal achieves compliance so far with the
following elements of the SSW-NP policy 2(iii) in delivering a mix of house types, including
the provision of 2-bed and 3-bed units (a), and, by way of the low density development and
low-profile nature of the buildings, achieves a sensitive design given the potential views from
the South Downs National Park (f).

Page 98

Landscaping and Biodiversity
6.17

The loss of green infrastructure is to be resisted in line with Policy 31 of the HDPF, unless
there are new opportunities which compensates or mitigates for the loss. Chapter 15 of the
NPPF also recognises the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside and seeks to
improve landscapes, biodiversity net gains.

6.18

It is recognised that the site is a restored former quarry with vegetation growth across the
site being relatively young, given that the site was remediated after 2008. Aerial photos
show much of this vegetation has become established in the last 10 years, which site visits
confirm.

6.19

As part of the Neighbourhood Plan Examination report, the Inspector acknowledged the
remediated site, with the resulting ‘attractive’ natural environment that had been created.
However, the Inspector did not see any reason why this site could not offer the potential of
being developed as a housing site, subject to all other relevant issues being addressed.

6.20

The proposed interaction between the site and the SSSI to the north, where a mature
woodland borders the site would be protected by way of a buffer zone. It is recommended
that a planning condition be imposed which prevents this area from being developed as part
of the residential gardens, to retain the qualities and the function of the buffer zone. Indeed,
it is recommended to attach a condition in order to require a long-term management plan for
the buffer zone, in the event of approval being granted. The National Trust would like to see
the inclusion of appropriate acid heathland habitat within the buffer zone, and to ensure this
buffer zone is fenced off from prospective dwellings’ use.

6.21

Furthermore, HDPF policy 31 also seeks biodiversity enhancements as part of development
proposals, creating and managing new habitats where appropriate. In this instance, given
the proximity to the SSSI and the Mens SAC, noting the significance for the barbastelle bat
flightlines, a number of ecological enhancement have been proposed, including the creation
of the fenced buffer zone, to which access is to be restricted from the residential
development, reptile translocation, installation of bat, bee and bird boxes, species rich
planting, hedgehog tunnels, central woodland area.

6.22

It is considered that the landscaping features being proposed to mitigate the visual impact of
the proposed development would be beneficial to the site, the landscape characteristics, and
would be in line with local and national policies. Biodiversity enhancement would also secure
compensatory measures as part of the development proposals. Appropriate planning
conditions would secure their implementation and specifications.

6.23

The proposal is therefore considered to meet two further requirements of SSW-NP policy
2(iii) in providing new tree and hedgerow planting (d), and including a 20m buffer zone to the
SSSI (e).

Amenity Impacts
6.24

Concerns have been raised from neighbouring properties regarding the potential overlooking
to adjoining properties, including to Clint House (south) and High Winds (west), as well as
the likely impact arising from the increased use of Heather Lane to access the development.

6.25

Plot 1 is located on the southern side of the site, with the building set some 7.5m off the site’s
boundary, but with an overall building-to-building distance of around 45m to Clint House.
Intervening garden structures, driveway and landscape features, are noted to be present.
Plot 1 would also be around 40m off the building line of 3 Angell Sands. The overall distance
between building lines is considered to be such that no adverse and direct overlooking or
other loss of amenity would occur to a harmful degree.

Page 99

6.26

Plot 2 would lie to the immediate east of High Winds, with the new dwelling being some 10m
from the site’s boundary at the closest point, with the closest point from Plot 2 to the rear
wall of the garage at High Winds being some 17m. Planning records for High Winds reveal
these east-facing facing windows to serve bathrooms, landings and generally non-habitable
rooms. It is therefore concluded that the siting and orientation between dwellings is such
that no undue, adverse and direct overlooking would occur, with a good level of intervening
screening currently present along the footpath corridor.

6.27

Of the two listed buildings along the eastern side of the plot, Chestnut Cottage includes
private gardens that stretch along the boundary with the proposed Plots , 5 and 6. Of these,
Plot 6 would be the closest to the most private amenity areas of Chestnut Cottage, with a
building-to-building separation of some 36m. The existing boundary to Chestnut Cottage is
noted to be reasonably low and open, with the proposed new dwelling set on rising ground
and relatively limited intervening features. However, the off-set in building positions and
distances involved are considered to be such that no adverse and direct overlooking would
occur to a harmful degree.

6.28

It is also noted that Plot 6 would be sited at the end of the garden to No.3 Angell Sands,
where the garden is defined by an open post and rail fence. The window position in the
closest flank wall facing No.3 Angell Sands at a distance of 5m off the common boundary
would be high level.

6.29

It is noted that the new dwellings would present an intensification of the use of Heather Lane,
which is currently noted to serve 6 dwellings at the eastern end, and some 4 dwellings at the
western end. It is also noted that the lane is private, and so any access over this lane could
only be established with permission from the relevant landowner(s). The increased use of
the access lane is acknowledged, but with 6 dwellings being proposed, this level of
intensification is not considered to be of such a significant degree that it would lead to
adverse amenity harm to the existing neighbouring residential properties upon which a
refusal could be substantiated.

Heritage Impacts
6.30

Consideration has been given to the likely impact of the proposed development of what was
for many years, an open sand quarry (pit) set at the rear of two Grade II listed cottages
(Chestnut and School Cottage). This quarry would have had a detrimental impact on the
setting of these listed buildings however nevertheless the introduction of housing on the site
would be within the same setting necessitating assessment against Policy 34 of the HDPF
and paragraphs 194 and 196 of the NPPF. Where harm to the setting of a listed building is
identified, the Town and Country Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
requires that great weigh is given to that harm in decision making.

6.31

It is noted that this pair of dwellings would originally have been relatively isolated from the
urban area of Storrington, but that residential development now comes right up to the
southern boundary of School Cottage, with a gap of some 25m between respective building
lines.

6.32

The proposed development achieves an appropriate level of separation between respective
building lines, adhering to the advised 45m buffer zone set out under SSW-NP policy 2(iii)(c).

6.33

The Council’s senior conservation officer has assessed the proposals and considers that a
level of harm would arise to the setting of the listed buildings that would sit at the lower end
of the ‘less than substantial’ scale. In accordance with paragraph 196 of the NPPF, this
harm needs to be balanced against the public benefits of the proposal. In this case, the
public benefit includes the provision of residential housing on a site within the BUAB which

Page 100

has been allocated for housing in the Neighbourhood Plan, and the remediation of
contaminated and unstable land. This is sufficient to outweigh the ‘less than substantial’ harm
to the setting of these listed buildings. The proposal therefore accords with paragraph 196
of the NPPF and Policy 34 of the HDPF.

Highways Impacts, Access and Parking
6.34

Policy 40 of the HDPF supports proposals which provide safe and suitable access for all
vehicles, pedestrians, cyclists, horse riders, public transport and the delivery of goods, whilst
Policy 41 of the HDPF requires adequate parking facilities within developments.

6.35

The Local Highways Authority makes reference to the proposed access being via a private
lane, but considers that the available width at the access point of 4.8m is sufficient to allow
two vehicles to pass one another. The proposed visibility splays to the junctions between
Heather Way and Washington Road would demonstrate suitable splays at the western end,
and greatly improved splays at the eastern access, following the proposed improvements.

6.36

Accident data reveals nothing to suggest that this existing access is operating unsafely
where it adjoins the public highway, and therefore the proposed use of the existing Heather
Way access points would not exacerbate an existing safety concern.

6.37

Furthermore, the proposal for 6 dwellings is not considered to result in a significant material
intensification of movements from the site.

6.38

It is noted that the SSW-NP Examining Inspector’s report deleted the initial policy
requirement that access to the site be from Heather Way, considering that access route to
be narrow, unmade and a private driveway. Whilst the Examining Inspector was satisfied
that this access would be available, there was correspondence during the SSW-NP process
that revealed a caveat from the relevant land owner to the effect that construction access
could not be via Heather Way, and that this could be achieved to the site from the adjacent
development at Angell Sands, to the south. The policy deletion was on account of the
uncertainty of the access being available from Heather Way for all traffic, including
construction, which was considered to be a matter therefore to be resolved at the planning
stage. The Inspector therefore did not consider it necessary for the Neighbourhood Plan to
require all access to be to and from the site from Heather Way.

6.39

Policy 2(iii) SSW-NP, as formally adopted, does not include any specific references to the
access requirements. As such, the proposal would accord with the Neighbourhood Plan in
relation to the proposed site access.

6.40

The reference of the proposed access off Heather Way has been raised in the public
representations, with the narrowness, impact on the safety of pedestrians using the lane to
access Sullington Warren, intensification of traffic movements on the rural quality of the rural
lane being raised as concerns. Furthermore, a number of representations refer to a more
preferable site access to be via the alternative route, assumed to be via Angell Sands to the
south. As this is not part of the application, this potential alternative access route cannot be
assessed and considered. However, it is noted that there remains an access spur into the
site from Angell Sands, located between 2 and 3 Angell Sands, which falls under the blue
line of the application indicating it is within the applicants control. Whilst this access might
indeed be a shorter route to the public highway, there is also a gradient to this access
acknowledged, with the private development gated at the highway. Furthermore, access
along this spur would run in closer proximity to open residential boundaries than the
application access along Heather Way proposes.

6.41

The application proposes improvements along the lane, and to the access points, where
visibility splays are to be enhanced. Whilst it is recognised that the improvements stated

Page 101

would be subject to separate consent from relevant land owners / management company of
the private lane, what is being proposed is considered to be acceptable, including widening
and passing places which would be beneficial to all users, including pedestrians.
6.42

In order to ensure these improvements are carried out given the shared ownership of this
lane, it is recommended that they form a pre-commencement condition. This is to ensure
that the development cannot proceed until the access improvements have been carried out,
following relevant consent being obtained, and that the eventual development is provided
with the required access improvements before any occupation. Failure to achieve this access
would otherwise result in a development with no access, or an unsafe and unsuitable access.

6.43

A development of this nature would lead to the requirement of 16 parking spaces, according
to the current WSCC Parking Calculation, which the proposed development can adequately
accommodate within the site. The on-site provision as proposed, incorporating a mix of
garage and surface spaces, also accords with the parking details set out under the SSW-NP
Aim 2, which sets out the following off-road parking preferences:



2 x parking spaces per 1-3 bed house
3 x parking spaces per 4-bed house.

6.44

The proposed quantum of development as proposed incorporates adequate parking levels
within the site, and would not lead to the increased demand for on-street parking, in line with
the provisions of HDPF policy 41.

6.45

Overall, the scheme is considered to accord with the requirements of HDPF policies 33, 40
and 41 insofar as parking levels on site, safe access for all and visually attractive areas for
parking. However, appropriate conditions are advised to ensure the widening and other
improvements measures along Heather Lane are implemented prior to commencement.
Affordable Housing and Housing Mix

6.46

Policy 16 of the HDPF requires new residential development to contribute 20% affordable
housing, on sites under 0.5ha or less than 15 new units. However, contributions are not
pursued on development of less than 10 units following para 63 of the NPPF (2019) which
sets out that affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments that are
not major developments.
Self-build / Phased development

6.47

The proposal is for 6 dwellings with up to 4 being self-build / custom houses, with details
having been provided of all of the 4 self-builders. The provision of self-build / custom housing
is not a planning or neighbourhood plan policy requirement for this site therefore it is not
considered to attract appreciable weight in decision making. The CIL regulations allow for
some exemptions from the levy for custom / self-build developments, subject to criteria
including the completion of a self-build exemption application before the development is
commenced, and then owning and occupying the property for at least 3 years after the works
are completed.

6.48

The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 defines self-build / custom housebuilding
to be where an individual, an association of individuals, or persons working with or for
individuals or associations of individuals, build or complete houses to be occupied as homes
by those individuals. Local Authorities must be satisfied that the initial owner of the home
has had primary input into its final design and layout.

6.49

It has been confirmed that the 4 self-build clients at this site have had the necessary input
into the design process. Plots 1 – 4 differ in design, layout and type of accommodation being

Page 102

provided, reflecting client input. The two non-self-build units, Plots 5 and 6 are a matching
pair, subject to slight internal differences.
6.50

The proposed phasing would allow each of the self-build dwellings to come forward
separately with the development of Plots 5 and 6 to be developed last, as non-self-build
dwellings. It is suggested that the phasing of the site forms a pre-commencement condition,
providing a timetable of works across the site to include the access improvements and
ground works, as well as the phased development of the individual units. Phase 1 of the
works would include the access track improvements followed by the ground works within the
site before any works to the individual plots can commence. The phasing plan would also
allow for future CIL exemption to be applied for.
Climate Change

6.51

Policies 35, 36 and 37 of the HDPF require that development mitigates the impacts of climate
change through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk,
reducing water consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport
modes. These policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans
and decisions seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.52

The proposed development includes the following measures to build resilience to climate
change and reduce carbon emissions:
 Fabric First approach
 Dedicated refuse and recycling storage capacity
 Opportunities for biodiversity gain within the landscape
 SUDS principles
 Cycle parking facilities
 Low water use fittings
 Energy efficient boilers
 Orientation and layout to benefit from solar gain and natural ventilation

6.53

In addition to these measures conditions are attached to secure the following:
 Water consumption limited to 110litres per person per day
 Details of solar panels to each dwelling
 Provision of EV charge points in accordance with the advised levels

6.54

Subject to these conditions the application would suitably reduce the impact of the
development on climate change in accordance with local and national policy.

Other Matters
6.55

In terms of the location of the site within a former restored sand quarry, this in itself is not
considered to present a bar to potential development, subject to appropriate technical reports
and solutions being used in response to the potential ground contamination and stability
issues.

6.56

There have been extensive discussions between Officers, specialist officers and the
applicant’s planning agent in order to better understand the particular issues involved in
development of this site, particularly with regard to contamination and ground stability.
These discussions have yielded the submission of further details and a number of specific
conditions to address the issues. As a result, the conditions recommended in the event of
approval being granted are appropriate and would require the submission of the information
at the most fitting stages of the development.

Page 103

6.57

Furthermore, following previous surface water flooding having resulted in land drains and
Swales having been installed as part of the land restoration works, a condition would also be
required to secure appropriate surface water drainage methods.

Conclusions
6.58

The application site is allocated for at least 6 dwellings in the Storrington, Sullington and
Washington Neighbourhood Plan. It is acknowledged that the proposed development
occupies a site that has only recently been infilled and remediated from its former long-term
use as a sand quarry, and is now considered to present ecological and biodiversity benefits
given its proximity to a National Trust SSSI. However, the proposal acknowledges these
remediations and the proximity of the site to the adjacent SSSI and the priority heathland
habitat, and includes measures to offset the potential impact, such as the buffer zone.

6.59

The scale and nature of the development itself has taken account of the sloping site levels
and the transition between the established line of residential development that runs along
Washington Road and the woodland and heathland backdrop, as well as the intervisibility
between the site and the South Downs National Park. The design, massing and proposed
external materials would sit comfortably on and respond to the rising site levels without
undue harm to long-range views.

6.60

Furthermore, the scale, density and design of the proposed development, whilst it would be
visible in the outlook of a number of the existing neighbouring properties, has been designed
to avoid undue harm and impact, with further mitigation measures by way of landscaping
being proposed.

6.61

Whilst the site appears to present some levels of complexity in terms of its development, it
is considered that these are capable of being addressed by way of appropriate details via
condition.

6.62

The principle of development on this site has been accepted by way of the allocation of the
site for residential use within the SSW-NP. The proposal is considered the meet the aims of
the SSW-NP policy 2(iii) in delivering a mix of house types, including 2-bed and 3-bed units
(a), is subject to conditions to require detailed information to demonstrate that the
development can be carried out safely (b), incorporates the 45m buffer zone to the listed
buildings (c), provides new tree and hedgerow planting (d), includes a 20m buffer zone to
the SSSI (e), and, by way of the low density development and low-profile nature of the
buildings, achieves a sensitive design given the potential views from the South Downs
National Park (f).

6.63

The proposal therefore meets the criteria set out under SSW-NP policy 2(iii), and lies within
the BUAB as extended following the adoption of the SSW-NP, in full accordance with the
strategic aims of the policies within the HDPF.

6.64

The application is therefore recommended for approval, subject appropriate planning
conditions.

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
6.57

Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:

Page 104

Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

Existing

1696.9

Net Gain
0

Total Gain

1696.9
1696.9

Total Demolition

0

6.58

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.

6.59

In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that the application is approved, subject to the following conditions:

1

Plans list

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the expiration
of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition:
Notwithstanding the submitted phasing plan, no
development shall take place, including any ground works within the site, until a detailed
phasing plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
The phasing shall include, but no be limited to, access works and implementation, ground
remediation and stability, development up to slab level and subsequent individual plot
development. The development shall be completed in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in such a way that provides safe and suitable
access and takes account of the former use as a landfill site in ensuring that ground stability
and remediation works are carried out cohesively across the site, and to comply with Policies
32, 38 and 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and paragraph 170 of the
National Planning Policy Framework.

4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any ground works
within the site, until the access improvement works along Heather Way have been agreed with
the relevant land owner(s) and completed in accordance with the submitted and approved
Transport Report [Ref 7053/2.3 dated July 2020]. The works shall provide adequate access for
firefighting vehicles and equipment to reach the site in accordance with BS5588 Part B 5 and
Part B of the Building Regulations.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision made for securing a safe and accessible
access route to the development site in accordance with Policies 32 and 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place, including any ground
works, until the following construction site set-up details have been submitted to, and approved
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.
i. An introduction consisting of a description of the construction programme, definitions
and abbreviations and project description and location;

Page 105

ii.
iii.

iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.

Details of how residents will be advised of site management contact details and
responsibilities;
Detailed site logistics arrangements (to include details shown on a plan), including
location of site compounds, location for the loading and unloading of plant and materials,
site offices (including height and scale), and storage of plant and materials (including
any stripped topsoil);
Details regarding parking or site operatives and visitors, deliveries, and storage (to
include details shown on a plan);
The method of access to and from the construction site;
The arrangements for public consultation and liaison prior to and during the demolition
and construction works – newsletters, fliers etc;
Details of any floodlighting, including location, height, type and direction of light
sources, hours of operation and intensity of illumination;
Locations and details for the provision of wheel washing facilities and dust suppression
facilities (to include details shown on a plan).

The approved details shall be adhered to throughout the construction period.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on the amenity
of nearby occupiers during construction and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development, other than ground investigation and
remediation works, shall commence until precise details (to include details shown on a plan) of
the proposed slab levels, and existing and proposed external ground levels of the development
in relation to nearby datum points adjoining the application site have been submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The development shall be completed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests of
amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

7

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence, including demolition
pursuant to the permission granted, ground clearance, or bringing equipment, machinery or
materials onto the site, until the following preliminaries have been completed in the sequence
set out below:
 All trees on the site shown for retention on approved drawing numbers [LLD1280-ARBDWG-001 rev 01 and LLD1280-ARB-DWG-002 rev 00, Sheet 01 and Sheet 02], as well
as those off-site whose root protection areas ingress into the site, shall be fully protected
throughout all construction works by tree protective fencing affixed to the ground in full
accordance with section 6 of BS 5837 'Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and
Construction - Recommendations' (2012).
 Once installed, the fencing shall be maintained during the course of the development
works and until all machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.
 Areas so fenced off shall be treated as zones of prohibited access, and shall not be used
for the storage of materials, equipment or machinery in any circumstances. No mixing
of cement, concrete, or use of other materials or substances shall take place within any
tree protective zone, or close enough to such a zone that seepage or displacement of
those materials and substances could cause them to enter a zone.
Any trees or hedges on the site which die or become damaged during the construction process
shall be replaced with trees or hedging plants of a type, size and in positions agreed by the
Local Planning Authority.

Page 106

Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection of
important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).
8

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence, including demolition
pursuant to the permission granted, ground clearance, or bringing equipment, machinery or
materials onto the site, until fencing to establish and protect the 20m buffer zone to the adjacent
SSSI has been erected in accordance with the approved drawing numbers [LLD1280-ARBDWG-002 rev 00 Sheet 01, and 6545 100 rev P5]. Once in place, this fencing shall be
maintained throughout the development phases across the site.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection of
a significant feature of nature conservation in accordance with Policies 31 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place until a Reptile Mitigation
Strategy addressing the mitigation and translocation of reptiles has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The Reptile Mitigation Strategy shall include
the following;
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed works.
b) Review of site potential and constraints.
c) Detailed design(s) and/or working method(s) to achieve stated objectives.
d) Extent and location/area of proposed works on appropriate scale maps and plans.
e) Type and source of materials to be used where appropriate, e.g. native species of local
provenance.
f) Timetable for implementation demonstrating that works are aligned with the proposed
phasing of development.
g) Persons responsible for implementing the works.
h) Details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance of the Receptor area(s).
i) Details for monitoring and remedial measures.
j) Details for disposal of any wastes arising from works.
The Reptile Mitigation Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details
and all features shall be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and to
enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under
the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

10 Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall take place until a construction
environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following;
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities.
b) Identification of “biodiversity protection zones”.
c) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to avoid
or reduce impacts during construction (may be provided as a set of method statements).
d) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features.
e) The times during construction when specialist ecologists need to be present on site to
oversee works.
f) Responsible persons and lines of communication.
g) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or similarly
competent person.
h) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs.

Page 107

i) Containment, control and removal of any Invasive non-native species present on site
The approved CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period
strictly in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local
planning authority.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and to
enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under
the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
11 Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage strategy
detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. As part of the details, no drainage systems
for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are permitted other than with the written consent
of the local planning authority. Any proposals for such systems must be supported by an
assessment of the risks to controlled waters. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: Given the previous use of the land as a landfill this condition is required to ensure that
the development does not contribute to, is not put at unacceptable risk from, or adversely
affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution caused by mobilised contaminants, and to
ensure that the development is properly drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015) and paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.
12 Pre-Commencement Condition: No development approved by this planning permission shall
commence until a remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of
the site in respect of the entire development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the following
components:
(1)

A preliminary risk assessment which has identified:
- all previous uses
- potential contaminants associated with those uses
- a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors
- Potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site.
The following aspects (b) – (d) shall be dependent on the outcome of the above
preliminary risk assessment (a) and may not necessarily be required.
(2)
An intrusive site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a
detailed risk assessment to the degree and nature of the risk posed by any
contamination to all receptors that may be affected, including those off site.
(3)
Full details of the remediation measures required and how they are to be undertaken
based on the results of the intrusive site investigation (2) and an options appraisal.
(4)
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in (3) are complete and identifying any
requirements for longer-term monitoring of pollutant linkages, maintenance and
arrangements for contingency action where required.
The scheme shall be implemented as approved. Any changes to these components require the
consent of the local planning authority.
Reason: The proposed development is on a historic landfill and therefore it is likely that
contamination will be present. Remediation and/or mitigation measures are likely to be required
to protect mobilising contamination during construction works which risk causing pollution to
controlled waters. This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment during and following the development

Page 108

works and to ensure that any pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and in line with paragraph 170 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.
13 Pre-Commencement Condition No development shall take place until a scheme to deal with
the risks from ground instability at the site to the proposed development has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall be prepared by a
competent and suitably experienced engineer and must include the following components:
i) a detailed assessment of the risk to all phases of the development that may be affected,
including any risks to offsite receptors.
ii) An options appraisal of the potential impacts and the remedies that might be available
including estimated cost
iii) full details of the measures required to prevent ground instability and how they are to be
undertaken;
iv) Demonstration of how cumulative and reasonable worse case effects have been
considered;
vi) A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to
demonstrate that the works set out in iii) are complete and identifying any requirements for
longer-term monitoring, maintenance and arrangements for contingency action.
All work shall be supervised the engineer in accordance with the mechanisms and
procedures specified in the approved verification plan and a comprehensive non- technical
summary document of the assessments provided and information submitted against (i) to
(vi) of this condition. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved
details and mitigation measures, and they shall be permanently retained and maintained in
working order for the duration of the use and their operation.
Reason: Given the previous use of the land as a landfill this condition is required to ensure that
the development can be carried out in a way that does not lead to adverse ground instability
and to comply with Policy 24 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and paragraph
179 of the National Planning Policy Framework.
14 Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab level
of any plot of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a schedule of materials
and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, roofs and skylights of the approved
building has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and all
materials used in the construction of the development hereby permitted shall conform to those
approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of visual
quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
15

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab level
of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until one fire hydrant (to BS
750 standards) or stored water supply (in accordance with the West Sussex Fire and Rescue
Guidance Notes) has been installed in a suitable location to the satisfaction of West Sussex
County Council's Fire and Rescue Services. The fire hydrant or stored water supply shall be
connected to a water supply which is appropriate in terms of both pressure and volume for the
purposes of firefighting and shall be retained and maintained as such thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and in accordance with Policies 33 and 39 of the HDPF
and in accordance with The F&RS Act 2004

Page 109

16 Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, full
details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been submitted to and approved, in
writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include plans and measures
addressing the following:
 Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
 Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details, with a minimum
suggested girth size of 20 - 25cm
 Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
 Details of all boundary treatments and fencing, including means to permanently
enclose the Buffer Zone and prevent access / inclusion of this area into residential
curtilages
The approved communal landscaping elements shall be fully implemented in accordance
with the approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
dwelling hereby permitted. Landscape elements within residential curtilages shall be
implemented in accordance with the approved details within the first planting season
following the first occupation of the delivered dwelling on the relevant plot. Unless otherwise
agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully
damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent
of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any
proposed planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size
and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape and
townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of visual amenity
in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the occupation of any dwelling hereby permitted, a
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures,
including the creation of the Buffer Zone;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The Strategy shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details relative to the
relevant phase of the development and shall be retained in that manner thereafter. The
measures pursuant to each phase shall be implemented prior to first occupation of any
dwelling within that phase and shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to enhance the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and
to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

18

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the development hereby
permitted, a lighting design scheme for biodiversity shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall identify those features on site that
are particularly sensitive for bats and that are likely to cause disturbance along important

Page 110

routes used for foraging; and show how and where external lighting will be installed (through
the provision of appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and technical
specifications) so that it can be clearly demonstrated that areas to be lit will not disturb or
prevent bats using their territory. All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the
specifications and locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance
with the scheme and approved phasing plan for the development. Under no circumstances
should any other external lighting be installed without prior consent from the local planning
authority
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to enhance the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and
to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).
19

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until a long-term landscape management and maintenance plan (including long term design
objectives, management responsibilities, a description of landscape components,
management prescriptions, maintenance schedules and accompanying plan delineating
areas of responsibility and fencing / means of demarcation for the Buffer Zone) for all
communal landscape areas and for the Buffer Zone, has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscape areas shall thereafter be managed
and maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development and in the interests of visual amenity and
nature conservation in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

20

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied
until a verification report demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved
remediation strategy and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and
approved in writing, by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of
sampling and monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.
Reason: This condition is required to ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to
humans, controlled waters or the wider environment by demonstrating that the requirements
of the approved verification plan have been met and that remediation of the site is complete
accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and
in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

21

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until provision
for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided within the garage or side or rear
garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in accordance
with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

22

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the car
parking spaces (including garages where applicable), turning and access facilities necessary
to serve it have been constructed and made available for use in accordance with approved
drawing numbers [6545 100 rev P5, 6545 101 rev P2, 6545 103 rev P2, 6545 105 rev P2,
6545 107 rev P2, 6545 109 rev P4 and 6545 109-01 rev P1]. The car parking spaces
permitted shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.

Page 111

Reason: To provide car-parking space for the use in accordance with Policy 40 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

23

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the cycle
parking facilities serving it have been provided within the garage or side or rear garden for
that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all times. The cycle parking
facilities shall thereafter be retained as such for their designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

24

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a fast
charge electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been installed. As a minimum,
the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector. The means for
charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

25

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until the
necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to enable
superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre broadband
connection has been provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

26

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
accordance with all mitigation and enhancement measures and/or works shall be carried out
in accordance with the details contained in the Ecological Impact Statement (Lizard
Landscape Design and Ecology, May 2020) as already submitted with the planning
application and agreed in principle with the local planning authority prior to determination.
This may include the appointment of an appropriately competent person e.g. an ecological
clerk of works (ECoW,) to provide on-site ecological expertise during construction. The
appointed person shall undertake all activities, and works shall be carried out, in accordance
with the approved details
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity of the
area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015), and
to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to discharge its duties
under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

27

Regulatory Condition: If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out until a
remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or
the wider environment during and following the development works and to ensure that any

Page 112

pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015) and in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

28

Regulatory Condition: No piling and or other penetrative methods shall be carried out other
than with the written consent of the local planning authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: As this development is on a historic landfill there is the potential that any piling
activities could mobilise any contamination and risk impacting controlled waters. If the landfill
is lined then piling also risks penetrating the liner and so the landfill design should also be
considered in the piling risk assessment. To ensure that any proposed piling or other deep
foundation does not harm groundwater in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015) and in line with paragraph 170 of the National Planning
Policy Framework.

29

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (and/or any Order revoking and/or
re-enacting that Order no development falling within Classes A, AA, B and E of Part 1 of
Schedule 2 of the order shall be erected, constructed or placed within the curtilage(s) of the
development hereby permitted without express planning consent from the Local Planning
Authority first being obtained.
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and due the historic, ecological and environmental
sensitivities of the site in accordance with Policies 24, 25, 33 and 34 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

30

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110 litres
per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall thereafter be
retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

31

Regulatory Condition: The garage(s) hereby permitted shall be used only as private
domestic garages for the parking of vehicles incidental to the use of the properties as
dwellings and for no other purposes.
Reason: To ensure adequate off-street provision of parking in the interests of amenity and
highway safety, and in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

32

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

33

Regulatory Condition: No soils shall be imported or re-used within the development site
until the developer has submitted details of the chemical testing and assessment of the
soils which demonstrates the suitability of the soils for the proposed use. The assessment

Page 113

shall be undertaken by a suitably qualified and competent person and full details shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or
the wider environment during and following the development works and to ensure that any
pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

Page 114

08) DC/21/0057
Angell Sand Pit, Washington Road, Storrington, West Sussex

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:5,000
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

08/07/2021

MSA Number
Page 115

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

20th July 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of a detached dwelling and creation of vehicle access.

SITE:

Southview Littleworth Lane Partridge Green Horsham West Sussex RH13
8JX

WARD:

Cowfold, Shermanbury and West Grinstead

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0726

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr A Millard Address: C/O Agent

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The application, if approved, would represent a
departure to the development plan.

RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application seeks consent for the erection of a chalet style detached dwelling and new
vehicle access. The dwelling would have three bedrooms, one on the ground floor with two
in the pitched roofspace. To the front of the property would be a central porch canopy and
glazed doors with two small roof dormers. The rear of the property would have a full height
atrium that would serve the main reception room with full height glazed wall. The proposal
includes parking for three cars and a turning area and a new access drive on the northern
boundary with Southview.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.2

The application site comprises a side garden plot to the south of ‘Southview’ that forms a
corner plot on the junction of Littleworth Lane and Mill Lane. The site is within Littleworth, an
unclassified settlement formed by a cluster of residential development in a predominantly
linear form either side of the highway. Littleworth is characterised by residential development
of variable form, scale and design and a semi-rural character. The site is approximately 800
metres north of Partridge Green and its defined settlement boundary.

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 117

Tel:

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 15 - Strategic Policy: Housing Provision
Policy 16 - Strategic Policy: Meeting Local Housing Needs
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Local Plan Review – Regulation 18 Draft Local Plan Consultation
Strategic Policy 2: Development Hierarchy
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
West Grinstead Neighbourhood Plan (June 2021)
Policy 1: Local Gap
Policy 4: Green Infrastructure: Existing Trees, Hedgerows, Habitats and Wildlife
Policy 10: Car Parking

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
WG/37/97

Erection of 1 house and garage
Site: Southview Littleworth Lane Partridge Green

Application Refused on
20.08.1997

WG/47/62

Proposed erection of bungalow and vehicular and
pedestrian access
(From old Planning History)

Application Refused on
15.03.1963

Page 118

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
The Local Highways Authority requested a 7 day speed survey was conducted to determine
the 85th percentile road speeds at the access point and extent of the vehicle visibility. This
was completed and submitted to the Highways Officer. Their final response is summarised
as:
The application site is located on Littleworth Lane a publicly maintained, low trafficked, ‘B’
classified road subject to a 40-mph speed limit. The Applicant has submitted a 7-day speed
survey that demonstrates that the 85th Road speeds are 28 mph. As a result, the Local
Highways Authority (LHA) will refer to Manual for Streets (MfS) as guidance.
Access
The applicant proposes to implement a new access on to the site. The given plans show the
new Vehicle Crossover (VCO) to measure a total roadside width of 3.3 metres.
The applicant has provided visibility splays of 2.4 x 43 metres. These are in accordance with
MfS guidance of the 85th percentile road speeds. The LHA raise no concerns over these
details. An inspection of data supplied to WSCC by Sussex Police over a period of the past
five years reveals that there have been no recorded injury collisions within the vicinity of the
site. Therefore, there is no evidence to suggest that the new access would operate unsafely.
Vehicle Parking
The LHA anticipates that 3 parking spaces would be adequate for the proposed dwelling.
Cycle Parking
As per the WSCC Sustainability policy, the LHA wish to see cycle storage implemented in
the form of lockable covered storage. Details of which can be secured with a suitably worded
condition
Electric Vehicle (EV) Parking
In the interests of sustainability and as result of the Government’s ‘Road to Zero’ strategy for
at least 50% of new car sales to be ultra-low emission by 2030, electric vehicle (EV) charging
points should be provided for all new homes. Active EV charging points should be provided
for the development in accordance with current EV sales rates within West Sussex (Appendix
B of WSCC Guidance on Parking at New Developments) and Horsham Local Plan policy.
Ducting should be provided to all remaining parking spaces to provide ‘passive’ provision for
these to be upgraded in future. Details of this can be secured via a suitably worded condition
Ecology Consultant: Comment
As no ecological mitigation measures have been included in the document submitted, we
have recommended an informative for general good practice as part of the construction
phase of the development, which should be included in any consent. This provides certainty
for the LPA of the likely impacts on protected and Priority species and, with appropriate
mitigation measures secured, the development can be made acceptable. This will enable the
LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its biodiversity duty
under s40 NERC Act 2006. However we also recommend that, to secure measurable net
gains for biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy
Framework 2019, reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures will need to be provided.

Page 119

A Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority Species should be secured
as a condition of any consent. Given the scope of this application, we recommend this
includes the provision of bird and bat boxes. We recommend that bird and bat boxes could
be erected on suitable trees. Alternatively, an integral boxes, could be built into the new
dwelling. We also recommend that new soft landscaping could be provided, of local
provenance, which could also secure enhancements for biodiversity. Finally, any new fencing
should be wildlife friendly.
Southern Water: Comment. Our initial investigations indicate that there are no public
surface water sewers in the area to serve this development. Alternative means of draining
surface water from this development are required. This should not involve disposal to a public
foul sewer and should be in line with the Hierarchy of H3 of Building Regulations with
preference for use of soakaways. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage
system is required in order to service this development. The Council’s Building Control
officers or technical staff should be asked to comment on the adequacy of soakaways to
dispose of surface water from the proposed development.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
West Grinstead Parish Council: No objection
In the light that this comes within the Littleworth secondary settlement boundary- No
objection. The Parish Council consider a condition should be imposed that the hedgerow
bordering the plot be retained.
Representations
One Representation was received from the residential dwelling on the opposite side of
Littleworth Lane. This raised concerns over the siting and design of the new dwelling and the
potential loss of privacy due to the alignment of the windows. Additionally the alignment of
the proposed driveway directly opposite the neighbour’s driveway was considered unsafe.
The appearance of the development appears in keeping with the area.
As a result of this representation the applicants amended the layout of the proposal and the
neighbour did not respond to the further neighbour consultation.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle

6.1

As the application site lies outside of any defined settlement boundary, it is considered for
the purposes of planning policy to be within a countryside location. The site is not allocated
for development in either the HDPF or the West Grinstead Neighbourhood Plan, and as such
would be contrary to the approach set out in policies 2 and 4 of the HDPF. In addition, there
is no evidence to suggest that the proposed dwelling would be essential to its countryside
location therefore the proposal would also conflict with HDPF Policy 26.

Page 120

6.3

The application site is though located within the confines of Littleworth which although
currently an unclassified settlement has been put forward as a ‘secondary settlement’ within
the Local Plan Review- (Draft Horsham District Local Plan 2019-2036) Regulation 19 PreSubmission Consultation Document. The Regulation 19 document is due to be taken to Full
Council on 28th July 2021 and published for consultation in September 2021, and does not
amend the direction of the intended Council policy in relation to development in rural areas
such as these in the near future compared to the Regulation 18 draft consulted on in early
2020. Although the Local Plan Review is now at Regulation 19 stage, as it has not been
through the public examination stage and the emerging policies can therefore only be given
limited weight. The proposed Strategic Policy 2: Development Hierarchy states the following:

6.4

Development will be permitted in secondary settlements, provided also that it falls entirely
within the secondary settlement boundary as defined on the Policies Map, and meets all of
the following criteria:
a) the site is infilling a gap or plot within an otherwise built-up or cohesive settlement form;
b) the proposal is limited in scale to reflect the existing scale and character of the
settlement function and form;

6.5

The suggested policy wording therefore suggests that planning permission will be granted
for residential infill development in this location subject to the criteria set out above.

6.6

The policy then goes on to define secondary settlements as having the following function and
characteristics and lists Littleworth as a Secondary Settlement:
Very small villages and hamlets that generally have some limited local employment,
services or facilities (which may include primary schools, allotments, village halls, playing
fields, or a church) and/or evidence of a defined local community. Proximity and access to
other services, facilities and employment is also taken into account. Additionally, settlement
character is material, for example form, density, age and historic character of dwellings,
and the overall sense that one has left the open countryside and entered a defined village
community.

6.7

The application site is surrounded by linear residential development and is not therefore in
an isolated location, and the Council acknowledges, through the local plan review, that the
settlement could accommodate limited development.

6.8

The proposed siting would be broadly reflective of surrounding development which
comprises houses of a mix of sizes and ages. The location does not fall within the defined
‘Local Gap’ as set out in the West Grinstead Neighbourhood Plan (WGNP) and therefore
complies with Policy 1 of this plan. Paragraph 6.4 states that the WGNP seeks to positively
support and encourage residential development within the (defined) built-up boundary of the
Parish. The site is therefore considered to provide a reasonable opportunity for infill
development of the manner and scale envisaged in the Regulation 19 draft Plan where the
site is proposed to be included within the defined secondary settlement boundary.

6.7

It is considered that the Council’s approach to this application should be in line with that of
the recently approved development at Abbots Lea (DC/19/0908 amended by DC/21/0606).
Here it was outlined in a previous allowed appeal (DC/13/0984) that Littleworth has the
character of a small hamlet, and due to the close proximity (of less than 1km) to Partridge
Green, which was found to benefit from a ‘rather good’ level of service provision while also
being readily accessible by foot, the settlement was in a sustainable location. There are no
reasons to believe that these conclusions would not apply to this application site, which is
situated around 250 metres to the north of Abbots Lea.

Page 121

6.8

It is therefore considered that while the proposal is contrary to the current development plan
in relation to its location within a countryside location, the principle of development is
acceptable and could be supported, subject to all other material considerations, due to the
location set amongst an existing, albeit unclassified, settlement and given the emerging
secondary settlement policy set out in Regulation 19 draft Plan.
Character and Appearance

6.9

Policies 25 and 26 of the HDPF seek to protect the natural environment and landscape
character of the District, including the landform, development pattern, together with protected
landscapes and habitats: development will be required to protect, conserve and enhance
landscape and townscape character, taking account of areas or features identified as being
of landscape importance, individual settlement characteristics and settlement separation.

6.10

Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF stipulate that new development should be of a high standard
of design and layout, with regard to natural and built surroundings, in terms of its scale,
density, massing, siting, orientation, views, character, materials and space between
buildings.

6.11

The siting of the proposed dwellings would reflect and supplement the generally linear
pattern of development in Littleworth, where the majority of housing is along the roadside.
The application has been amended as part of the application process to move the position
of the proposed dwelling slightly north within the plot. This was in response to two points
raised in relation to potential loss of privacy to the property ‘Minster’ across the road and also
to maintain the openness of the corner plot on this junction as much as possible. This is
considered an attractive feature of the site and the side garden width is now considered to
maintain this sense of openness here.

6.12

The dwelling would be a chalet style detached property served by a new vehicle access. The
dwelling would have three bedrooms, one on the ground floor with two in the pitched
roofspace. To the front of the property would be a central porch canopy and glazed doors
with two small roof dormers. The rear of the property would have a full height atrium that
would serve the main reception room with full height glazed wall. This design approach would
incorporate design features present in surrounding development and while the development
would be visible in views along Littleworth Lane/ Mill Lane it is considered the resulting
appearance would not be incongruous or out of keeping with the prevailing character or
appearance of the settlement.

6.13

The submitted plans indicate the retention of the existing hedgerow to the front boundary,
except where a new access point is proposed, and there is potential for new planting to
reinforce this boundary. Within the wider site there is no significant planting which would be
adversely impacted by the development, with a landscaping condition recommended to
require details of hard surfacing, boundary treatments and additional planting.

6.14

It is therefore considered that the proposed development, and the provision of one additional
unit of housing, would not be harmful to the character or appearance of the area, and
therefore accords with the above policies.
Impact on amenity

6.15

The siting of the proposed dwellings would retain appreciable separation from shared side
boundaries with adjoining properties, with the resulting relationship between buildings
sufficient to ensure no harmful impact to neighbouring amenity. The slight amendment to
the position of the proposed dwelling will ensure no potential impact on privacy of the dwelling
on the opposite side of Littleworth Lane and there are no first floor windows proposed in the
side elevation facing Southview.

Page 122

6.16

The introduction of an additional residential unit in an established residential location would
not be expected to create potential for harmful levels of noise or disturbance, and the
proposal would not result in a significant increase in the level of activity within Littleworth.
Highway Impact

6.17

Policy 40 of the HDPF recognises the need for sustainable transport and safe access is vital
to improve development across the district. Policy 41 of the HDPF stipulates that
development must provide adequate parking and facilities to meet the needs of anticipated
users.

6.18

The development would create a new access point for the southern dwelling, with a width of
approximately 3.3 metres. The existing and proposed accesses would benefit from sufficient
visibility in both directions for a road of this speed. The development would provide 3 parking
spaces for the dwelling. The proposed layout would provide on-site manoeuvring space
which would allow vehicles to exit onto Littleworth Lane in a forward gear.

6.17

There is sufficient space within the site for the storage of cycles and a condition requiring
details of where cycles would be stored as well as details of required Electric Vehicle
Charging points are suggested.
Conclusion

6.18

It is considered that while the proposal is contrary to the current development plan in relation
to its location within the countryside, this conflict with the development plan is outweighed by
the proportionate infill nature of the proposed development- set amongst an existing
settlement in a sustainable location with a good level of services, and given the emerging
secondary settlement policy set out in the Regulation 19 Draft Plan. The design of the
dwelling, its access and its impact on neighbouring amenity are considered acceptable, and
no other material concerns have been identified. The application is therefore recommended
for approval as a departure from the development plan subject to the conditions set out
below.
COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Horsham District Council has adopted a Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging
Schedule which took effect on 1st October 2017.
It is considered that this development constitutes CIL liable development. At the time
of drafting this report the proposal involves the following:
Use Description

Proposed

District Wide Zone 1

179

Existing

Net Gain

0

179

Total Gain

179

Total Demolition

0

Please note that exemptions and/or reliefs may be applied for up until the commencement
of a chargeable development.
In the event that planning permission is granted, a CIL Liability Notice will be issued
thereafter. CIL payments are payable on commencement of development.

Page 123

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is permitted subject to the following conditionsConditions:
1

Approved Plans List.

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a drainage
strategy detailing the proposed means of foul and surface water disposal has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly
drained and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

4

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence until a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall be
retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: As these matters are fundamental to safeguard the ecology and biodiversity
of the area in accordance with Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015), and to enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species).

5

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor
slab level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until a
schedule of materials and finishes and colours to be used for external walls, windows,
roofs and doors of the approved building(s) has been submitted to and approved by
the Local Planning Authority in writing and all materials used in the construction of the
development hereby permitted shall conform to those approved.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control
the development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a
building of visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the
development hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall
have been submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The
details shall include plans and measures addressing the following:-

Page 124






Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying
species, planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
Details of all boundary treatments including the retention of the boundary
hedgerow

The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any
part of the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved
landscaping, no trees or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted,
felled/removed, topped or lopped without the previous written consent of the Local
Planning Authority until 5 years after completion of the development. Any proposed
planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously
damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of
similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent to
any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).
7

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until visibility splays of 2.4 x 43 metres have been provided at the proposed
site vehicular access onto Littleworth Lane in accordance with plans and details
submitted to the Local Planning Authority. The splays shall be maintained and kept
free of all obstructions over a height of 0.6 metre above adjoining carriageway level or
as otherwise agreed.
Reason: In the interests of road safety and in accordance with Policy 40 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

8

Pre-Occupation Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a
fast charge electric vehicle charging point for that dwelling has been installed. As a
minimum, the charge point specification shall be 7kW mode 3 with type 2 connector.
The means for charging electric vehicles shall be thereafter retained as such.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and
to sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives
for pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

9

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the necessary in-building physical infrastructure and external site-wide
infrastructure to enable superfast broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second
through full fibre broadband connection has been provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future
occupiers in accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

10

Regulatory Condition: The dwelling hereby permitted shall meet the optional
requirement of building regulation G2 to limit the water usage of each dwelling to 110
litres per person per day. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.

Page 125

Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
11

Regulatory Condition: No dwelling hereby permitted shall be first occupied unless
and until provision for the storage of refuse and recycling has been provided within the
garage or side or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained
for use at all times.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of refuse and recycling facilities in
accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Regulatory Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been provided within the side
or rear garden for that dwelling. The facilities shall thereafter be retained for use at all
times. The cycle parking facilities shall thereafter be retained as such for their
designated use.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in
accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Regulatory Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until the
accesses and vehicle parking and turning spaces have been constructed in
accordance with the approved plan. The access and parking and turning spaces shall
thereafter be retained for their designated use.
Reason: To provide adequate on-site car parking and turning space for the
development and in accordance with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

14

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved, including works of demolition, shall take place outside of 0800 hours to 1800
hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 hours to 1300 hours on Saturdays nor at any time
on Sundays, Bank or public Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the occupiers of the neighbouring residential
properties in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

Page 126

09) DC/21/0726
Southview, Littleworth Lane, Partridge Green, Horsham,
West Sussex, RH13 8JX
Min
Cot ster
t ag
e

Holmesdale

¯

Fourminst

u r st

ee C
otta
ge

Ol d
Min
s
Cot ter
t ag
e

Minster M

Birdh

t Tr

1

Wa
lnu

Cott

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

North

22.9
m

We
Co t l l
t ag
e

Thyme Cottage
Cott

a
Worth Cott

Diamond
T
Cottages revone
Co t
t

ge

LB

3

1

South Lodge

South View

MILL LANE

Tres
Chere

21.3m

Merryvale

Minster
House

GP

1
Delholme

Hardanger
Swynford Gaunt

Carradale

Honeycroft

Willows

Little
Chancton

Westford

Averys

The Oaks

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

08/07/2021

MSA Number
Page 127

100023865

er

ead

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee South

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

20th July 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Erection of a first floor rear extension and installation of an extended
raised platform with veranda and decking to the rear garden. Erection of a
front porch

SITE:

Farthing Cottage 13 Amberley Road Storrington Pulborough West
Sussex RH20 4JE

WARD:

Storrington and Washington

APPLICATION:

DC/20/2167

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr and Mrs Yvone Kirk Address: Farthing Cottage 13 Amberley
Road Storrington Pulborough West Sussex RH20 4JE

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: By request of Storrington and Sullington Parish
Council
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

The application seeks planning permission to erect a first-floor rear extension, installation
of an extended raised platform with veranda and decking to the rear garden, and erection
of a front porch.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.3

Farthing Cottage forms the end of a row of terraces to the south of Amberley Road,
Storrington. The dwelling occupies a narrow rectangular plot with a short front garden and
medium sized rear garden. The site is situated within the built-up area of Storrington.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework

Contact Officer: William Omoma

Page 129

Tel: 01403 215 169

Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Storrington & Sullington Parish Design Statement
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Storrington, Sullington and Washington Neighbourhood Plan
Policy 14 – Design
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SR/32/85

Extension to dwelling
(From old Planning History)

Application Permitted on
22.07.1985

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk

3.2

Parish Council Consultation: Objection: The Parish Council considered despite the
amendments proposed it still felt that there was very little room between neighbouring
properties. Members considered that even with the reduction in size of the first-floor
extension, it would still be overbearing and have a detrimental effect on neighbouring
amenity.

3.3

Whilst the parish council has no objection to the porch subject to matching
finishes/materials, they do object to the first floor extension & veranda; based on the
narrowness of the site. The parish council also considers that the proposed work would
appear to dominate neighbouring property, overshadowing & overlooking it significantly.

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
3.3

No letters of representation were received for the application.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

Page 130

Design and Appearance
6.3

Policy 32 of the HDPF seeks to ensure that development in the district promotes a high
standard of urban design, architecture and landscape. Development will be required to
enhance and protect the locally distinctive characters, through good design, landscaping
(both within a scheme and having regard to the impact on surrounding landscapes),
creating a 'sense of place', and in ensuring that local, social and environmental
characteristics are considered.

6.4

Policy 14 of the SSWNP seeks to ensure that the scale, density, massing, height,
landscape design, layout and materials of all development proposals, including alterations
to existing buildings, reflect the architectural and historic character and scale of the
surrounding buildings and landscape.

6.5

The existing dwelling features a single storey rear extension that projects approximately
3.6m from the rear elevation with a flat roof measuring approximately 3.5m in height. The
proposed first floor extension would be sited on top of the existing single storey extension
and would project 2m from the rear elevation at first floor for the full width of the dwelling.
The first-floor extension would create increased space enabling the reconfiguration of the
existing bedroom to create a new bathroom and office.

6.6

The proposed roof height would be approximately 6.3m and would feature tile hanging to
its elevations with a revised pitched roof set down appropriately from the main ridge. The
revised first floor rear extension is considered to be of a design, form and scale that would
harmonise well with the existing character of this small terrace property.

6.7

The proposed installation of an extended raised platform with veranda and decking to the
rear garden would extend the decking/ platform into the garden further by approximately
2.5m featuring a single flat roof post and beam structure. The proposal has undergone
revisions to the original scheme to now include privacy screening along the shared
boundaries with no. 11 and no.15 Amberly Road respectively.

6.8

Considering the existing layout to the rear garden which features an area of existing
decking area with a set of steps leading up to the single storey rear extension, it is
considered that the proposal will match and maintain the existing height of the decking
area, with the installation of the proposed flat roof beam and post structure projecting
approximately 2.8m from the single storey rear extension.

6.9

The proposed front porch would project approximately 1.2m from the principal elevation and
feature front steps leading up to the front door. The proposed front porch is considered to
be of an appropriate scale and design utilising matching materials that tie in well with the
overall existing character of the terrace row.
Amenity Impacts

6.10

Policy 33 of the HDPF seeks to ensure that development avoids unacceptable harm to the
amenity of occupiers/users of nearby property through, for example, overlooking or noise;
ensure the scale, massing and the appearance of the development is of a high standard of
design and relates sympathetically with the built surroundings and respects the character of
the surrounding area.

6.11

The proposed first floor rear extension has undergone subsequent revisions to the original
scheme with the proposed scale and design of the first floor rear extension considered to
be appropriate to that of the existing dwelling with its current projection meeting the 45
degree centre line requirement of the adjoining neighbours window at no.15 Amberley
Road. It is therefore not considered that the increased massing and projection would have

Page 131

a detrimental impact to neighbouring first floor windows or create significant
overshadowing.
6.12

Assessment of No.11 Amberly Road ground floor & first floor windows found that they both
served a kitchen and bedroom respectively. It is acknowledged that the proposed first floor
rear extension would limit the available daylight aspect to the kitchen ground floor window
of no.11 Amberly Road, however, given the position and distance of the first floor bedroom
window on the rear elevation and the further reduction in depth of the revised first floor rear
extension, it is considered that the proposal would not adversely impact the habitable first
floor window and would therefore be acceptable.

6.13

The proposed extended platform would feature a step down from the existing single storey
extension for its main useable area of decking which is considered to be appropriate and
further reduce the overlooking aspect to neighbouring amenity. It is considered that given
the revised scheme of the proposed extended platform with veranda and decking and the
addition of privacy screening along the shared boundaries, the proposal would retain and
protect the existing privacy to neighbouring amenity and therefore comply with policy 33 of
the HDPF.
Conclusion:

6.14

The proposal is considered to be of an appropriate design, form and scale appropriate to
the character and appearance of the existing dwelling and would not harm the character or
appearance of the wider area. It is considered that the scale and siting of the extension
would be sufficient to prevent any significant impact on the amenities of adjoining
occupiers.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve planning permission subject to the following conditions:

Conditions:
1

Plans list

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall begin before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3.

Pre-Commencement (Slab Level) Condition: No development above ground floor slab
level of any part of the development hereby permitted shall take place until details of the
1.8m privacy screens have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority in writing. The details as approved shall be installed prior to the use of the
enclosed ground floor area and shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

4.

Regulatory Condition: The materials and finishes of all new external walls, windows and
roofs of the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those of
the existing building.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 132

10) DC/20/2167
THE LAURELS

Farthing Cottage, 13 Amberley Road, Storrington, Pulborough,
West Sussex, RH20 4JE

¯
6

5

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

1

2

p
La m
se
Hou

La k e
si d e

s
p te r
Ch a

CLO
SE

1

4

6

14
AD

C ot

3

The

Fern

s

d a le

1
1

STORRIN

s
s ter
Cloi

n
cke
Bra

bles
Cob

y
Sand e
g
d
i
R

Gardens

ST
A
N
O

Allotment

29

M

GTON

ER

Y

s

17

1

tage

41.2m

in g

O
EY R
ERL
B
M
A

35.3m

Spr

1

AMBERLEY

26

iot
Chev e
g
Cotta
Dean
ge
Cotta

8

5

2

2

Mari
an

22

G
re
es
av

8a
181

le
en
FE
RN

RO
A

D

14

45

top
hris
St C

Fontwell

hers

St Joseph's

Amberley

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

08/07/2021

MSA Number
Page 133

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

